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CORPORATE PROFILE
NEIR AV

China Foods Limited (“China Foods” or the “Company” and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), a subsidiary of COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”) and the
only focused beverage platform of COFCO, is listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 506).

The Company mainly manufactures, distributes, markets and sells the Coca-Cola
series products at nineteen provincial-level administrative regions in the PRC through
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited (“COFCO Coca-Cola”), a 65%-owned joint-venture
with The Coca-Cola Company. COFCO Coca-Cola offers twenty-four brands of products
in ten major types of beverages which include sparkling drink, juice, water, milk
drink, energy drink, tea, coffee, functional nutrition drink, sports drink and plant-
based protein drink.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
LUR RS

REVENUE
E 3T ON

(RMB million)(AREEEIT)

2.3%

20,968 21,446

ADJUSTED EBITDA
LT EEEBITDA

(RMB million)(ARE B EIT)

2022
2,302

13.3% 2023
A

2,607

EARNINGS PER SHARE
BREF

(RMB cents/share)( AR5/ EA%)

2022
23.59

26.2% 2023
A

29.76
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TOTAL ASSETS

(RMB million)(AREEBEIT)

+/.7%
A

Current

PirEd)

® Non-Current

FERE

LIABILITY TO ASSET RATIO
EERMBLER

‘O%ppt‘ 50055

NET ASSETS PER SHARE (Owners of the Parents)
BRFEE =860

(RMB/share)( AR /Fh%)

9_0% 2023
- 215

2022
41.2%

2022
1.97




MAJOR EVENTS IN 2023
2023F KB

China Foods and Coca-Cola jointly launched the Dingsheng Programme [S[55+21] in the PRC
FERGBEAOMERLEREEERETE

In 2023, Coca-Cola China, China Foods
and Swire Coca-Cola developed a
“Dingsheng Programme” [S55t2l] in
terms of future development goals and
strategies. It has coincident goals and
unified actions, with every effort made to
enhance market competitiveness and
status, and achieve rapid business growth
and profitability improvement.
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MAJOR EVENTS IN 2023 2023 4% X % &2

Smooth integration of the non-sparkling supply platform and enhancing the comprehensive strength of the
overall supply chain

JEFIZE I RHETE  RAZEMUEHERS

A
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As at 1 January 2023, China Foods officially launched its self-production of non-sparkling products, achieving a
comprehensive upgrade of the supply chain platform, thus providing guarantee for the balanced development of
COFCO Coca-Cola’s multiple categories.
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Seven plants were awarded National Green Factory Certification
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19 plants of China Foods were awarded as the Excellent Enterprise in Energy and Water Saving by China Beverage
Industry Association for four consecutive years.

F e

In addition to the original four national green plants (Heilongjiang Plant, Beijing Plant, Inner Mongolia Plant and
Sichuan Plant), three plants, being Qingdao Plant, Jinan Plant, and Gansu Plant, were awarded the title of National
Green Plant in 2023.
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Preliminary results had been seen in the construction of an ecosystem

EREBTEY RN

China Foods made active efforts to promote
the construction of a “win-win ecosystem” by
sharing information with upstream suppliers to
jointly improve operational efficiency. In 2023,
we promoted joint construction with Zijiang
Enterprise and Baosteel Packaging, to improve
| the operational efficiency and effectively reduce
I i - : — o 8 the costs of both parties through sharing
9 — : ‘ & production plans, spare parts inventory, unified
management standards, etc.
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COFCO’s Lohas Changhai Mountain Natural Mineral Water has heen launched
pRESERBILRABRKED
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On 8 April 2023, a release conference was held for the launch of a new product, COFCO “Lohas” Changbai
Mountain natural mineral water, which sources from the original ecological circle of Changbai Mountain, featured
by a natural spring with pure water quality and no pollution. Upon the launch, sales were quickly initiated in
more than 10 markets, with annual sales reaching RMB35.8 million in 2023.
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COFCO Zhishang won the Industry Most Potential Award for the year
HREREHREFEITERAE R
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In May 2023, COFCO Zhishang Technology Ltd. won the
2022 Industry Most Potential Award jointly issued by the
China General Chamber of Commerce, the Smart Vending
Industry Development and Management Center (R aE&EE %
EREIEFL), the Asia-Pacific Vending Industry Association,
and the Asia Vending & Smart Retail Expo for its rapid growth
in market size and revenue.
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STATEMENT FROM CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

TERESHAKERN

Dear Shareholders,

2023: MAKING TIMELY ADJUSTMENTS TO REACH
A NEW HEIGHT

The year of 2023 marked a year for economic recovery and
development after a transition from a three-year period of COVID-19
prevention and control. China’s economy withstood pressures from
complex external international environment, overcame difficulties
of internal reform, transformation and development, and made
solid progress in high-quality development, with its GDP growing
by 5.2%, ranking among the fastest-growing major economies in
the world. COFCO also overcame tests of grave and complex
situations, remained committed in seeking progress while
maintaining stability, seized opportunities, and met obstacles and
difficulties head on, thus achieving higher-quality development,
which features more efficient and more competitive.

2023 also represents a critical year for China Foods. After the
pandemic, major changes have occurred in market consumption,
shopping scenarios and methods, as well as the channel customer
structure and operating pattern. China Foods’s team has made
proactive efforts to explore, innovate bravely and further optimise
operations and management, achieving a record high in terms of
performance.

In 2023, China Foods remains committed in and further deepens
the business concept of “improving quality, enhancing efficiency,
innovation, system, openness and green”.

In terms of improving quality, we have continued to promote the
sales of products with high price and high gross profit, making
the share of Costa coffee rank the second in the industry within
its operating area. We have also further advanced the optimisation
of channel structure, conformed to changes in out-of-home
consumption trends after the pandemic, and further strengthened
the development and construction of new retail channels, catering
channels, tourism channels, etc. We have continued to optimise
the supply chain layout, which effectively integrated non-sparkling
production platforms and improved the management efficiency of
the overall supply chain.

In terms of enhancing efficiency, we have further deepened the
regional integration of the supply chain, expanded centralised
procurement, and strengthened the accuracy and efficiency of
resource investment.
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STATEMENT FROM CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR F & 3% Z 5 48 45 F2 15y 14+

In terms of innovation, we have promoted digital transformation
in all respects, built digital marketing, digital supply chain and
digital governance capabilities based on the blueprint plan, and
continued to achieve results in data empowerment.

In terms of system, we adhere to law-based governance of the
enterprise and further improve the compliance of all links of
operations; continue to optimise the organisational structure and
salary incentive mechanism in the contributor-oriented principle
to provide guarantee for the rapid, healthy and sustainable
development of the business.

In terms of openness, we strive to promote the construction of an
ecosystem, featuring, on the upstream side, sharing information,
inventory and spare parts with suppliers to jointly reduce costs
and increase efficiency, and on the downstream side, applying
digital marketing tools to open up B2B2C links in a way that jointly
serves consumers more efficiently with customers.

In terms of green, we adhere to sustainable and high-quality
development and have achieved “zero deaths, zero serious injuries,
zero exceedances, and zero pollution” throughout the year. Seven
plants were awarded the title of National Green Plant.

In 2023, breakthroughs have been made in the innovation business
of China Foods. COFCO Zhishang ranks among the top in the
industry in terms of the number of smart retail business machines.
The D2C business of COFCO Yuexiang Club recorded an increase
of 76%, and achieved full-scenario services for consumers. COFCO
Lohas has won the trust of consumers with high-quality source
water, and its sales have exceeded RMB100 million.

In 2023, in response to changes in the external markets, China
Foods has worked to improve operational efficiency internally, and
explore development opportunities externally, reaching a new height
once again.

2024: RESHAPING THE SYSTEM TO CHALLENGE
NEW DINGSHENG GOALS

In 2024, China’s economy will continue to maintain stable
development. As social expectations gradually improve, its
advantages of ultra-large market and potential of huge domestic
demand will continue to be released, bringing benefits to the
development of the FMCG industry. More new scenarios, new
channels and new products have intensified competition in the
industry. In the new round of competition, how to take the
preemptive opportunities is the challenge faced by China Foods.
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As for the Coca-Cola bottling business, in 2023, we and Coca-Cola
have reached a high level of convergence on the mid-to-long-term
development goals and strategies in the PRC, and jointly formulated
the Dingsheng Program to focus on categories and concentrate
resources, so as to win market share and improve profitability. In
2024, we will achieve breakthroughs in operational efficiency
through rebranding products, reshaping marketing network, value
chain and supply system.

We will continue to devote great energy to promoting the innovation
business. COFCO Lohas will roll out new high-quality products
and expand business scale; COFCO Yuexiang Club will continue
to improve the operation of the global consumer marketing platform
to achieve consumer marketing services featuring “omni-channel,
all-process, full-scenario and full-ecology”. COFCO Zhishang will
further expand its scale and offerings, and continue to build
profitability advantages underpinned by its existing scale advantage.

With regard to team capabilities, we strive to build executive
capability and confidence in transformation. While making solid
efforts in ground work and revitalizing inventory, we encourage
employees to think diligently and innovate boldly, actively face
challenges in the ever-evolving competition, and dare to break
through the status quo, winning better performance and personal
development.

It is believed that through the reshaping and transformation in
2024, the Company will further build competitive advantages under
new consumption pattern, forge the ability to adapt to the ever-
changing and complex market environment in the future, and
create profitability that meets the requirements of sustainable high-
quality development, providing better return on investment for
shareholders.

On behalf of the Board and the management team, | thank our

shareholders for their trust and confidence in China Foods. We
shall not cease in our efforts to better return their trust.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CURRENT STATUS

China Foods exclusive franchise to manufacture, market and
distribute products under the Coca-Cola series encompasses 19
provincial-level administrative regions, covering approximately 50%
of mainland China’s population. The Company provides consumers
with 10 major types of beverages namely sparkling drinks, juices,
water, milk drinks, energy drinks, tea, coffee, functional nutrition
drinks, sports drinks and plant-based protein drinks under 24
brands.

The Company has approximately 10,000 salespersons to serve
over 2.9 million customers, with the controllable business, being
customer orders served directly by our sales representatives,
accounting for nearly 90% of the overall business.

In early 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of the
whole equity interests in five subsidiaries of Coca-Cola Bottlers
Manufacturing Holdings Limited (an associate of the Company
before the acquisition) that engage in the production of non-
sparkling beverages within our exclusive zone. The transaction is
expected to enhance the supply chain capacity and quality of the
Company, effectively reduce the costs of the Company’s production
and management of non-sparkling beverages and improve the
overall profit margin of the Company.

Apart from products under the Coca-Cola series, the Company
has also endeavored to develop the smart retail business in recent
years, and with the efforts of the management and team, its scale
(number of equipment) grew rapidly during the year, becoming
an industry leader. In the future, we will aim to become a world-
class food and beverage group and continue to offer more and
better quality food and beverage products to consumers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & #2 JZ i #7

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

In recent years, consumers have paid more and more attention
to corporate social responsibility, environmental protection and
sustainable development. In addition to concerns on product
quality, nutritional value, packaging appearance and price, they
also require enterprises to fulfill their social responsibilities in the
process of production and logistics. China Foods has fully
implemented the concept of green and sustainable development,
and put forward challenging goals with a responsible attitude in
aspects of carbon reduction, energy conservation and environmental
protection, quality assurance and community responsibility, making
contributions of a state-owned enterprise in building a beautiful
homeland. During the year, we will remain focused on the business
concept of “Improving quality, Enhancing efficiency, Innovation,
System, Openness and Green”, continue to implement the strategic
layout of developing a full service beverage business while
promoting innovative business and give full commitment to the
entrepreneurial spirit of “Work! Work hard! Win!”, and promote
the realisation of the development goals of “High Quality and
Sustainability”. The details of operation concepts are set out below:

° Improving quality: Make further efforts to promote the sales
of products with high price and high gross profit; further
advance the optimisation of channel structure, strengthen
the layout of new retail channels; and expand supply chain
layouts to improve capacity and quality of the supply chain.

° Enhancing efficiency: Further deepen the regional integration
of the supply chain, expand centralised procurement, and
strengthen the accuracy and efficiency of resource
investment.

° Innovation: Promote digital transformation in all respects,
build digital marketing, digital supply chain and digital
governance capabilities based on the blueprint plan, and
continue to achieve results in data empowerment.

° System: Optimise the organisational structure and salary
incentive mechanism in the contributor-oriented principle to
provide guarantee for the rapid, healthy and sustainable
development of the business.

° Openness: Adapt to the new era of consumer demand with
model innovation and enhance the overall competitiveness
of the value chain; explore and design innovative business
models for key strategic projects and build an ecosystem
layout.

° Green: Adopt a sustainable development model to enhance

safety, quality and environmental protection and achieve
low-carbon green development.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & #2 |Z i 7

INDUSTRY ENVIRONMENT

In 2023, the society was fully restored to its normal operation.
Under the collaborative progress of macro policies, China’s
economy picked up, supply and demand improved steadily, and
high quality development progressed solidly. According to the initial
accounting of the National Bureau of Statistics, the GDP exceeded
RMB126 trillion, representing a year-on-year growth of 5.2%
(calculated at constant prices). For the full year, the retail sales
of consumer goods grew by 7.2% year-on-year, of which the retail
sales of consumer goods in rural region grew by 8.0% year-on-
year, outstripping the retail sales of consumer goods in urban
region by 7.1% year-on-year, indicating that the rural consumer
market has great potential. The national per capita consumption
expenditure, after deducting price factors, grew by 9.0% year-on-
year, thus contributing to the stability maintained in the overall
sales of the non-alcoholic ready-to-drink industry.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

Below is a summary comparison of 2023 and 2022 annual results:

TRRR

2023 HEEMIRERRILET B8
IR 5 i 163 (R 3 ) - o B A OB B T ) 4
REFRBLINE SmEERILEHE -
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2023F EFHP022F X AEMLELMENT -

For the year ended For the year ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022 Change

HZ2023F B E2022%F
1283181t 12A31H1E SR

(RMB million) (RMB million)

(ARBBEETRT) (AREBET)
Revenue A 21,446.4 20,967.8 +2.3%
Sales volume tHE +0.5%
Gross profit margin ER= -0.6
percentage points
ERar i

In 2023, with the normal management of epidemic prevention
and control, domestic daily economic activities gradually returned
to normal, and consumption showed a good trend. China’s food
sales volume and income increased year-on-year. During the year,
although the cost of fructose was decreased as a result of the
increased production of corn, but the price of white sugar rose
sharply due to the impact of reduced production, and as a result,
the gross profit margin of the Company declined year-on-year. The
management actively implemented a series of optimisation and
integration measures to improve efficiency, which effectively
reduced the selling expense rate and offset the impact of the
increase in raw material costs. Meanwhile, the Company continued
to focus on managing capital expenditure and operating cash flow
to control risks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & #2 JZ i #7

Coca-Cola Series Products Business
Business development by heverage category was as follows:

Sparkling drinks

Traditional sparkling drinks revenue maintained year-on-year
growth, but the sparkling drinks category only recorded a slight
year-on-year rise in revenue due to lower sugar-free sparkling drinks
revenue. During the year, the Company launched a new product
“Coca-Cola Strawberry Flavor” (“B] O ARJZ4E & K”), which not only
maintains the classic refreshing taste of traditional Coca-Cola but
also has a sweet strawberry scent. It provides customers with a
romantic taste experience, and adds more beautiful moments to
work and life by keeping them happy and refreshed.

During the year, “Coca-Cola Creations” (“44g|#£52") the global
creative platform of Coca-Cola, launched its first limited-edition
product called “League of Legends” (“ZRZEZE5"), a product
inspired by games. The new product, “League of Legends”
(“BLIEEI5"), is based on a sugar-free formula and features
multilayered flavors that create a mysterious taste, providing an
all-dimensional new experience for gamers. This product is
expected to expand our reach in the young consumer market and
align with popular culture trends among young people.

During the year, the market share of our sparkling drinks maintained
a high market share of more than 50% in our operating regions,
continuously surpassing our major competitors’ products.
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Juices

The domestic juice industry maintained its recovery momentum
in recent years. The sales of orange juice and key new sparkling
fruit drinks achieved satisfactory results, resulting a double-digit
revenue growth for the Company’s juices segment.

During the year, Minute Maid introduced a new flavor of their
sparkling drink series called Minute Maid Bergamot Sparkling
Drink, which is the fourth flavor in the series. The product is
sugar-free and fat-free, and contains real fruit juice infused with
sparkling to create a refreshing new taste. It is also enriched with
zinc, niacin and other ingredients to supplement the daily nutrition
intake. This juice is delicious, sweet and sour, healthy and free
of burden.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & #2 JZ i #7

Water

Due to product upgrades and price increases, the overall sales
volume decreased slightly for the water category. During the year,
we launched the Chun Yue pH9.0+ Lemon-flavored Soda Water,
which has a higher pH value, clear alkalinity, and is sugar-free,
sparkling-free and fat-free. It is the fourth member of the “Chun
Yue Soda Water” (“4%15 %537 7K") series. We will continue to enrich
the flavour and packaging structure of soda water, broaden the
drinking scene, and strengthen the communication of healthy
drinking water.

In the future, we will remain committed to the strategy of promoting
the transformation and upgrading of water segment. The Company
plans to focus on promoting the mainstream water brand Chun
Yue products, and actively develop high-end water products. The
goal is to enhance the profitability of the water segment and drive
the overall profit.

Ready-to-drink coffee

During the year, the market share of Costa, the Company’s ready-
to-drink coffee brand, has exceeded 10%, maintaining the second
largest brand of ready-to-drink coffee in key markets, achieving
satisfactory results.

2 f"%ﬂ7J<
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & #2 |Z i 7

Business development by development channels was as follows:

The Company keeps expanding its customer base and adjusting
customer structure, and has achieved significant increase in the
number of customers it serves. During the year, we strengthened
our partner development efforts, expanded our point-of-sale
coverage and increased our point-of-sale penetration, and
continued to increase the proportion of controllable revenue, further
strengthening our core strengths.

Modern channel: Optimise product category and packaging
structure, increase the sales share of other categories, vigorously
develop multi-packaging, and gradually improve the gross profit
margin and profitability of categories by adjusting promotional
efforts;

Traditional channel: Improve the development capability of our
new customers, increase the number of serving customers, and
improve the efficiency of business visits through channel
optimisation and the promotion of the “Coke GO” platform;

New retail channel: the number of active new customers continues
to rise, and the full-year revenue of our self-operated stores
recorded a more than double growth year-on-year, exceeding
budget targets.

Eating and drinking channel: The channel maintained a rapid
growth throughout the year, as the number of new active and
serving customers increased significantly.

Smart Retail Business

With the continuous efforts of the management and team, the
scale (number of equipment) of the smart retail business increased
rapidly during the year, reaching a nationwide distribution of 30
provinces and covering more than 280 cities, with the revenue
growth more than double over the same time.

The vending machines are not limited by time and place. The
machines can effectively fill the sales vacuum area which is not
covered by the retail store, and can continue to provide services
for consumers during the vacuum period after the shop is closed,
thus having great development potential. In addition to continuing
to expand its business scale, we will also proactively diversify our
product offerings and offer more quality choices to consumers in
the future. We will also actively explore other related value-added
services to increase the revenue from every vending machine and
bring reasonable returns to our shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & #2 JZ i #7

Outlook

The world economy is gradually returning to be stable and policy
effects are evident, global inflationary pressures are gradually
easing, and the cooling of inflation has allowed countries to change
monetary tightening policies. It is expected that the United States
will have an opportunity to enter the interest rate reduction cycle
in 2024. The U.S. dollar may follow the U.S. interest rate to soften,
and the RMB will be relatively higher in the market outlook, which
will provide more room for policy stimulus to China and have a
positive impact on China’s economy. Domestic resident income is
expected to maintain steady growth, strongly underpinning the
improvement of residents’ spending power. It is expected that
consumption will maintain a relatively good growth with the
combination of urban and rural development, advancement of
urbanization, and continuous upgrading of the consumption mix,
however, sustained weakness in the real estate sector and external
demand may negatively impact growth.

In 2024, it is expected that, apart from the price increase of cans
which is affected by strong domestic demand for aluminum
materials, the prices of other major raw materials will remain stable.
In order to improve the gross profit margin, the management will
proactively promote the key strategies of upgrading the product
mix and optimizing the business portfolio. Meanwhile, the Company
will work on integrating its supply chain and digital transformation
to enhance efficiency and optimise the overall profit margin. To
conclude, the management expects the domestic economy in 2024
to remain challenging and uncertain, but the team will remain
fully and proactively committed to maintaining a stable development
for the Company’s annual results.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

In 2023, the business resumed its growth in both revenue and
sales volume, with revenue growth exceeding sales volume growth,
which are 2.3% and 0.5% year-on-year respectively.

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Although the price of fructose dropped as affected by the increase
in production of corn, the price of white sugar rose sharply due
to the impact of reduced production, and as a result, the gross
profit margin of the Company declined year-on-year.

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS-NET

Other income and other gains — net increased by 136.9% vyear-
on-year, which is mainly due to increase in one-off gain on disposal
of investments previously accounted for using the equity method
and government grants.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & #2 |Z i 7

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES RATIO/
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES RATIO

During the year, the Company effectively reduced the distribution
and selling expenses ratio, while there was no significant change
in the administrative expenses ratio compared with that of the
previous year.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs increased by 41.7% year-on-year mainly due to the
increase in interest on lease liabilities.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense amounted to RMB460 million, representing
an increase of 13.5%, which was in line with the profit growth.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Company’s treasury function operates as a centralised service
for:

° Reallocating financial resources within the Group;
° Procuring cost-efficient funding for the Group;

° Managing financial risks, including interest rate and foreign
exchange rate risks; and

° Targeting yield enhancement opportunities.

The treasury function regularly and closely monitors its overall
cash and debt positions, reviews its funding costs and maturity
profiles to facilitate timely refinancing. Cash pooling is applied in
Mainland China for the more efficient utilisation of cash. Also, the
treasury function formulated financial risk management procedures,
which are subject to periodic review by the senior management
of the Company.

In the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, the Group’s unpledged cash and cash equivalents
totalled approximately RMB2,293 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB1,037 million). Net current asset were
approximately RMB16 million (31 December 2022: net current
liabilities of approximately RMB1,297 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & #2 JZ i #7

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2023, the total number
of issued shares of the Company remained unchanged at
2,797,223,396. In the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, the Group had no interest-bearing bank
borrowings (31 December 2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no other borrowings
(31 December 2022: Nil). As of 31 December 2023, net assets
attributable to owners of the Company were approximately
RMB6,015 million (31 December 2022: approximately RMB5,520
million), and net cash position of the Group (unpledged cash and
cash equivalents less interest-bearing bank and other borrowings)
was approximately RMB2,293 million and the gearing ratio was
nil (31 December 2022: approximately RMB1,037 million and the
gearing ratio (ratio of borrowing position of the Group to total
equity) of nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND ASSETS PLEDGED

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no significant contingent
liabilities nor assets pledged (other than certain bills payable) (31
December 2022: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE MANAGEMENT

Majority of monetary assets, monetary liabilities and transactions
of the Group were principally denominated in Renminbi and
recorded in the books of subsidiaries operating in Mainland China
(functional currency as Renminbi).

Although the Group has not used any financial instruments for
hedging purposes, the treasury function of the Group actively and
closely monitors foreign exchange rate exposure. The foreign
exchange risk exposure at the operational level is not significant.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 18,889 staff in
Mainland China and Hong Kong (31 December 2022: 19,243).
Employees are paid according to their positions, performance,
experience and prevailing market practices, and are provided with
management and professional training.

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with retirement benefits,
either under a Mandatory Provident Fund exempted ORSO scheme
or under the Mandatory Provident Fund scheme, as well as life
insurance and medical insurance. Employees in Mainland China
are provided with pension insurance, medical insurance, work
injury insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance
and housing fund contributions in compliance with the requirements
of the laws of China.

The Group firmly believe that talent is the most valuable asset
and the basis for its sustainable development of a corporation.
The Group has established comprehensive policies and systems
for employee recruitment, labour contracts, remuneration and
benefits, attendance management, training and development,
performance appraisal, disciplinary policies, protection of employee
interests, etc, in order to protect the basic interests of employees,
eliminate discrimination by nationality, age and gender, etc, and
prohibit the employment of child labour and any form of forced
labour.

The Group emphasizes a “contributor-oriented” talent development
concept and provides employees with a robust career development
platform and a comprehensive training system. The Group
continuously enhance the personnel training mechanism and
training course system to ensure the knowledge and skills of
employees are enhanced, leading to the mutual development of
the Group and its employees.

The Company and its subsidiaries have no share option scheme.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EENRSREEEBN

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
EERPITES
MR. QING LUUN B E%X4%

MR. QING LIJUN

Mr. Qing, 54, was appointed the chairman of the board of the Company in September 2022 and has been as
an executive director and the managing director of the Company since January 2020. Mr. Qing is currently a
director and the chief executive officer of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Qing joined COFCO Corporation and/or its
subsidiaries in July 1993 and has held various positions including the director of strategy department of COFCO
Corporation during the period from July 2016 to March 2019. Mr. Qing was the deputy general manager of COFCO
Coca-Cola Beverages Limited during the period from December 2007 to June 2016. Mr. Qing has concurrently
served as the strategy planning director of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited during the period April 2004 to
March 2014. During the period from April 2004 to June 2016, Mr. Qing has also concurrently served various
positions including the director of the public relations department and the director of the finance department of
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, the general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Shandong) Limited
and the general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Beijing) Limited. Mr. Qing has served as the deputy
general manager of Jilin COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited during the period from June 2002 to March 2004
and a sales operation manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited during the period from April 2000 to May
2002.

Mr. Qing graduated from Renmin University of China and Guanghua School of Business Management of Peking
University with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and a Master’s degree in Business Administration, respectively.
Mr. Qing has extensive experience in beverage production, marketing, strategy planning, finance, public relations
and general management.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
HITES

MR. SHEN XINWEN JE¥73 %4

MR. SHEN XINWEN

Mr. Shen, 52, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in September 2022. Mr. Shen is currently
a deputy general manager and the deputy chief financial officer of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, a
65%-owned subsidiary of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Before joining
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, Mr. Shen served as the executive deputy general manager of COFCO
Technology & Industry Co., Ltd. (formerly known as COFCO Engineering & Technology Co., Ltd.), a company listed
in Shenzhen, from August 2020 to September 2022. From 1995 to August 2020, he has served various positions
in certain subsidiaries of COFCO Corporation, including the head of COFCO International (Beijing) Co., Ltd., the
senior financial manager of CTA Makro Commercial Co., Ltd., the general manager of finance department of
COFCO Commercial Property Investment Co., Ltd., the deputy general manager of finance department of COFCO
Land Limited, the deputy general manager of COFCO Land Limited, Beijing Branch, the general manager of Xidan
Joy City Co., Ltd, the general manager of Grandjoy Holdings Group Co., Ltd., (Northwestern Region), and the
general manager of Xi'an Qinhantang International Plaza Management Limited. Currently, Mr. Shen was a director
of COFCO Technology & Industry Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shenzhen until October 2022.

Mr. Shen holds a Bachelor’s degree in economics and a Master’s degree in EMBA from the University of International
Business and Economics. Mr. Shen is an intermediate accountant, and has over 20 years of experience in finance
and accounting. He also has extensive experience in corporate administration.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FHITES

MR. CHEN ZHIGANG BR&RI 54

MR. CHEN ZHIGANG

Mr. Chen, 60 (age made up to 19 March 2024), was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in
October 2020. Mr. Chen is currently a director of each of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited and COFCO Coca-
Cola Beverages (China) Investment Limited, both of which are 65%-owned subsidiaries of the Company, and the
director of the quality and safety management department of COFCO Corporation. Mr. Chen is currently a director
of COFCO Sugar Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai. Mr. Chen joined COFCO Corporation in 2008
and has held various positions, including the director of the safety production department, the deputy director of
the audit and legal risk management department, an audit specialist, the deputy director of the quality and safety
management department and the general manager of safety and environment protection division of the quality
and safety management department. Prior to joining COFCO Corporation, Mr. Chen has served various positions,
including the deputy director of the department of technical and equipment of National Workplace Emergency
Management Center, the director of the first division of the department of work safety coordination of The State
Administration of Work Safety, the director assistant of the safety science and technology research center and the
director of the department of technology development of The State Administration of Work Safety, and the deputy
director of the department of advisory of technology development of the safety science and technology research
center under The State Economic and Trade Commission of the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Chen graduated from Anhui Normal University with a major in chemistry, and then graduated from Beijing
Institute of Technology with a master of science degree in engineering, specializing in energetic materials. Mr.
Chen has extensive experience in quality and safety management.

S A

BRELE - 605R (KB E2024F3H19H ) IR2020F 10 A B ZERARARIFERITER -RELRBTRALARFRE
6o% BB AR TEA DA R BER AR RPEAAALEK(TEIREERAFANES  ULFTEE
BERAREELE2EEMAE RELARTEECR LB LTOHRBEXERBNERARNES - RELER
2008 AR REREEARLNR QEIZERY ERLE2LEEMNAE FHAEREIREEAE BAHKE
BEX2EEMARENEER 2T RN X2 RAMAKE - MATREEFRARZA RELEEERKL
PHAERSHMEPLORMEGHRAETE BRLZ2AEEEEEERLE2LERAR RER BRLE2LER
EEERZEMERMARD O ENERIMAZEBETELEREEZLEMERMATH OEAEEES
% (BB -

RAEEZENLTHMEBAB(EHE RESERNIEREBETIASSEMBER BISEL2U -RAEENES
ZE2EETHEELENER-

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023




DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE % % ) & R & F2 /5 /& 7P

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FHITES

MR. CHEN GANG PRfEI &4

MR. CHEN GANG

Mr. Chen, 52, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in August 2021. Mr. Chen is currently
a director of each of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited and COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (China) Investment
Limited, both of which are 65%-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen joined COFCO Corporation in 1994
and is currently the director of the Cooperation and Development Department and the general manager of the
Supply Assurance Department of COFCO Corporation and a director of each of COFCO Oils & Fats Company
Limited and COFCO Wine & Spirit (Investment) Limited (both subsidiaries of COFCO Corporation). Mr. Chen has
been the executive deputy general manager of COFCO Yellowsea Grain and Oil Industries (Shandong) Co., Ltd.,
and the general manager of COFCO Northsea Grain and Oil Industries (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.. Mr. Chen has also held
various management positions of the Group during the period from 2008 to 2016, including a deputy general
manager, an assistant general manager, the chief legal counsel, the general manager of each of the confectionery
business unit, kitchen food business unit and procurement department of the Company. From October 2016 to
April 2019, he served as the deputy general manager of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited, once a company
listed in Hong Kong, and a director of the preparatory office of the COFCO Yingkou Lingang Grain, Oil and Food
Industrial Park.

Mr. Chen has extensive experience in the research and practices of operating management of national policies,
industrial development, international trade, production and processing, brand marketing and technological innovation
in the field of grain, oil and food. Mr. Chen also serves as the Vice President of the China National Vegetable Oil
Association, the Vice President of the Oil Chapter of the Chinese Cereals and Oils Association, and a member of
the National Cereals and Oils Standardisation Technical Committee.

Mr. Chen graduated from Peking University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in law, and from Tsinghua University
with a degree of Executive Master of Business Administration. Mr. Chen also held a PhD degree in Economics
from Institute of Population and Labour Economics, Chinese Academy of Social Sciences.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BYFHITES
MR. LI HUNG KWAN, ALFRED 3§ 85% 4

MR. LI HUNG KWAN, ALFRED

Mr. Li, 71, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in November 2008. Mr. Li
was a member of each of the Takeovers and Mergers Panel of the Securities and Futures Commission and the
Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and an expert member of the Finance Committee
of Kowloon Canton Railway Corporation and an executive director and the chief finance officer of Hang Lung
Group Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree in economics and sociology from The University of Hong Kong,
and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Scotland. Mr. Li has more than 40 years of experience in finance and accounting.
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MR. MOK WAI BUN, BEN E#3REE

Mr. Mok, 75, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in August 2017. Mr. Mok
is currently an independent non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd., a company listed in Hong
Kong. Mr. Mok served as a senior consultant for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary
of the Company, in 2012 and also served as the general manager of Beijing Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. from
2002 to 2011. From 1993 to 2001, Mr. Mok was the general manager of Hangzhou BC Foods Company Limited
and Nanjing BC Foods Company Limited and also served as the general manager of Swire Beverages Limited
responsible for overseeing bottling plants of Swire Beverages Limited in China.

Mr. Mok was awarded a Bachelor’s degree of economics from McGill University, Canada in 1975. Mr. Mok has
extensive experience in beverage production, marketing and general management.
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MS. LEUNG KA LAI, ADA, sBs RREBLZ T (BxA2sH)

Ms. Leung, age 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in June 2022. Ms.
Leung is currently a member of Standing Commission on Civil Service Salaries and Conditions of Service of the
HKSAR Government. She joined the HKSAR Government in September 1983 and has served in the civil service
for 35 years until her retirement in 2019. Ms. Leung joined the Intellectual Property Department (IPD) of the
HKSAR Government as a senior solicitor in 1995 and was the director of Intellectual Property and Registrar of
Trade Marks, Patents and Designs since May 2014 until her retirement in March 2019. Prior to joining IPD, Ms.
Leung was a senior crown counsel with the then Attorney General’s Chambers (now Department of Justice). She
had worked with both the Litigation Unit and the Advisory Unit in the Civil Division. Ms. Leung was also a part-
time Lecturer, Faculty of Law, of University of Hong Kong during the period from October 2020 to August 2021.

Ms. Leung was appointed as an Official Justice of Peace by the HKSAR Government since 2012 and until February
2020. She was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) by the HKSAR Government in 2018.

Ms. Leung has over 20 years professional experience in IP law practice as well as financial and staff management,
management of outsourcing contracts as well as planning and implementing promotion and public education
programmes in the public sector. She also has extensive experience in formulation of policy, law and practice in
different areas of intellectual property as well as building and maintaining network with local and international
stakeholders, including the legal profession, intellectual property practitioners, trade and business organisations,
overseas and Mainland counterparts and inter-governmental organisations. She has also represented Hong Kong,
China in different international conferences and meetings in formulating IP policies at the international level. She
also has experience in civil advisory, civil litigation and criminal prosecution with the then Attorney General's
Chambers (now Department of Justice).

Ms. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree in Science from the University of Hong Kong. She then obtained a Government
Legal Training Scholarship and studied law in the University of Buckingham in England. She was called to the
Bar in England and in Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SREEE
MR. HU JIANZHI #HZEH L%

MR. HU JIANZHI

Mr. Hu, 52, joined COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company, in May 2011
and is currently the deputy general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hu joined COFCO Corporation in 1993 and has held various positions in the
group of COFCO Corporation, including deputy general manager of the risk management division of the strategic
department and assistant general manager of the oil and fats department of COFCO Corporation, and the general
manager of Top Glory (London) Ltd.. Mr. Hu has extensive experience in operations and management. Mr. Hu
graduated from the University of International Business and Economics with a Bachelor's degree in Economics.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
mn& IEJE

MR. ZHAN ZAIZHONG RER%EE

MR. ZHAN ZAIZHONG

Mr. Zhan, 52, joined the Group in 2004 and is currently a deputy general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
(Beijing) Limited. Mr. Zhan has held various positions in the group of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited,
including the general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Xinjiang) Limited and the general manager of
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Inner Mongolia) Limited. Mr. Zhan has extensive experience in operations and
management. Mr. Zhan graduated from Wuhan Institute of Technology with a Bachelor's degree in Resources
Engineering.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SREEE
MS. LI REN ZFH %+

MS. LI REN

Ms. Li, 48, joined the Group in 2002 and is currently a deputy general manager as well as the director of the
office of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Li has held various positions in the group of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited, including the general manager of the data center and the general manager of the customer services
center of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited. Ms. Li has extensive experience in operations and management.
Ms. Li graduated from Jilin University with a Master’s degree in Business Administration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERBE

China Foods Limited (the “Company” and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to achieving and
maintaining high standards of corporate governance to safeguarding
the interests of our shareholders, investors, customers and staff,
and enhance its corporate value and accountability. Directors of
the Company (the “Director(s)”) recognize the importance of
incorporating elements of good corporate governance in the
management structure, internal control and risk management
procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company has applied the principles of the CG Code and
complied with all the applicable Code Provisions throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “year”), save and except for
Code Provision C.2.1 which stipulated that the role of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Please refer to the section
headed “Chairman and Managing Director” for details.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG Code and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices of
the Company.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group is dedicated to providing trendy soft drinks and creating
lasting value for customers, shareholders, and employees as its
mission. It upholds core values centered on consumers, customers,
contribution, innovation, and benefit. Guided by the Directors and
driven by the entrepreneurial spirit of “Work! Work hard! Win!”,
the group promotes sustainable enterprise development and
ongoing performance growth through a business approach focused
on quality improvement, efficiency enhancement, innovation,
system development, openness, and sustainability. With the vision
of becoming a world-class beverage group, we foster a culture of
sincerity, unity, openness, and enterprise among employees. The
Company utilizes its internal platform to communicate its corporate
culture to all employees and provide timely training and
presentations, with a focus on new employees.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. The Company
has made specific enquiry of all Directors regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code during the year, all Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year.

The Company has also adopted a code for securities transactions
by relevant employees (the “Employees Trading Code”) based on
the Model Code concerning dealings by relevant employees in the
securities of the Company. Relevant employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished inside information of the Group
are required to comply with the Employees Trading Code in respect
of their dealings in the securities of the Company. The terms of
the Employees Trading Code are no less exacting than the required
standards set out in the Model Code. During the year, the Company
has not received any non-compliance report from any of such
employees.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board, led by the chairman, is responsible for the leadership
and control of the Company, and be collectively responsible for
formulating the Company’s overall strategies and policies, reviewing
and monitoring financial and operating performance, reviewing the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems,
supervising and managing management’s performance of the
Company, and approval of matters or transactions of a material
nature or those requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules. The
Board takes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Company and implementation of the strategies
and policies set by the Board to the management under the
leadership of the managing director.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the role of
chairman and chief executive should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Qing Lijun, the managing director of the
Company (“Managing Director”, being the chief executive of the
Company) has also performed the role of the chairman of the
Board (“Chairman”) since 29 September 2022.
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The Board believes that it is in the interest of the Company and
its shareholders for Mr. Qing Lijun to assume the responsibilities
of such positions, given that Mr. Qing Lijun has extensive experience
and management of the Group as an executive Director and
Managing Director, and it will facilitate the execution of the Group’s
business and boost effectiveness of its operations.

The Board also considers that such arrangement will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management as the Board comprises six other experienced
individuals including one executive director, two non-executive
directors and three independent non-executive directors. In
addition, for major transactions of the Group, the Company will
consult Board committees and senior management as and when
appropriate.

Composition of the Board

The Board has in its composition a balance of skills and experience
necessary for independent decision making and fulfilling its
business needs.

At present, the Board comprises seven Directors, namely, Mr. Qing
Lijun as an executive Director, the managing Director and the
chairman of the Board. Mr. Shen Xinwen as an executive Director,
Mr. Chen Zhigang and Mr. Chen Gang as non-executive Directors,
and Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred, Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben and Ms.
Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBs as independent non-executive Directors.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships with each other. The composition
of the Board has satisfied the requirements under Rules 3.10(1)
and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules for the Board to have at
least three independent non-executive directors which represents
more than one-third of the Board, and at least one of them has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has received from
each independent non-executive director an annual confirmation
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
has assessed their independence and considered that all
independent non-executive directors are independent based on
the independent criteria in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules set out in the confirmation letter, the
non-involvement of independent non-executive directors in the
daily operation and management of the Group and the absence
of any relationship which would interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgement.
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Board Independence

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board, and the implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms will be reviewed annually.
The mechanisms include the following:—

- at least one-third of the Board members being independence
non-executive directors;

- all independent non-executive directors will be appointed to
other Board committees as far as practicable to ensure
independent views are available;

- the nomination committee must strictly adhere to the
nomination policy of the Company and the independence
assessment criteria as set out in the Listing Rules with regard
to the nomination and appointment of independent non-
executive directors, and the nomination committee is
mandated to assess annually the independence of all
independence non-executive directors by reference to the
independence criteria as set out in the Listing Rule to ensure
that they can continually exercise independent judgement;

- all Directors are entitled to seek further information and
documentation from the management on the matters to be
discussed at board meetings. They can also seek assistance
from the company’s company secretary and, where necessary,
independent advice from external professional advisers at
the Company’s expenses;

- all Directors (including independent non-executive directors)
shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any board
resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which
such Director or any of his/her close associates has a material
interest;

- the Chairman of the Board shall meet with the independent
non-executive directors at least annually without the presence
of other Directors; and

- no equity-based remuneration with performance, related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
directors
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (available on the
Company’s website (www.chinafoodsltd.com) (the “Company
Website”) in August 2013 setting out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Board believes that a diversity of
perspectives can be achieved through consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, work and professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All appointment of the members
of the Board will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board. The ultimate decision will be
based on merits of the candidates and the contribution they will
bring to the Board. The Company recognizes and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. The nomination committee has primary responsibility
for identifying and nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board and, in
carrying out this responsibility, will give adequate consideration to
the board diversity policy.

The Board currently comprises seven members, of which six are
male and one is female. The educational background of the Board
members cover finance, accounting, business management,
economics, chemistry, sociology, law and physics. They also have
different professional knowledge and work experience. The valuable
experience and expertise they bring to our business are critical
to the long-term development of the Group.

The biographies of the Board members are set out in “Directors
and Senior Management Profile” on pages 24 to 33 of this annual
report. To the best knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors
are involved in any relationship as defined in Appendix D2 to the
Listing Rules. The Company has also maintained on the Company
Website and the website of Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing
Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) (the “HKEX Website”) an updated list
of its Directors identifying their roles and functions. Composition
of the Board, by category of directors, is explicitly identified in all
the Company’s corporate communications.

At present, the Board considers the diversity of the Board to be
sufficient.
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The Company also places emphasis on diversity (including gender
diversity) across all levels of the Group. Among the senior managers,
two are male and one is female. Details on the gender ratio of
the Group can be found in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report which will be available on the Company Website
and the HKEX Website in due course.

The Board will from time to time review the board diversity policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Nomination, Appointment and Election/Re-Election of
Directors

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (available on the
Company Website) in November 2018 which provides a framework
and sets standards to assist the nomination committee in identifying
and nominating suitable candidates for the Board’s consideration
and to ensure that the Board members has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business.

Pursuant to bye-law 111(A) of the Company’s memorandum and
association and bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”), each director (including
those appointed for specific terms) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years and the retiring Directors
shall be eligible for re-election. Director who is appointed either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director to the Board
shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to election at
such meeting pursuant to bye-law 94 of the Bye-laws. Pursuant
to the CG Code, if an independent nonexecutive director has served
the for more than nine years, such director’s further appointment
should be subject to separate resolution to be approved by the
shareholders. Information of Director who shall retire from office
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company is set
out on pages 65 and 66 of this annual report.

All Directors (including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors) were appointed for specific terms of three
years and all existing Directors have signed formal appointment
letters with the Company with respect to their directorship with
the Company.
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Board Meeting and General Meeting

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a year
at approximately quarterly intervals with additional Board meetings
as and when required.

Notices for regular Board meetings or Board committee meetings
are sent to Directors or Board committee members at least fourteen
(14) days prior to such meetings, Directors or Board committee
members were invited to include any matters which they thought
appropriate in the agenda. For ad hoc meetings, shorter notice
may be given.

The company secretary assists the chairman of the Board or other
committees of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all relevant rules and regulations for meeting
proceedings are followed. Board papers were sent to the Directors
at least three (3) days before the intended dates of Board meetings
or Board committee meetings (or other agreed period).

It is the practice of the Company to record in sufficient detail of
matters considered and decisions reached, including concerns
raised or dissenting views expressed, by the Board and Board
committees. Draft and final versions of minutes of Board meetings
and/or Board committee meetings are sent to Directors or committee
members (as the case may be) for their comment and records
respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after the
meetings. The decision of the Board can be made by written
resolutions.

All minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
kept by the company secretary and are available to all Directors
for inspection. Every Board member has unrestricted access to
the advice and services of the company secretary to enable them
to discharge their duties effectively, and has the liberty to seek
external professional advice if so required. The cost of procuring
these professional services will be borne by the Company.

In case a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the
Board has determined to be material, such matter will be discussed
through an actual meeting and will not be dealt with by written
resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict
of interest will be present at such meetings.
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Directors play active role in the Company’s meetings through
contribution of their opinions and active participating in discussion.
During the year, other than resolutions passed by all the Directors
in writing, a total of four Board meetings, an annual general meeting
at which the external auditor attended and a special general
meeting were held, and the attendance of such meetings by each
Director is set out below. In the following table, the figures in
brackets mean the total number of meetings held during each
Director’s tenure throughout the year:
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Annual Special

General General

Board Meeting Meeting
Meetings (Note 1) (Note 2)
= RR

Exg RBAEKE EiXE

Name of Director EEHS - (Ktzt1) (Kizt2)
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Qing Lijun (Chairman) BYELRE(FE) 4/(4) 1/(1) 0/(1)
Mr. Shen Xinwen TEET X At 4/(4) 1/(1) 0/(1)
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Chen Zhigang PeR =& Bl 5 A= 1/(4) 0/(1) 0/(1)
Mr. Chen Gang PeR el 55 A 4/(4) 1/(1) 0/(1)
Independent Non-executive Directors BY FHITESE
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred TR E 4/(4) 1/(1) 1/(1)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben %ﬁﬁ?ﬁ_’{ 4/(4) 1/(1) 1/(1)
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBs ARBEZTHRENEE) 3/(4) 1/(1) 1/(1)
Notes: Hiat -
1. The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 6 June 1. ARElzBREBEFEREE R2023F6H6

2023, and more details are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 28 April 2023 and the poll results announcement of the
Company dated 6 June 2023.

2. The special general meeting of the Company was held on 13
December 2023, and more details are set out in the circular of
the Company dated 27 November 2023 and the poll results
announcement of the Company dated 13 December 2023.
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Continuous Professional Development

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as directors and of the business and activities of
the Group. Each newly appointed Director would receive from the
chairman of the Company or executive Directors’ briefings on the
operations and business of the Group and an induction package
to ensure that he has a proper understanding on his responsibilities
under the relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. From time to time, the company secretary disseminates
information on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements to the Directors to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. The Company will organise seminars on
specific topics of significance or interest for Directors and
management staff and sponsors Directors to attend professional
development seminars or other programmes where necessary.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary
of training received by the Directors during the year is set out
below:

FEEXRR
PIAEES(BRIFNTESTRBLIFNTE
FIRETHRNEFREFZREERERAE
SEEBEBR - BUHTESENRESR
TRERARFAERXBTEFTEFEH
BARELEREBONG  RERKRE
S EEREEARBR R D] AP RAKOR
RTHETEBEERENTH-

ARBSGEBAEEESEFEZTELER
PAZS R e R EL AR N AR BE - RRIE T
MEBESEELTRANAREMEREER
ENSHERMRN  UERERETRIN
TEERER WRAEHRFLEERT
BROER -ARBERESTREEASHER
AERMNHESHINEEBE -NEF
E - ARANMEENESFHREEXERBEL
S H A RAE

HEZRENRE EFERAFERNMER
B2 BEHINIT -

Attending briefings,
seminars, conference
and/or reading
materials relevant

to the director’s duties
and responsibilities

SHERE  FIE-

ABEEER R

HEREERER
Name of Director EEHR BEEBENER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Qing Lijun (Chairman) BB R(EE) v/
Mr. Shen Xinwen TR A v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Chen Zhigang PRSI S A& v
Mr. Chen Gang BRI 5T A v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred TNt v/
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben BEERLAE v
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBs RRBRI T (Benes) v
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Directors’ Insurance
During the year, the Company arranged appropriate insurance for
Directors and officers of the Group.

Corporate Governance Function

As regards the functions of corporate governance, the Board is
responsible for developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring
the training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report contained in the annual report of the
Company.

During the year, the Board has performed the corporate functions
by reviewing the Company’s Corporate Governance practices.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five committees, namely, the executive
committee, the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the
nomination committee and the environmental, social and
governance committee, to oversee corresponding aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All committees of Board have defined terms of
reference.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Currently, the executive committee consists of two executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Qing Lijun who was the chairman of the
executive committee, and Mr. Shen Xinwen.

The terms of reference of the executive committee are available
on the Company Website. The primary responsibility of the executive
committee is to deal with and supervise the day-to-day business
operations, management and administration of the Group. There
are no minimum meeting requirements and the executive committee
shall meet as and when necessary for proper discharge of its
duties.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Currently, the remuneration committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben who is
the chairman of this committee, Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred and
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, SBS.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1P 2 &8 #f &

EENRE
REERN ARFERFEEAEERERE
BABRBTHEENRR -

ERERMAE

EEERBETH EFSREHE LR
AABEEERZBRRER e RE
BEELRRAERENEIRSESESR
B ARARZHREERATE AR REE
M ARARREBTREERTZE
ARERARBFRANTLEEARELZ
WE -

AERRN EFECEBRIARANDE
BEERARITEEE ABEAE -

EEXZET

ExeRyTHhEZES
€ BERLZBEE FMERE
FERE -HeRERERE
BHhEREEE -EES
EHBRBES -

S BMITER
o REZAR
UEEARAR
ZEREHHH

=
=

=
=

BITEES

BAT AITRESHMEBMTESER £
REVYERE(RUITRESRER)RILH
e e

HWOTZEENREEEECTEHNART
B - HATZBECERREERRENEE
AEBERAREBNZE BERITHR BT
ZESVERERI R BREFERR
BIERNEERTERE -

FHZES
B A HME S & =R BRI E A

o BiEEEREE(AZEZEEER) T
BEISENRRBL T (Banes)e

FEERAERLE Fik 2023

43



44

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 13 &8 ¥ &

The terms of the remuneration committee are available on the
Company Website and the HKEX Website. The duties of the
remuneration committee are mainly to make recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management and make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment, and the remuneration packages of individual
non-executive Directors.

During the year, one meeting of the remuneration committee was
held and the attendance of the meeting by each committee
member is set out below. In the following table, the figures in
brackets mean the total number of meetings held during each
member’s tenure throughout the year:

FZEenBESEZSC N ARE
WU R BB B -FMEEG T E
BERRARTAEERGRELE 25 M
HRERBRAESSREHER RS - R -
TRBLATEERGREEENEAS
B8 BRIFSENG RARSEAEE
ELR(BEEAERRIR BB IR
BEEME) - AR EMIERITE ST
BRAEFSRLEZ-

AEERN HFMHEESRITT —REF"
fEZBERBZHEBREIINT - gt TR
MmeE  BRABFERAFRATKEEL
HIRSITNERA

Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEERERSE HE SRR
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben (Chairman) BEEE(EE) 1/(1)
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred FRHEAE 1/(1)
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBS APRBULT(BREFES) 1/(1)

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
remuneration committee during the year:

° reviewed the performance evaluation of all executive Directors
and senior management and made recommendations to the
Board on the performance bonus for the year 2022;

o reviewed the remuneration packages of all Directors and
senior management in 2023 and made a recommendation
to the Board on the adjustment of the remuneration of
independent non-executive directors;

o considered the (2022-2024) Three-year Term Incentive
Scheme for Executive Directors and Senior Management and
made a recommendation to the Board for approval; and

o reviewed letters of appointment of a non-executive director
and two independent non-executive directors who re-
appointed and made recommendations to the Board on their
remuneration packages.

Details of the remuneration of the Company’s directors for the

year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the note 37 to the
financial statements of this annual report.
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Details of the emoluments (including basic salary and performance
bonus paid to the senior management (excluding executive
Directors of the Company) in year 2023 by band is as follows:
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R2023FX N TERRAEEAB(TBIEAR
RERTEFT)NFTMH( ERELATERSE
WS ) BERFHIIWAT -

Number of Individuals

Emolument Band HNE AR AE
RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000 AR #2 000,001 AR #2 500,000 1
RMB2,500,001 to RMB3,000,000 AR #2 500,001 & AR #3,000,000 2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Currently, the nomination committee consists of three members,
including an executive Director and the chairman of the Board,
namely Mr. Qing Lijun, who is the chairman of the nomination
committee and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred and Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben.

The terms of reference of the nomination committee are available
on the Company Website and the HKEX Website. The duties of
the nomination committee are mainly to review the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and
length of service) of the Board and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; identify suitable candidates for appointment as
directors; make recommendations to the Board on appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors; and assess the independence of independent
nonexecutive Directors and review whether non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) are spending
enough time to fulfill their duties annually.

In reviewing the Board composition, the nomination committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the board
diversity policy.

In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
nomination committee would consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with regards to the benefits of the diversity
of the Board and made reference to the nominate policy of the
Company.
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During the year, two meetings of the nomination committee were
held and the attendance by each committee member is set out
below. In the following table, the figures in brackets mean the
total number of meetings held during each member’s tenure
throughout the year:

AEEAN - RHZBEERITTMASH
NERBEKE 2 HFEBEREIIT - 5L T &
B REBRARFRERAFEASKEEE
HIRSITHERA

Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEERERSE HE SRR
Mr. Qing Lijun (Chairman) BERE(FE) 2/(2)
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred FRBEAE 2/(2)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben BEEESE 2/(2)

The following is a summary of the work performed by the nomination
committee during the year:

o reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
gender, age, cultural and education background, work or
professional experience, skills and knowledge, and length
of service) of the Board;

o reviewed the time required from non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) and
assessed whether they are spending enough time to fulfill

their duties;

o assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

° made recommendations to the Board on the election of an

executive Director and an independent non-executive Director
as well as re-election of a executive Director and a non-
executive Director and an independent non-executive Director
at the 2023 annual general meeting; and

o made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment

of a non-executive Director and two independent non-
executive Directors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL,
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Currently, the environmental, social and governance committee
consists of three members, including an executive Director, namely
Mr. Shen Xinwen, who is the chairman of the environmental, social
and governance committee, a non-executive Director, namely Mr.
Chen Zhigang and an independent non-executive Director, namely
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben.

The primary duties of the environmental, social and governance
committee are comprehensively to formulate and review the
administrative policies, strategies and structures of the Group’s
environmental, social and governance, review environmental, social
and governance related policies, regulations and trends, and to
provide decision-making advice to the Board of Directors regarding
the Group’s environmental, social and governance strategies and
operations, to ensure the company to comply with requirements
of applicable laws and regulations; monitor and supervise the
formulation and implementation of the Group’s environmental,
social and governance objectives; identify external environmental,
social and governance trends, risks and opportunities, etc. The
terms of reference the environmental, social and governance
committee are available on the Company Website.

During the year, two meetings of the environmental, social and
governance committee were held and the attendance of the
meeting by each committee member is set out below. In the
following table, the figures in brackets mean the total number of
meetings held during each member’s tenure throughout the year:
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Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEBREMS HE SRR E
Mr. Shen Xinwen (Chairman) SRR (EE) 2/(2)
Mr. Chen Zhigang BRERI T 2/(2)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben RERTE 2/(2)
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the
environmental, social and governance committee during the year:

° reviewed the environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
report for the year of 2022;

° reviewed the staffing of the ESG reporting working group;

° reviewed various objectives and plans for enhancing the
quality of ESG reporting and the preparation of the report;
and

o reviewed the ESG indicators related to environment, safety
and quality along with the corresponding measures.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Currently, the audit committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred, who is the
chairman of the audit committee, Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben and Ms.
Leung Ka Lai, Ada, SBS.

The terms of reference of the audit committee are available on
the Company Website and the HKEX Website. The duties of the
audit committee are mainly to assist the Board to ensure objectivity
and credibility of financial reporting, to review financial controls,
internal controls and risk management systems and to consider
any findings of major investigations on risk management and
internal control matters and response from the management. The
audit committee’s responsibilities also include making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of its resignation or dismissal, and to develop and implement
policy on engaging an external auditor to supply non-audit services.
The audit committee is further authorised by the Board to investigate
any activity within its terms of reference, and may make
recommendations to the Board to take appropriate actions
emanating from such investigations.
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During the year, besides having discussed with the external auditor
on the nature and scope of the auditing and accounting matters
and reporting obligations before the commencement of the audit
for the year, the audit committee approved matters by way of
written resolution and held two meetings during the year. The
attendance of the meetings by each committee member is set out
below. In the following table, the figures in brackets mean the
total number of meetings held during each member’s tenure
throughout the year:

AEEBREVBER TR BA RIS
REMA RETOEENSEELETER
AR BRERSEIN BERRESHEAFA
NEERZABB LFERARBITTM
REF - BUZEEKBEZ2HFEHBENH
SIENR - L NERME - ERABFIENAF
EAZKEEEMEARTNEHER

Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEERERSE HE/ SRR
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred (Chairman) ZRHIE(EE) 2/(2)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben SRS E 2/(2)
Ms. Leung Ka Lai, Ada, sBS PRBUTREFES) 2/(2)

The following is a summary of the work performed by the audit
committee during the year:

o Considered and approved the adoption of the “The Non-
Assurance Services Concurrence Policy” by a written
resolution;

o reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
approval of the 2022 annual results announcement and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022;

° reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
approval of the 2023 interim results announcement, and
the unaudited interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2023;

o reviewed matters relating to the Company’s financial and
accounting policies and practices;

o reviewed continuing connected transactions of the Group
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 and for the
six months ended 30 June 2023;
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° reviewed and assessed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes;

o reviewed the internal audit results for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2023
and the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, and considered whether any major
control deficiency had been identified;

° reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for the year
2023;

° made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment

of PricewaterhouseCoopers as external auditor of the
Company for the year 2023.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, the fees paid or to be payable to the Company’s
external auditor are set out below:

. AT R AN SR B T N B S D R
BEATENER BIEERKESHER
R AR B TAESHEIRER
DR

o ERHE2022F12A31I8 EFE &
B E2023F6 A30H 1L/ E A #y A&
BiER URAEENEREEN
NEEZERGHNERIE XERRED
TR A EREITRRK

o  EHUHE2023F AE T ETE
&

o BEREERERHE B AL
7\ FI2023%F [ M) NS X B AT 10 B
GRHHBRES

B BUET BN &

REFER  AARRMINEZBE D T
JEX VB REsImT

Fees paid/payable

Services rendered PR RS B ERNEA
RMB’000

AREEF T

Annual audit services FEETRE 3,050
Other assurance services* HERm R 1,200
Total BF 4,250

Such services included, among others, results announcement
review, compliance review relating to continuing connected
transactions.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors, who are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of the Company’s accounts, receive monthly management accounts
and updates on the Group's performance and financial position
and prospects prepared by management of the Company on a
regular basis. Management of the Company was required to provide
a detailed report(s) and explanation to enable the Board to make
an informed assessment of the financial and other information put
forward for its approval. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board adopted appropriate
accounting policies consistently, made prudent and reasonable
judgements and estimates. The Board was not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the
consolidated financial statements of the Company on a going-
concern basis.

The Board is committed to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s affairs to its shareholders
and the public in a timely manner. The interim and annual results
of the Company are published in accordance with the disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules.

The reporting responsibilities of the Directors and the external
auditor are further set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
of this annual report. For other financial disclosures required under
the Listing Rules are disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The Company is committed to ensuring compliance with regulatory
requirements under the Listing Rules, applicable laws and
regulations in handling connected transactions. Accordingly, the
Company implemented various internal control mechanisms to
capture and monitor connected transactions to ensure that
connected transactions are conducted under normal commercial
terms or on terms that are fair and reasonable and properly
disclosed and (if necessary) approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Listing Rules.
Connected persons will be required to abstain from voting in
general meetings which considering the relevant connected
transactions. Details of the connected transactions of the Company
during the year are set out in the “Report of the Directors” of this
annual report.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems, and for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems
through the audit committee of the Board.

Sound risk management and internal control systems are based
on the Company’s good business ethics and culture, the quality
and capabilities of its employees, the direction of the Board, and
also the efficiency and capabilities of management.

Management of the Company, under the Board supervision, is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has established a sound and comprehensive risk
management and internal control system, formed a systematic
and effective system on segregation of duty and three lines of
defense in risk management, with each of the business units as
the first line of defense; the business supervision and inspection
departments at all levels as the second line of defense; and internal
audit department and supervision department as the third line of
defense.

The Group has established its risk management and internal control
systems based on the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisation
of the Treadway Commission) risk management framework.

The Group’s risk management covers the Company’s headquarters
and its subsidiaries, covering various risks faced in operation and
management, and focusing on and continuously monitor the key
risks.

According to the risk management strategy, the Group conducts
a comprehensive risk assessment every two years in combination
with the Group’s strategic and business objectives and changes
in the market environment. Identify major risks that adversely
affect the achievement of strategic objectives and prioritise the
identified risks based on a set of standard criteria and formulate
a risk mitigation plan to monitor the risks to an acceptable level.

The Group conducted a comprehensive risk assessment in 2023.
The internal audit department summarised and sorted the
assessment results, and selected the top five risks with the highest
scores as the main risks faced by the Group in 2024, and
formulated corresponding monitoring measures. These risks mainly
cover market competition, safe production, cost pressure and
China-United States relations.
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The Group has consistently dealt with and monitored the major
risks that were assessed and identified the responsible departments
and accountable persons, the management process and the
corresponding reporting mechanism.

All bottling plants and departments had implemented risk
management measures in a serious and proactive manner, and
relevant major risks have been effectively controlled. There has
been no material risk event occurred within the Group in 2023.

The Group’s monitoring work usually consists of:

Analysis and review: through conducting annual budget and
strategic plan reviews and other forms to set the Company’s
development goals, and determine business plans and development
strategies. Senior management holds regular general managers
meetings and operation analysis meetings to discuss major
strategies, policy and overall issues of the Company. Each affiliated
company holds regular internal management meetings to analyze
budget execution, sales management, production management
and risk control matters.

Work management: reports of work are reviewed by management
personnel who are responsible for the relevant functions.

Physical monitoring: ensuring the safety of equipment, inventory
and other assets, and conducting regular inspections.

Analysis of operational indicators: conducting analysis of operational
and financial data on regular basis to ensure early identification
of existing problems, so that any necessary rectification works can
be done in a timely manner.

Separation of duties: responsibilities of employees are divided
according to the principle of separation of duties, so that the
checks and balances are strengthened and the probability and
risk of errors are reduced.

The Group has established effective systems and procedures to
ensure that employees are able to identify, document and report
on operational, financial and compliance information while
performing their duties.

The Group has established an independent internal audit
department and a supervision department which report directly to
the senior management and the audit committee of the Company.
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In 2023, the internal audit department completed the annual audit
plan and audit requirements approved by the management and
the audit committee. Based on risk assessments and the needs
of the management, the internal audit department conducted
internal control audits and special audits in the important risk
areas of the Group. It has focused on the rectification of problems
found during the audit, and have effectively promoted management
improvements and reduced operating risks.

The internal audit department assists the audit committee to assess
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and attends meetings of the audit committee at
least twice a year, and reports on the work it has undertaken and
its principal audit findings.

The Group has also designed and formulated appropriate policies
and control measures to safeguard its assets against unauthorized
use and disposition, and to ensure compliance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations. The Company maintains reliable
accounting records, and financial information in accordance with
the relevant accounting standards and reporting requirements,
and properly identifies and manages risks that may affect the
performance of the Company.

Such systems and internal controls are designed to manage, rather
than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
They can only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

In respect of 2023, the Board has reviewed, through the audit
committee, the work of the internal audit department, and its audit
findings in relation to the risk management and internal control
systems (including financial, operational and compliance controls),
and considers the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group are effective and adequate, and that the Company
had complied with the Code Provision on risk management and
internal control. The qualifications and experience of the staff of
the Group’s accounting, financial reporting and internal audit
functions, and the training programmes, budgets and the resources
available to these functions have been reviewed and are considered
to be adequate.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has formulated the “Inside Information Disclosure
Policies and Guidelines of China Foods Limited”, which has set
out clearly the procedures for the identification, report and
disclosure of inside information to ensure that the Company is
able to disclose inside information properly on a timely, fair and
lawful manner, and keep confidential before such information is
approved appropriately, so as to enhance the market transparency
and provide better protection for shareholders and investors.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted a whistle-blowing policy (available on
the Company Website) and the policy is intended to encourage
and assist its employees and other stakeholders (e.g. customers,
contractors, suppliers, creditors, and debtors, etc.) who deal with
the Group to report any misconduct, malpractice, or irregularity
within the Group through a confidential reporting channel (to the
extent possible). The Group will handle the reports with care and
treat the whistleblowers’ concerns fairly and properly. Employees
of the Group are also assured of protection against unfair dismissal,
victimization, or unwarranted disciplinary action. When reports are
received by the chairman of the audit committee and/or the general
manager of the internal audit department, the audit committee/
the internal audit department will then evaluate the validity and
relevance of the concerns raised, and decide if a full investigation
is necessary. If an investigation is warranted, an investigation team
will be appointed by the audit committee/the internal audit
department to look into the reported matter, and the investigation
report will be reported to the audit committee.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY POLICY

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy (available on
the Company Website) and the policy sets out the guidelines and
responsibilities of directors, employees, those acting in an agency
or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group and third parties. The
Group is committed to upholding and maintaining the highest
standards of integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality and transparency
in conducting its business and operation. The Group will investigate
the reported matter according to the procedures set out in the
anti-corruption and bribery policy.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Liu Kit Yee, Linda has been the company secretary of the
Company since 2004. During the year, Ms. Liu undertook not less
than 15 hours of the relevant professional training to update her
skills and knowledge.

All Directors may seek the advice and assistance of the company
secretary in respect of their duties and the effective operation of
the Board and Board committees. The company secretary is also
responsible for facilitating good information flow among the
Directors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Special General Meetings on Requisition by
Shareholders

Pursuant to bye-law 68 of the Bye-Law and section 74 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, shareholders shall have a right
to request the Board to convene a special general meeting of the
Company (“SGM"). Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less
than one-tenth (10%) of the paidup capital of the Company may
send a written requisition to the Board to request for convening
a SGM.

The written requisition, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must state the purposes of the meeting and
must be deposited at the registered office of the Company. The
Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one (21) days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene
a SGM, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three (3) months from the said date.

The SGM convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in

the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which SGMs
are to be convened by Directors.
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Procedures for Making Proposals at General Meetings by
Shareholders

The following shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal
(which may properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company:

(a) any member(s) representing not less than one-twentieth (5%)
of the total voting rights of all the members of the Company;
or

(b)  not less than 100 members holding shares in the Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal desired to be put forward
at the general meeting, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like from each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must be deposited at the registered office of
the Company, together with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s expenses in giving effect thereto, not less than six
weeks before the general meeting (in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution) or not less than one week before the general
meeting (in case of any other requisition). The Company would
take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangement once
a valid requisition is received.

Procedures for Director’'s Nomination and Election by
Shareholders

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
director for election as a director at a general meeting, the
shareholder should lodge at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong at 33/F., COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, (a) a written notice signed by such
shareholder (other than the proposed person) duly qualified to
attend and vote at the meeting of his/her intention to propose
such person for election; and (b) a written notice by the proposed
person indicating his/her willingness to be elected together with
the personal information of the proposed person as required by
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and consent of publication of
his/her personal information.

The period during which the aforesaid notice may be given shall
be seven days (or such other period as determined and announced
by the Board). Such period will commence on the day after the
dispatch of the notice of general meeting and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting. The Company
would take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements,
once valid notice is received.
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Communication with Shareholders

The Company attaches great importance to communicate with
shareholders, both individual and institutional, and a shareholders
communication policy has been adopted by the Company to ensure
the shareholders and potential investors are provided with the
Company’s information in a timely and effective manner.

The means to communicate with the shareholders and the
investment community used by the Company including the
following:

i corporate communications such as annual reports, interim
reports and circulars are made available to shareholders in
both printed form and electronic means through the Company
Website and the HKEX Website;

ii. corporate announcements are published on the Company
Website and the HKEX Website;

iii. corporate information is made available on the Company
Website;

V. annual and special general meetings provide a forum for
the shareholders to make comments and exchange views
with the Directors and management executives; and

V. Tricor Progressive Limited, the branch share registrar and
transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong serves the
shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend
payment and related matters.

Shareholders may at any time send their written enquiries and
concerns to the Company, either by post or facsimiles, together
with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email address
or fax number, via the company secretary whose contact details
are as follows:

The Company Secretary
China Foods Limited

33/F., COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2833 0388
Fax: (852) 2833 0380

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and
engagement in place, the Board is satisfied that shareholder
communication policy has been properly in place during the year
and is effective.
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Constitutional Documents

By a special resolution passed at the 2023 Annual General Meeting,
the amended and restated bye-laws of the Company (the “Amended
and Restated Bye-Laws”) were adopted on 6 June 2023. The
purpose of the adoption was to, among others, conform with the
Core Shareholders Protection Standards as set out in the amended
Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules effective from 1 January 2022
and provide greater flexibility in relation to the conduct general
meeting by allowing general meetings to be held as an electronic
meeting or hybrid meeting where shareholders of the Company
may attend remotely. Other minor amendments to the bye-laws
were also made for corresponding as well as housekeeping
changes. For the full text of the proposed Amended and Restated
Bye-laws and further information on the adoption of the Amended
and Restated Bye-laws, please refer to the constitutional documents
and announcement of the Company both released on and dated
6 June 2023.

A copy of the latest consolidated version of the memorandum of
association and bye-laws is available on the Company Website
and the HKEX Website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

We have always believed that maintaining a high standard, effective
and multi-channel communication system and ensuring the
transparency and timeliness of information disclosure enables
investors to accurately understand the latest developments of the
Group. It also helps to enhance investors’ confidence and
shareholders’ value.

Our strategic objectives of investor relations function have been
clearly defined as follows:

1) to raise the profile of the Company as a leading participant
in the industry, that is in line with our strategic positioning
within the group of COFCO Corporation;

2) to build a long-term and trusting shareholder base;

3) to enhance the knowledge of our investors about the
Company; and

4) to understand the key concerns of the investment community
and provide timely feedback to our management, and to
make constant improvement based on the constructive
feedback.
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Interactions between the Company and the investor community:

We believe effective communication and fair information disclosure
builds investor confidence, and also facilitates constructive
feedbacks for continuous improvement.

In 2023, apart from disclosing transparent and fair financial and
operational information in annual and interim reports and having
direct communicate with shareholders at annual and special
general meetings, we have also effectively bridged the Company
and the investment community through:

° Interactive communications between our management and
investors/analysts directly at post-results briefings, investor
annual conferences/seminar and regular investor meetings;
and

° Collection of market feedback, such as research reports and
market views, for the review of our management.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased
to present its report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
(the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “year”),
which were approved by the Board on 19 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Currently, the Company through its subsidiaries operates beverage
business. There were no changes in the nature of the Group’s
principle activities during the year under review.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group and a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s business performance of the year, a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the financial year, as well as the Group’s future business
outlook can be found in the sections headed “Statement from
Chairman and Managing Director”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”
in this report. Such review and discussion form parts of this report
of the Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
while the Company itself is incorporated in Bermuda with its shares
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Group’s
operations are regulated by the applicable laws and regulations
of Bermuda, Hong Kong and PRC. For the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report, the Board was not aware
of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report, the “Corporate
Governance Report” and the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” for further details of the Group’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In view of the Board, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year, save and except
for code provision C.2.1 which stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should not be performed by the same individual.
Details of the Company’s work in corporate governance during the
year are disclosed in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
34 to 60 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance
is contained in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
which will be available on the websites of the Company
(www.chinafoodsltd.com) and Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing
Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) in due course.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as of that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 88
to 180.

There was no interim dividend declared for the six months ended
30 June 2023 (30 June 2022: NIL).

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.148 (31 December 2022: RMB0.117) per ordinary share
for the year ended 31 December 2023, subject to the approval
obtained at the annual general meeting to be held on Tuesday,
11 June 2024. The proposed final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2023 will be distributed on or around Wednesday,
10 July 2024 to shareholders of the Company whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 21 June
2024. As disclosed in the Company’s announcement made on 9
June 2013, the Company received the approvals of State
Administration of Taxation of the People’s Republic of China which
confirmed that (i) the Company is regarded as a Chinese resident
enterprise; and (ii) relevant enterprise income tax policies shall
be applicable to the Company starting from 1 January 2013. Thus,
the Company will withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it
distributes the final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2023 to non-resident enterprise shareholders of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 5 June 2024 to
Tuesday, 11 June 2024, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Progressive Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 4 June
2024.
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For determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed
final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 20 June 2024 to Friday, 21 June 2024,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered. The ex-dividend date will be Tuesday, 18 June
2024. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Progressive Limited, at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong,
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 19 June 2024.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements, is set out on page 181 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy in November 2018.
Pursuant to the dividend policy, the Company may declare and
distribute dividends to shareholders of the Company to allow them
to share the Company’s profits and for the Company to retain
adequate reserves for future growth.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject
to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of
final dividend will be subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
shall also take into account, inter alia, the Group’s financial results,
the overall financial position of the Group, the relevant financial
covenants of the Group, liquidity position and capital requirement
of the Group, surplus received from the Company’s subsidiaries
and any other factors that the Board deem appropriate. The
Company’s ability to pay dividends is also subject to the
requirements of the Listing Rules and all relevant applicable laws,
rules and regulations in the Bermuda, Hong Kong and the
Company’s memorandum and association and bye-laws (the “Bye-
laws”).

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the dividend policy at any time, and the dividend policy
shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at
any time or from time to time.
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SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the Company’s authorised or issued
share capital during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company and its subsidiaries have no share option scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda, amounted to approximately RMB2,701,735,000,
of which approximately RMB413,989,000 has been proposed as
a final dividend for the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movement in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 15
to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, less than 6% of the Group’s total sales were
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers. Approximately
43.89% of the Group’s total purchases were attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers, with the largest supplier accounting
for approximately 31.63%.
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Apart from the Company’s ultimate controlling shareholder, COFCO
Corporation (“COFCQ”), which is one of the Group’s five largest
suppliers, none of the directors of the Company (“Director(s)”) or
any of their close associates or any shareholders (which, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
other four largest suppliers or the five largest customers of the
Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Current Board Members

Executive Directors:
Mr. Qing Lijun (Chairman)
Mr. Shen Xinwen

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chen Zhigang
Mr. Chen Gang

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred

Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben

Ms. Leung Ka Lai Ada, SBS

All Directors including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors are appointed with specific terms.

Each Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years as required by bye-law 111(A) of the Bye-
laws. Accordingly, Mr. Chen Gang and Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence
has been received from each of them.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGMENT PROFILE

Biographical details of the Company’s Directors and Senior
Management are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management
Profile” on pages 24 to 33 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any transactions, arrangements and contract of significance to the
Group’s business to which the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board is authorised by the shareholders to fix the directors’
remuneration at general meetings. The Directors’ emoluments are
determined by the Board based on the recommendation by the
remuneration committee of the Board with reference to their job
complexity, workload and responsibilities, and the Company’s
remuneration policy. Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the
year are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified by the Company out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur
or about the execution and discharge of his/her duties or in relation
thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
of the Company during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS, OPTIONS
OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

There is no conversion or subscription rights under any convertible
securities, warrants or options or similar rights issued or granted
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year. In addition, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company, or existed during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company has any interest or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFQ”)) which will have to be notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which any Director is deemed
or taken to be under such provisions of the SFQ), or which are
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register to be kept by the Company or which are required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies contained in the Listing Rules.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS B # & # &

BEEEH

RERR PEIT L FHERREE 2L
EAERBAXRBHNEERTREBZA
e

RRE S RREE
s PR

RAFEARAKFEHERE AR RHEE
o] B 8~ ) 13 A R 1T SR H AT B A 4
KRB A A RAGE S REE - B
RESARLIER] o BN - RABBEET LR
RERFEZBREHBTE -

B

EERBROKAERRKRG 2ERR

S B
RB

M2023F12A31H  EEH AR A RSIT
KA BB ERNARQ B S HE A A AR E
EREBABIESTIEB A LIS 56 ([ 7
5 RS G ) EXVER) ;5 ~ ABRERR (D
M AE B IR IK 5 M HE &) SEXVER
FIRESHEANS AR REBHAR
SEAERAR (BRI MERSAR (R
FEREBEBSRHAEERAIBHEKEXESER
BRWRIEEFNESZIAR ) HIBEE
# MBS 1B 2835216 1R B B B R R e IR AT
FERARBFE MRS MR K
WA AR EMRAI TR (T ARE
BHRTHESFRSMIZESTRNEME AT
N R TR ROR B ©

FEERAERLE Fik 2023

or



63

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS & F & # &

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
substantial shareholders in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register of interests
of the Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the

SFO, were as follows:

AND OTHER

FERRREMALARSDRE
ARG 2ERRKXR

M2023%12A31 8 RIBEEF M HE KD
EXVERE2R E3N A MAMEARTF] : FAR
BES M E EDI 5 336 RN AR R
FEZRERBRMA ETERRRAQFMR
0 KRR 2 s OR B AT

Number of shares held

RO B E
Directly Through Approximate
beneficially controlled percentage of
Name of substantial shareholder owned corporations Total issued shares
= HiZ EB HEBTRAN
REREHE BEREs SHEEE By BHOEs
Note (4) ftit(4)
China Foods (Holdings) Limited 2 072,688,331(L) - 2,072,688,331(L) 74.10%
FPERm(FER)BRAR]
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited - 2,072,688,331(L) 2,072,688,331(L) 74.10%
HREEE(EE)ARAR Note (1) HiiE(1)
COFCO - 2,072,688,331(L) 2,072,688,331(L) 74.10%
hig Note(2) H1it(2)
Brown Brothers Harriman & 195,900,559(L) 7.00%
Co. 195,900,559(P)
FIL Limited 195,708,000(L) - 195,708,000(L) 6.99%
Pandanus Partners L.P. 195,708,000(L) 195,708,000(L) 6.99%
Note(3) Htit(3)
Pandanus Associates Inc. 195,708,000(L) 195,708,000(L) 6.99%

Note(3) H17(3)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023




Notes:

(1)  COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)") was deemed to be
interested in 2,072,688,331 shares held by China Foods (Holdings)
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK).

(2)  COFCO was deemed to be interested in 2,072,688,331 shares held
by China Foods (Holdings) Limited and COFCO (HK), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of COFCO.

(3) Based on the disclosure of interest filed by Pandanus Associates
Inc., FIL Limited is a controlled corporation of Pandanus Partners
L.P., which in turn is a controlled corporation of Pandanus
Associates Inc..

(4)  The percentages were calculated based on the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2023, i.e.
2,797,223,396 shares.

(L) Indicates a long position
(P) Indicates a lending pool

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Group
conducted the following transactions with certain connected
persons of the Company including COFCO, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company, and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“COFCO Group”) and COFCO'’s associates. These transactions
constituted connected transaction or continuing continued
transactions and are subject to reporting requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.
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ACQUISITIONS OF EQUITY INTERESTS IN THE CBL
TARGET COMPANIES
On 15 July 2022, as part of the restructuring of Coca-
Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited
(“CCBMH") (The Coca-Cola Company and COFCO
Coca-Cola Beverages Limited indirectly holds 38% and
21% interest, respectively), COFCO Beverages
(CCBMH) Limited (“CBL") (an indirectly 65%-owned
subsidiary of the Company), Coca-Cola South Asia
Holdings, Inc. (“CCSAH"), Coca-Cola China Industries
(Beverages) Limited (“CCCIL"), Mount Limited
(“Mount”) and CCBMH entered into the master
agreement (“Master Agreement”), pursuant to which
it has been conditionally agreed that, (i) CBL shall
procure the COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (China)
Investment Limited (“CBL Purchaser”), an indirectly
65%-owned subsidiary of the Company, to purchase
from CCBMH, and CCBMH shall sell to the CBL
Purchaser, the equity interest in the CBL Target
Companies, namely (1) Coca-Cola Bottlers
Manufacturing (Yingkou) Company Limited (A] AA]
LEmmAeEE (20) BRAR) , (2) Coca-Cola
Bottlers Manufacturing (Jinan) Company Limited (7]
eRmEmEE (Bm) ARA7RD , (3) Coca-Cola
Bottlers Manufacturing (Shijiazhuang) Company
Limited (AJOA2EMEAE (ARAE) ARAR])
(4) Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing (Changsha)
Company Limited (AJORT&EERHEE (BY) &
fR25]) and (5) Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing
(Chengdu) Company Limited (R] O A] 245 A &
(B#B) BFRAF]) , (the “CBL Transactions”), and
(ii) Mount shall purchase from CCBMH, and CCBMH
shall sell to Mount, the equity interests in its certain
subsidiaries (the “Mount Transactions”). The CBL
Transactions and the Mount Transactions (collectively
the “Transactions”) are inter-conditional.
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CCBMH, CCSAH and CCCIL are connected persons
of the Company in subsidiary level. The aggregate
base consideration for the CBL Transactions is
approximately RMB544,396,000 and subject to
customary closing accounts adjustments by reference
to the net cash balance and the working capital level
of each of the CBL Target Companies as at the date
of completion of the Transactions in according to the
terms and conditions of the Master Agreement. Details
of the Master Agreement and the CBL Transactions
were disclosed in an announcement of the Company
date 15 July 2022.

The completion of the CBL Transactions took place
on 1 January 2023 and an relevant announcement of
the Company was published on 2 January 2023.
Following the completion of the CBL Transactions, each
of the CBL Target Companies has become a subsidiary
of the Company and their financial results will be
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.

INVENTORY PURCHASE AGREEMENT

After the completion of the CBL Transactions disclosed
in the above item 1, on 1 January 2023, to facilitate
the sale and purchase of the inventories and/or the
transfer of certain raw materials procurement contracts
from the Coca-Cola Bottlers Management Service
(Shanghai) Company Limited (A] [0 A 442 5 5 & 78
R (&) ARAR]) (the “Seller”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CCBMH and a connected person
of the Company, COFCO Coca-Cola Supply Chain
(Tianjin) Limited (FRA87] D RJ&LftpERE (K)F) AR
A@]) , a subsidiary of the CBL Purchaser, (the “CBL
Buyer”) (as purchaser or transferee), the Seller (as
seller or transferor) and the other party named therein
entered into an inventory purchase agreement (the
“Inventory Purchase Agreement”).

The consideration payable by the CBL Buyer to the
Seller with respect to the inventory set forth in the
final list of raw materials or packaging materials relating
to certain finished goods to be purchased in
accordance with the Inventory Purchase Agreement
is RMB92,667,432 (inclusive of value-added tax). The
consideration was determined by reference to the
weighted average cost as recorded in the books,
records and other relevant information of the Seller
as at 31 December 2022.

Details of the Inventory Purchase Agreement was
disclosed in an announcement of the Company date
6 January 2023.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

1.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2020 COFCO MUTUAL PROVISION AGREEMENT

On 11 November 2020, the Company and COFCO
entered into a mutual provision of products and
services agreement for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2021 and expiring on
31 December 2023 (the “2020 COFCO Mutual
Provision Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2020 COFCO
Mutual Provision Agreement, the COFCO Group and
COFCO’s associates shall supply certain raw materials,
packaging materials, products and provide certain
services to the Group while the Group shall supply
certain consumer products and provide certain services
to the COFCO Group and COFCQ’s associates. Details
of the 2020 COFCO Mutual Provision Agreement were
disclosed in an announcement of the Company dated
11 November 2020 (the “2020 Announcement”) and
a circular of the Company dated 1 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, (a) the total
amount paid/payable by the Group to the COFCO
Group and COFCOQ’s associates for the purchase of
products, raw materials, packaging materials, services
and others was approximately RMB1,915 million; and
(b) the total amount paid/payable by COFCO Group
and COFCO'’s associates to the Group for the purchase
of consumer products, services and others was
approximately RMB1.22 million.

2020 CONCENTRATE PURCHASE AGREEMENT

On 11 November 2020, the Company and Coca-Cola
(Shanghai) Company Limited (“Coca-Cola (Shanghai)”),
a connected person of the Company, entered into a
concentrate purchase agreement for a term of three
years commencing from 1 January 2021 and expiring
on 31 December 2023 (the “2020 Concentrate
Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2020
Concentrate Purchase Agreement, members of the
Group with prior written approval from Coca-Cola
(Shanghai) shall purchase concentrates from Coca-
Cola (Shanghai) at prices determined by Coca-Cola
(Shanghai). Details of the 2020 Concentrate Purchase
Agreement were disclosed in the 2020 Announcement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total
amount paid/payable by the Group to Coca-Cola
(Shanghai) for the purchase of concentrates was
approximately RMB4,538 million.

2020 STILL BEVERAGES PURCHASE AGREEMENT
On 11 November 2020, the Company and Coca-Cola
Bottlers Management Service (Shanghai) Limited
(“Coca-Cola Bottlers (Shanghai)”), a connected person
of the Company, entered into a still beverages purchase
agreement for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2021 and expiring on 31 December 2023
(the “2020 Still Beverages Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the 2020 Still Beverages Purchase
Agreement, certain members of the Group shall
purchase still beverages from Coca-Cola Bottlers
(Shanghai) for distribution and resale within designated
areas in the PRC. Details of the 2020 Still Beverages
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in the 2020
Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total
amount paid/payable by the Group to the Coca-Cola
Bottlers (Shanghai) for the purchase of still beverages
was approximately RMB193 million.

2020 PACKAGING MATERIALS AND SERVICES
PROVISION AGREEMENT

On 11 November 2020, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverage
(Tianjin) Limited (“Tianjin Bottler”) and Tianjin Shifa
Zijiang Packaging Co., Ltd. (“Zijiang”), a connected
person of the Company, entered into a provision of
packaging materials and services agreement for a term
of three years commencing from 1 January 2021 and
expiring on 31 December 2023 (the “2020 Packaging
Materials and Services Provision Agreement”).
Pursuant to the 2020 Packaging Materials and Services
Provision Agreement, Zijiang shall supply packaging
materials and provide conversion services and other
services to Tianjin Bottler. Details of the 2020
Packaging Materials and Services Provision Agreement
were disclosed in the 2020 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total
amount paid/payable by the Tianjin Bottler to Zijiang
for the purchase of packaging materials and conversion
services was approximately RMB57.88 million.
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FINANCIAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

On 2 November 2021, the Company, COFCO Coca-
Cola Supply Chain (Tianjin) Limited (FRfgn] O[] 4%
HpEsE (X2) BRAF]) (“Supply Chain (Tianjin)"),
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and COFCO Finance Corporation Limited
(“COFCO Finance, a connected person of the Company,
entered into a financial services agreement for a term
of three years from 14 December 2021 to 13 December
2024 (the “Financial Services Agreement”).

Pursuant to the New Financial Services Agreement,
COFCO Finance shall provide Supply Chain (Tianjin)
and the Group depository services, fund transfer
services, entrustment loan services and the other
financial services. Details of the New Financial Services
Agreement were disclosed in an announcement of the
Company dated 2 November 2021 and a circular of
the Company dated 23 November 2021.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023, the maximum daily deposit amount (including
the corresponding interest accrued thereon) placed
by the Group with COFCO Finance was approximately
RMB790 million.

CULIANGWANG PRODUCTS FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

On 14 December 2022, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverage
Limited (*“COFCO Coca-Cola”), an indirectly 65%-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and AR mER (E
P9) BBRAT] (Zhibaishuo Company Beverage
Technology (Xiamen) Co., Ltd.) (“Zhibaishuo Company”)
(formerly known as EFTHEETHRBEEBER AR
Xiamen Culiangwang Beverage Technology Co., Ltd.),
a connected person of the Company, entered into the
sales and distribution cooperation framework agreement
(“New Framework Agreement”) for a term of two years
commencing from 1 January 2023 and expiring on
31 December 2024. Pursuant to New Framework
Agreement, members of the COFCO Coca-Cola Group
shall purchase from members of the group of
Zhibaishuo Company and its associates, certain plant-
based protein beverage products under the trademarks
of “EEH" - “EAR - PRBE  BHEE" as
set out in the New Framework Agreement. Details of
the New Framework Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 14 December
2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total
amount paid/payable by members of the COFCO Coca-
Cola Group to members of the group of Zhibaishuo
Company and its associates for the purchase of
Culiangwang products was approximately RMB21.53
millions.

2023 COFCO MUTUAL PROVISION AGREEMENT

On 7 November 2023, the Company and COFCO
entered into a mutual provision of products and
services agreement for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2024 and expiring on
31 December 2026 (the “2023 COFCO Mutual
Provision Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2023 COFCO
Mutual Provision Agreement, the COFCO Group and
COFCO'’s associates shall supply certain raw materials,
packaging materials, products and provide certain
services to the Group while the Group shall supply
certain consumer products and provide certain services
to the COFCO Group and COFCQ’s associates. The
annual caps in respect of (a) the purchase of products
and services by the Group from the COFCO Group
and COFCOQ’s associates for the years ending 31
December 2024, 2025 and 2026 will be RMB2,891
million, RMB3,348 million and RMB3,852 million,
respectively; and (b) the provision of products and
services by the Group to the COFCO Group and
COFCO'’s associates for the years ending 31 December
2024, 2025 and 2026 will be RMB4 million, RMB4.5
million and RMB5 million, respectively. Details of the
2023 COFCO Mutual Provision Agreement were
disclosed in an announcement of the Company dated
7 November 2023 (the “2023 Announcement”) and
a circular of the Company dated 27 November 2023.
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2023 CONCENTRATE PURCHASE AGREEMENT

On 7 November 2023, the Company and Coca-Cola
(Shanghai) entered into a concentrate purchase
agreement for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2024 and expiring on 31 December 2026
(the “2023 Concentrate Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the 2023 Concentrate Purchase Agreement,
members of the Group with prior written approval from
Coca-Cola (Shanghai) shall purchase concentrates
from Coca Cola (Shanghai) at prices determined by
Coca-Cola (Shanghai). The annual caps in respect of
the purchase of the concentrates by the Group for
the years ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026
will be RMB6,000 million, RMB7,200 million and
RMBS8,700 million, respectively. Details of the 2023
Concentrate Purchase Agreement were disclosed in
the 2023 Announcement.

2023 PACKAGING MATERIALS AND SERVICES
PROVISION AGREEMENT

On 7 November 2023, Tianjin Bottler and Zijiang
entered into a provision of packaging materials and
services agreement for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2024 and expiring on
31 December 2026 (the “2023 Packaging Materials
and Services Provision Agreement”). Pursuant to the
2023 Packaging Materials and Services Provision
Agreement, Zijiang together with its subsidiaries and
associates (collectively “Zijiang Group”) shall supply
packaging materials and provide conversion services
and other services to Tianjin Bottler. The annual caps
in respect of the packaging materials and related
services supplied by Zijiang Group for the years ending
31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 will be RMB99
million, RMB110 million and RMB130 million,
respectively. Details of the 2023 Packaging Materials
and Services Provision Agreement were disclosed in
the 2023 Announcement.
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
PricewaterhouseCoopers have issued their letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions numbered 1 to 6 disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions numbered 1 to 6 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and the report of the Company’s
auditors, and confirmed that these continuing connected
transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Company;

2. either on normal commercial terms or, on terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or from
(as appropriate) independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements
governing the transactions and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, no Directors are considered to have interests in
any business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with
that of the Group.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this report.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately RMB6,000,000.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

As of the date of this report, no significant subsequent events
happened.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in normal
course of business are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. In relation to those related party transactions
that constituted connected transactions under the Listing Rules,
they have complied with the applicable requirements in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has reviewed with the auditor of the Company
the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 and has also discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the accounting practices
and principles adopted by the Group.
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AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as auditor of the Company
upon the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu at the annual
general of the Company held on 1 June 2021.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who will retire and, being eligible, offers themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company and authorizing
the Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

QING Lijun
Chairman

Hong Kong
19 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M B B

_
pwec

To the Shareholders of China Foods Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Foods Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 88 to 180, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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AEE - 4852 2289 8888 ' (ZE : +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives (the “indefinite lives
intangible assets”)
HEREAEBTTITRENEFEE(ERAESTTERE
WELEE ) R EE

Refer to Note 4 “Critical accounting judgement and
key sources of estimation uncertainty” and Note
17 “Intangible assets” to the consolidated financial
statements.

ERELEE B WMERMTA [ AR AIE A A5 T8
TE MBS ORI AP R 17T BB E o

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s goodwill
and indefinite lives intangible assets not subject
to amortisation (i.e. franchise rights) amounted
to RMB1,846,799,000 and RMB1,659,475,000
respectively (collectively the “Intangible Assets under
Assessment”) and no provision for impairment has
been recognised on these assets.

B ZE2023F12A310 EXENEHEREFTHENE
AEn T THENEFEE(BIRTEEE)DIAAR
#51,846,799,0007CF1 A R#£1,659,475,0007T (#5118 &
[FHERE B EE ) REHELEERDMEER -

The Company’s management (“management”) has
performed impairment assessment on these Intangible
Assets under Assessment on an annual basis. For the
purpose of the impairment assessment, management
has allocated the Intangible Assets under Assessment
to a group of cash-generating units under the same
operating segment (the “Beverage CGUs”) and
determined the recoverable amounts of the Beverage
CGUs based on value-in-use calculations. These value-
in-use calculations required management to forecast
the future cash flows of the Beverage CGUs based on
the approved financial budgets. The key assumptions
as adopted by management in the value-in-use
calculations primarily include revenue growth rate,
gross profit margin, long-term revenue growth rate and
pre-tax discount rate.
ERFTNEEE(EREE ) BFHYELTHPNE
TWEBEETREN G - B TETRENG EEEEH
FHERHETNEESD AR —KE/ BT —EER ¢
EEBEM((RYRESELEN]) WREEHAEER
ERERHREELEBEMNA KRB EE SLFERE
BT E ZEREEERERE N B T8 S 78R 8RR
PEABUNARBEeR EEEEEREBETER
KANBERBREIERERAERE  EHE  RE
ANEREMBATERE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ET N EERRETEE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill and indefinite lives intangible assets included:
P e B N e S N E BB E M RERT
BEHENEFBRE

° We understood and evaluated the management’s
internal controls in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and the indefinite lives
intangible assets, and assessed the risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty as complexity, subjectivity
and other inherent risk factors;
BMTHRETETEREEERERERASG T E
E BB T2 & B HORUE AT il 75 E AR B 6 A B -
W E BT AR E (B - FEIE R
HAth BB Rk B R )T 72 = A fR R Rt i) &
LA

oo
AR

° We assessed the reliability of management’s cash
flow forecast by comparing the historical cash flow
forecasts with the actual results of the Beverage
CGUs;
BM@EANRFELHeRBEANGHECEES
UM ERERRTIHERER S MBANASE
r|\l-£ ;

° We evaluated the competence, capabilities

and objectivity of the valuation expert engaged
by management to perform the impairment
assessment by performing procedures including
but not limited to: examining its professional
qualification and reputation; inquiring the valuation
expert whether it is independent in respect of the
Group;
BTG TEEBRRETREN ENEERR
RBLRE BB BB - BFEEETRR : &
CHEXERLEE  ARAEEREEBE IR
E5E

° We evaluated the appropriateness of the discount
cash flow model and pre-tax discount rates as
used by management in determining the value-in-
use of the Beverage CGUs, with the assistance of
our internal valuation experts;
FEABEESIME T - K E T EREERE
ERHBReEFEMNEREERMAERANITER
W MBI RBRTTR R EE M

° We verified the mathematical accuracy of the
value-in-use calculations;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

We have identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill and indefinite lives intangible assets as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the
related balances and the significant management
judgement and estimations involved in the impairment
assessment.
BAAESRENEEEARBETGR P ERNERE
3B FI B RO 5T BAPIE A 7B K 5 R 55 A T e E Y
TEENREMNGEE A ERRHETEIE -
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EREFTEEHGE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ET N EERRETEE

° We evaluated the management’s future cash flow
forecast of the Beverage CGUs including the
reasonableness of the forecast in the context of
historical results of the Group’s businesses and
production capacity, and comparing the parameters
used (including revenue growth rates and gross
profit margin) with the market data and information
as obtained from our independent research;
BMETEREUSRHRSESBUAARRIR
enTEA BEEEEEEBNEELINESL
XESETHEANGEN  WHAERAN2E(8
BRABERERENX)BEMBLARESD
TS ERFEAETLLR

° We challenged the appropriateness of the discount
rates and long-term revenue growth rates used by
management by reference to those discount rates
as adopted by comparable companies, market data
and information as obtained from our independent
research;
BM2RATLLARSRANFTIRE  fi5E R MK
MBS HAREFNER  HERERBOIFTIRE
MEHABAERENEE R EER

° We evaluated management’s sensitivity analysis

to ascertain the impact of reasonably possible
changes of key assumptions and performed re-
calculation independently for the downside
changes in management’s sensitivity analysis
model, focusing on the most sensitive assumptions,
including revenue growth rates, gross profit margin
and discount rate;
BMFE T EREBNBRMESNT  UETEERER
BEEEAREB T E THEREHRLS
MBI ITE B ETTENGE &5
BERBENER BB AERE  EFEAM
FIRE

° We assessed the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of impairment
assessment of goodwill and the indefinite lives
intangible assets in the context of the applicable
financial reporting framework under HKFRSs.
BABRBEEBMBHREEREERYEREER
WA EEREREASG T REN BT EER
B ERE R EE o

Based on the above, we considered that the
management’s impairment assessment of goodwill and
the indefinite lives intangible assets were supportable by
the evidence obtained and procedures performed.
EREXFrt - HMRR BEEHUREBEREASGT
W TE B Y & B Y RUE AT il 7] A4S B U SR B0 EE 1R K
TR FHIE 5 -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Peter Man Kam Tsang.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 19 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBRZEBRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &{Z2023%12 831 H IFFE

2023 2022
202345 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR®T T AREF T
Revenue WA 5 21,446,436 20,967,837
Cost of sales SHER AR (13,902,630) (13,469,507)
Gross profit EF 7,543,806 7,498,330
Distribution and selling expenses 7 #H & 5 %E  H (5,469,877) (5,539,212)
Administrative expenses THEE (530,444) (505,876)
Net impairment losses on financial & @& EREEKXFEE
assets (22,938) (3,825)
Other income and other gains-net E MU A K E AUz —
FRE 8 328,414 138,645
Operating profit £ 5 7l 1,848,961 1,588,062
Finance costs &R A 10 (4,971) (3,508)
Share of net profit of associates — {# FA#EzIA AR Z IS
accounted for using the equity B2 N\ R)FF
method 12 - 29,894
Profit before income tax P15 % A1 i Al 7 1,843,990 1,614,448
Income tax expense Frisfi s H 13 (458,428) (404,022)
Profit for the year F R F 1,385,562 1,210,426
Profit is attributable to: FEAE A A -
— Owners of the Company —RRNEHEB A 832,577 659,836
— Non-controlling interests — JEFE R A S 552,985 550,590
1,385,562 1,210,426
Earnings per share for profit BEREAAREER
attributable to the ordinary % 3R A R Y
equity holders of the Company: BREF :
Basic earnings per share FRRE AR B F
(RMB cents) (AREED) 14 29.76 23.59
Diluted earnings per share SR ER A
(RMB cents) (AREED) 14 29.76 23.59

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEEWERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023% 12 A31H [EFE

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Profit for the year FERRF 1,385,562 1,210,426

Other comprehensive income el - -
Total comprehensive income FRAZHKEEE

for the year 1,385,562 1,210,426
Total comprehensive income EBEERE2EKE

for the year attributable to: wE

— Owners of the Company S VYNEIE 2PN 832,577 659,836

— Non-controlling interests — JEVERR M T 552,985 550,590

1,385,562 1,210,426

(
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A B AR &

As at 31 December 2023 72023412 H31H

2023 2022
202345 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P AR¥T ARBFIT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENMERE 15 5,592,815 5,235,033
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 568,581 564,247
Intangible assets EmEE 17 3,543,729 3,531,905
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSEIHEE 29 277,940 315,188
Prepayments and other assets BNFREREMEE 14,991 10,502
Investments accounted for using {EREZEARZIEE
the equity method 12 252,371 839,787
Total non-current assets FREEELT 10,250,427 10,496,662
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 22 1,736,729 1,887,702
Prepayments, deposits and other FEfTZIAE - #d K
receivables At R YR IE 19 1,073,175 855,885
Trade receivables BUNE 5708 21 369,973 360,035
Amounts due from related parties B85# A 71 /R 3K 35 427,065 347,975
Cash and cash equivalents BeNMBEe€EEER 23 2,293,015 1,037,408
Pledged bank deposits HEIRERTTIT X 23 11,275 2,916
Prepaid tax TESREIE 55,634 69,163
Financial assets at fair value TR ERAEAM
through other comprehensive 2EREZ
income SREE 20 8,314 5,209
Total current assets RBEEHERE 5,975,180 4,566,293
Total assets EEAT 16,225,607 15,062,955
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47 & B 75 it 0 7
As at 31 December 2023 72023F12H31H

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B ARET T ARET T
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 39,609 21,635
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTEIEE 29 127,074 83,100
Deferred income PRIEW A 30 412,387 232,685
Total non-current liabilities FREBEBEETE 579,070 337,420
Current liahilities REBAEE
Trade and bills payables ENESERRER 25 774,354 689,980
Amounts due to related parties UL NCIE O 35 222,252 439,239
Contract liabilities EHEE 28 1,284,413 987,013
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTS R B & 109,915 74,987
Lease liabilities HEBE 27 39,768 36,074
Other payables and accruals E M e IE &
JEFTEE 26 3,528,879 3,636,030
Total current liabilities BB EARE 5,959,581 5,863,323
Total liahilities BE4AE 6,538,651 6,200,743
Net assets EEZHE 9,686,956 8,862,212
Equity =
Share capital EE&N 24 293,201 293,201
Share premium and reserves R m (B K 5,722,231 5,227,015
Equity attributable to owners ARATHEE AEL
of the Company s 6,015,432 5,520,216
Non-controlling interests IR M 3,671,524 3,341,996
Total equity sS4 9,686,956 8,862,212

M2024F3A19R AR A EE I E KK
HEITEBBAEE180EMIRA MEHmEK

The consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 180 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of

the Company on 19 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: WHNRATALTREEE
QING Lijun Shen Xinwen
BYE TEET X
Director Director
EZE EZE

9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEZSBRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F 128318 I-FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ASBEE ARG

Asset Non-
Issued Share ~ Capitl  Reseve revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  resenve fnds  reseve  profits Total  interests equity

B8 BEEf FER
Bk BiEE ExbkE GRS  BE REEM 0 &% 0 BR EREE
RMB00O  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETL ARETR
At 1 January 2022 R2022£1518 23201 3080 736877 24622 3204 4068707 5157431 3231864 8389,295
Profit and other comprehensive income for the year  FREFIREME TN - - = = - 69983% 659836 550590 1210426

Transactions with owners in their EFEANLEEASR

capacity as owners: EINRS:

Dividends provided for or paid (note 31) BEEIEMRE (Hif31) - - - - - (97051) (297081) (440458) (737,509)
At 31 December 2022 20225128317 203201 30820 736877 24622 3,204 4431492 5520216 3,341,996 8,862,212
Proft and other comprehensive income for the year  ERERIR A2 ERE - - - - - 832577 832571 552,085 1,385,562
Transactions with owners in their capecty as SREANEREBASD
oWners: EINRG:

Dividends provided for or paid (note 31) BEEAEIRE (331 - - - - - (337,361) (337,361) (223457) (560,818)
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12831A 203201 30820 736877 24,622 3,204 4,926,708 6,015432 3,671,524 9,686,956

\
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 12 A31H LLFE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
hg=a AR®T T AREEF T
Cash flows from operating activities fEEEKFBCRER
Cash generated from operations REEEFIS 2 RS 32(a) 2,767,867 1,555,019
Interest paid BRFE (4,971) (3,508)
Income taxes paid EFEHR (333,209) (410,445)
Net cash from operating activities K& EKAESE L HE 2,429,687 1,141,066
Cash flows from investing activities REFEFIBE2HESHK
Cash and cash equivalents acquired YBEMIEBARIFTSIRE
in acquisition of subsidiaries MReEEIEB 51,064 =
Payments of property, plant and BEVE -HER
equipment B (627,469) (881,894)
Payments of intangible assets BEELEE (20,240) (6,813)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEME - BEKL
plant and equipment RABFTIS IR 8,129 11,437
Interest received BUF 8 24,085 18,827
Receipt of government grants U B TR A 4 B - 7,217
Net cash used in investing activities REZEFTAREFHE (564,431) (851,226)
Cash flows from financing activities EEFEFIESHRER
Principle elements of lease payments A& 2 A% 255 (61,111) (49,595)
Dividends paid to the Company's  [AIZARA AR ZTS
shareholders (337,361) (297,051)
Dividends paid to non-controlling  [AIFB ARSI iER
interests in subsidiaries SRR B (211,177) (497,489)
Net cash used in financing MEEFEFARSE
activities HE (609,649) (844,135)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReERRESEEEE
and cash equivalents #hn GBY) BEE 1,255,607 (554,295)
Cash and cash equivalents REVIZRE KR E
at the beginning of the year £(E1EH 1,037,408 1,591,703
Cash and cash equivalents RERZRERES
at the end of the year ZEEE 23 2,293,015 1,037,408
FER 7 &3k 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &{Z2023%12 831 H It FE

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of
the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company is a subsidiary of China Foods (Holdings)
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the ultimate holding company is COFCO
Corporation, which is a state-owned enterprise registered in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in processing,
bottling and distribution of sparkling beverage products and
still beverage products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the Company’s functional
currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Compliance with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements
of HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) as issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“HKCQ”) Cap. 622.

HKFRS comprise the following authoritative literature:

o Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
o Hong Kong Accounting Standards

o Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

REEH

FREERERAR(ARADD AR K
REREIMXZNEREEAF -
AN a2 7F MM 9% = BE iz A Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda °

ARBNERBEBRESEMAKL
MR ERGERBRARNMMEAR
Al-ARBEE(EFDRS &R
ERARANPEARLME(( F
B EMNEAEXTREEERA
Al o

RAEE ARARKKBAR(H
B A%EE)SEMT EHRHH
AR ERART 2 TRBESR -

REBBERRAARE(TARE DI
H ARETRSARBINEER -

R

BT EBUBEREERREE QRS
ZRBERE
AEENGEVBHRRCREDTES
ARG B 2 BB M GRS ERI
(IBEEMBREEN]) REE2EE
ACRBERGIN BA R BRG] B35
BHERR -

BB ISR 0EU TRAE
%

. EEEBWREER

. EEEE

E8/n

s FEEHHIASCHEEEE-




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for the following:

° certain financial assets — measured at fair value

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following new and amended
standards for its annual reporting period commencing 1
January 2023:

im B ELYE (48)

FE S8 AN KO TE
HEMBRRAELEXNASERR
S BT SIERERS -

s ETERMEE-—MURFEFE

REMBR AR ER KRBT ER
REBEE B2023F1A1HMAMB 2 F
JE 5 HAR R A T IR AT MR IE R T
Al

Title Effective Date

Bl =
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
EAMBRELERNELTHR RRE 4 2023%¥1A1H

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

BEGHERE IR REAMBERE
R EBERZE25R(BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 8
BB TR E8H (IEFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 12

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

SRR IR

Definition of Accounting Estimates

SRHERT 2 EE

Deferred Tax related to Assets and

1 January 2023
2023F1H1H
1 January 2023
2023F1H1H

1 January 2023

Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction
BB GFEAFE125(1BETA)
IEAERIE

Amendments to HKAS 12
Model Rules
BEREEHERIF 125 (BFTAR)

The amendments listed above did not have material impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain amendments to accounting standards and
interpretation have been published that are not mandatory
for 31 December 2023 reporting periods and have not been
early adopted by the Group. These amendments are not
expected to have a material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

BIBR B 2 — A — SUOARAR

E-XZTELNEERAGHEBN 2023F1H1A8

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two 1 January 2023

2023F1H1H

EERTHA RN SRRIEEX
T8 BRI TS HAHSCRRBEE
EBRTE-

i SRR T IZE R R R

BT ERMETNERED %M -
B A2023%F 12 A31H k& HA R I 3F
EHIME . BARSEE M ARIEAIEA %
FEE R TS HERBAE AT R K
WMEHBEARAFERNART FESE
BEATE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & A1 76 #8 % I i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z2023F 12 A31H ILF &

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Financial risk factors

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments including
trade receivables, other receivables, amounts due from
related parties, cash and cash equivalents, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI"), trade and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, and amounts due to related
parties. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair
value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(a)  Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Exposure
The Group mainly operates in Mainland
China with most of the Group’s monetary
assets, liabilities and transactions
denominated in RMB. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

3

TR AR EE

3.1

TREREE

BRE R EE A IERBE
AEENTZSRTABER
WE 5 RIE - E A AR IAE
BABARRR RekBEFH
BEABA -HAFEFAREME
mhEzeMEE(ERF
Bt ARt 2mbas s S/RE
El) BUNERXRENRE.
Hi B KENMEAE B
ERREABARFIE BHEZ
FERMTAZFBREMER
B-EZFemTAEBZRE
B B FE T 5 B B (B 45 SME &
e RERENMAFENMER
2) EERBRERBE SR
B o B BE AN AR EE % F R R 2
BREINMT -EEEEER
EEZERR  AEFREER
BRI TEERR -

(a) TR

(i) SMNEEE
RGO
REBETBERPEH
A AE & AN
B2 BRBHEE
BE-BERERRS
AlEB AR ST

denominated monetary assets (mainly BN EEEK-
bank deposits) at the end of the reporting REEAINEEHE
period are as follows: EMEEZEREAEE
(E2RBITER)

;3T -
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARET T
HKD BIT 30,506 17,993
USD ETT 12,810 12,590
The Group manages its foreign exchange N5 BB TR SN R
risk by performing regular reviews of the RIERTHESE
Group’s net foreign exchange exposures N5 B 7 HINE [ e

and may enter into currency forward
contracts, when necessary, to manage its
foreign exchange exposure.

FEE - WA BERR AT
BB ERHE (K
WE) AEBEHESI
BEE [\ 22 ©




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) ERERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 REREZE(E)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(a) THERE (&)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued) (i)  SPEESR(E)
Sensitivity e
2023 2022
(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
increase in increase in
profit after profit after
tax tax
20234 20224
BB #ER BR 518 5
R,/ 18 O A),/1
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREET T
RMB - HKD AREE—ABT
Appreciation of AREFES%
RMB by 5% (1,144) (675)
Depreciation of AR (ES%
RMB by 5% 1,144 675
RMB — USD AR¥E—ZETT
Appreciation of AREHES%
RMB by 5% (480) (472)
Depreciation of AR (ES%
RMB by 5% 480 472
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (i)  HE2wERLFE
Ve
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest NE B RF TS
rate risk in relation to variable rate bank RITEBRIEES
balances and lease liabilities. The Group BHEBZEERE

cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest

MEmERE - AEE
BeRENEER

rates on bank balances. The Group FESHRIRITE
manages its interest rate exposures by BRFI R B) o AN
assessing the potential impact arising from B E A KR
any interest rate movements based on Al &= BT X
interest rate level and outlook. BB ELEMNEBTE

FTEEEENER

B2 o

O

(
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a)  Market risk (continued)
(ii)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(continued)
Total interest income from financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost is as
follows:

3

EREREE(E)

3.1 SEEREZEGE)
(a) W5 EE(E)

(i) HezrmERA2FE
Fl&mfz (42 )
BEHEKAFTEZ
SHEEFSWA
WREESIWT ¢

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFIT

Financial assets at R SEA AT BR R
amortised cost TREE 24,085 18,827
Interest expense on financial liabilities that BEHEKAFTEZ
are measured at amortised cost is as SRIBENBRAX

follows: wm

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT

Financial liabilities at  RE A AT R 2
amortised cost TREE 4,971 3,508

(b)  Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
attributable to trade receivables, amounts due
from related parties, financial assets at FVOCI,
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The Group performed impairment assessment
for financial assets under expected credit losses
(ECL) model. Information about the Group’s
credit risk management, maximum credit risk
exposures and the related impairment
assessment, if applicable, are summarised as
below:

Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group
uses an internal credit scoring system to assess
the potential customer’'s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed
regularly. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals.

In addition, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade receivables balances on provision matrix,
the trade receivables are grouped under a
provision matrix based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to repayment histories
for recurring customers and aging for the new
customers. Impairment of RMB21,498,000
(2022: RMB3,382,000) is recognised during the
year.

3

TR AR EE(E)

3.1

TR E X (F)

(b) 1EEERRRE
(&)
AEERBEBHERES

B(EHREERE)RA
HeREEETHER
- BEAKENEER
REE  ReEERRM
0 K A8 B RE R 14 (205E
R)RERBAnT -

FEWE 55 H

R M3 E P A
AEEFERAREERF
DHEFEBEREFP W
EEER YREFFPH
EERB -EHEFARDN
IRBIFNF D - #E BT A
BE UM MAEME
ERFLERERSR
HURA#E 178 - da B B (&
Hepltms EERB
AEEMEERRBRE X
i FRAE

REEREEERR A
SEEEECZR—X
EREEEEEERE
RIEEEH -

AN AEEE RAEE
TSRS R 5 2’
feREtEHEHRE
EBEZBEREE A%
M L B AR [ T A R
B 5 IR &SR RIEEH
EEBERENETRE
A KRR B IARE
ARWEERRSEC X
DELENEFHERN
FE st J B PR BR e o
1T 48 - F A FERIRE A
R #21,498,0007T (2022
F: AR¥3,382,0007T)°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

3

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Pledged bank deposits/cash and cash
equivalents

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits/cash and
cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks or financial
institutions, the Directors do not expect any
losses from underperforming by these
counterparties. Based on that, the Group
assessed the 12 months ECL on pledged bank
deposits/cash and cash equivalents is considered
to be insignificant.

Amounts due from related parties

For amounts due from related parties, the
Directors make periodic assessment on the
recoverability based on historical settlement
records, past experience as well as quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. All
the amounts due from related parties are
unsecured and interest-free and the Group
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. For
the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group assessed the ECL on amounts due
from related parties were insignificant.

3

TR AR EE(E)

3.1

TR AR EE (E)

(b) 1EEERRRE
(%&)
EBEFRITIEH Ho Rk
HeFEERE
BEEMRITERBHE

kRS EERBZEE
RAR  RESEFTT
REBREZEBITXE
BERE EFAUTERS
AEEHFHTRARE
B £ AR - itk
AEEFEDEMERT
ER/BReRkBREEE
BHEZI2EREHEE
EIEY AEX -

L NI

B ARRAME &
EEHRBBERZER
HoBERERURAEES
32 M 37 #F 1 O B AE M E
EREMER B E T
Y FHE - AP A RE
RARFA/EER R
2B MAKEEREE
MR ELERNFIRP 2
BT A E 2 HEY
EEBRZEREE B
Z2023%F K2022F12A4
B1HLEFE  AEEFHE
BB AR R FEHRIE
EBBRITEXN-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)
Financial assets at FVOCI

Credit risk on financial assets at FVOCI is limited
because the acceptance banks are reputable
banks, the Directors do not expect any losses
from underperforming by these banks. Based
on that, the Group assessed 12 months ECL for
financial assets at FVOCI is considered to be
insignificant.

Other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the Directors
make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of deposits and other receivables
based on historical settlement records, past
experience and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The Directors
believe that there are no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12 months ECL. For the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
assessed the ECL for deposits and other
receivables. Impairment of RMB1,440,000
(2022: RMB443,000) is recognised during the
year.

3

TR AR EE(E)

& Bl b 3= ()

3.1

(b)

1= E R R B E S
(&)

B FIEFAEMZ EHK
wmlEMEE
HRARRITH/EER
i 2 R1T - W AFERA
HtzEBScEME
ENEERRAR HE
ERHMIERZFRT
R IR AE M R AT &
1B BRI ARERFFAE
BAFEFAEMEE®R
Wz e mEENI2ME
AEMEEBRRYLAE
* o

E M TE
LS K H b fE W sk IE
mE EFRBBTLEE
i BALR ARE
BEEMZ R RIE
MHrEEREHEER  EH
ik e K H i B IR
9 A] U [B] 14 3 17 18 51 5F
H-EERE BYHE
RBAKR ZELBENEE
[ BB I A FEZ I 0 - T A
EEREI2EAFEHE
BEEEBTIRAER G-
B 22023 2022F 12 8
1A IEFE  AEE IR
& K E A E U A R
TEHEEEE - FRER
LB A R #1,440,0007C
(20224 : AR#443,000
JL)°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 871 75 38 2% H7 &%
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F 12 A31H It F[E

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

The Group’s credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

TR EREE(E)

3.1 SHEEKREEE)

(b) 1EEREEREEFS
(%)
AEBEERRIRE
FEATEER -

Category The Group definition of category Basis for recognition of expected
credit loss provision
il FEBERNES FHEEFRRBRRIEE
Performing Receivables whose credit risk is 12 month expected losses. Where
in line with original the expected lifetime of an asset
expectations is less than 12 months, expected
losses are measured at its
expected lifetime (stage 1).
BRI FERRERERH S oEK 12@ATEHEE - MEECTEHE

Underperforming

KA

Non-performing
(credit impaired)

TR
(EERE)
Write-off

%3
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FIA

Receivables for which a
significant increase in credit
risk has occurred when
compared to original
expectations; a significant
increase in credit risk is
presumed if repayments are
30 days past due (note)

HREFEHEL - EHREER
P B AR N 2 FEUGRRIA ; firidd
H30R & - AIRREERR
BEIEM (ME)

Repayments are 90 days past
due or it becomes probable
a customer will enter
bankruptcy

BFa B0 R 3 & - Al Bk E

Repayments are 120 days
past due and there is no
reasonable expectation of
recovery.

EBREEEE1208 - THEIEE
e

HDRI12(E A - RIFEEEEEA
TEER AR E (FB1REER)
Lifetime expected losses (stage 2).

EHFEHER (F2EER)

Lifetime expected losses (stage 3).

EHFEHER (E3FEE)

Asset is written off

BEDZIH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The Group’s credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories: (continued)

(b)

Note:

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of an asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on
the asset as at the reporting date with the risk
of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

- internal credit rating: macroeconomic
information (such as market interest
rates or growth rates) is incorporated as
part of the internal rating model;

- external credit rating (as far as available);

- actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to debtor’s
ability to meet its obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes
in the operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the same
debtor;

- significant changes in the value of the
collateral supporting the obligation or in
the quality of third-party guarantees or
credit enhancements;

- significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
debtor, including changes in the payment
status of third-parties in the group and
changes in the operating results of the
debtor.

3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 871 75 38 2% H7 &%
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F 12 A31H It F[E

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 2REREE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1
(b)  Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The table below detail the credit risk exposures
of the Group’s financial assets which are subject
to ECL assessment:

= B b = ()

(b) 1EEERRRE

(#)

TRALAEEBETT
EMEEBERNG S
BEEZEERR

12 months or

2023 Notes lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
12AREH
20234 M HEHEEESE HEREE
2023 2022
2023%F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Financial assets at
amortised cost
RIS AT R
SREE
Trade receivables 21 Lifetime ECL 404,506 374,082
FEWE 5738 > HEHEEEE
Other receivables 19 12 months ECL 249,627 64,747
H At fE R IE 12 AFEEE BB 1R
Amounts due from 35(c)  Lifetime ECL 427,065 347,975
related parties
) NEIUSEN T HEHEEEE
Pledged bank deposits/ 23 12 months ECL 2,304,290 1,040,324
cash and cash
equivalents
EEMIRITERHE 128 AFEEE BB 1R
MRS EEEE
Financial assets at
FvOCI
BRATEFAHMEZE
Wz tmEE
Financial assets at 20 12 months ECL 8,314 5,209
FVOCI
BRAES AR MEE 128 AFEEME BB 1R
Wz BB E

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

3 SREREE(E)

3.1 REREZE(E)

(b)

1= E R R B E S

(continued) (&)
The loss allowances for trade receivables and FEWE S E N HME
other receivables as at 31 December reconcile W EMRI2A318 2 &
to the opening loss allowances as follows: BREES Y EBEE
ZEERME ¢
Trade receivables Other receivables
(G Hit W IE
2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 2022 2023F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT AR%TR ARETR
Opening loss allowance MB1RZE
at 1 January BRRE 14,047 13,143 1,323 1,271
Increase in loss allowance FRRBRTERZ
recognised in profit or loss R AL
during the year 21,498 3,382 1,440 443
Receivables written off during FRAZEHAUE 2
the year as uncollectible &I FRIE (1,012) (2,478) (189) (391)
Closing loss allowance R12A3NBENERER
at 31 December BE 34,533 14,047 2,574 1,323
Liquidity risk (c) mEEZRER

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management of the Group monitors
the utilization of bank borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The maturity dates for
other non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates.

RERREE SRR
AEEEERNMERFER
ERRTHENAEE
LENRERBASEFE
BB KF - WHER SR
ERPHTE AEEE
EEERRITERNE
FEMR -

TRALAEE Z &/
BEZRBRENFHF
B TRIGREAKEEA
ERZRFAHFER
TRABZAARAS
mE - HMIFTES R A
{8 2 B 8 B 1% 19 7 8 3K
BHIEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

\

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

3.1

(c)

i e IR & I At
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 CHRAKRERE(E)
Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 S@EREZEGE)
Liquidity risk (continued) (c) REELEE(E)
The table includes both interest and principal TRBEBENBEARAESIR
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are ERE-HMANBERE AT
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived BAIRTRETEARE
from interest rate at the end of the reporting KR BARE FI K o
period.
Weighted Total Carrying
average Less than Over 5 undiscounted amount at
interest rate 1year 1to5 years years cash flows 31 December
AERREE  R12A31A
METF %= -EHR —FERFR BBRLE RELE ZEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARMTR ARETRT AR%TR
At 31 December 2023 202312 A31H
Trade and bills payables B ESHEFLEE - 714,354 - - 174,354 774,354
Financial liabilities SARMERFE
included in other REHAE
payables and accruals ~ £EARE - 2,547,206 - - 2,547,206 2,547,206
Amounts due to UL NG
related parties - 222,252 - - 222,252 222,252
Lease liabilities HEAR 4.30% 41,478 45,123 1 86,608 19,377
3,585,290 45,123 1 3,630,420 3,623,189
Weighted Total Carrying
average Less than undiscounted amount at
interest rate Tyear 1tobyears Over 5 years cash flows 31 December
REHRE  M12A31A
IETFH = —F0R —FERER BRRE mEEE ZEHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETR AREFT ARETn
At 31 December 2022 M2022F12A31H
Trade and bills payables BB SHEFLEE - 689,980 - - 689,980 689,980
Financial liabilities AR ERTER
included in other [icE-1vd
payables and accruals ~ £RARE = 2,844,743 = = 2,844,743 2,844,743
Amounts due to REBDATE
related parties - 439,239 - - 439,239 439,239
Lease liabilities HEAR 4.30% 37,625 23,791 43 61,464 57,709
4,011,587 23,791 48 4,035,426 4,031,671
The amounts included above for variable interest 5% 8 A X 2R 2 A 5l

rate instruments are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates
of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

R & HIR A B € ff &t
M- AFFALRIEE
TAZGHETERE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #% &

L E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, provide returns for shareholders, issue

3

TR AR EE(E)

3.2

EXEH

AEEEREAZ BBERRE
$%I%QMAZAﬁ AR
s BR 7 20 [0 R R A L A HE i
BANTRRME AR ER&IE
BARNEBARIRE AR ©

RERIHBERER K&
ERI g AR TRERAK
B2 AEREMHER  #ET

and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the
reliability of the inputs used in determining fair
value, the Group has classified its financial
instruments into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standards. An explanation
of each level follows underneath the table.

new shares or sell assets. RN EEE -
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing REBUEXRE B RERE
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided RKe BRBELLX E}Q%E,ﬁ@
by total equity. Total equity was shown in the R A RAETE DR
consolidated balance sheet. %EE’\?V?QE@IXEE%WEEJ
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTIT
Total borrowings BB/ - -
Total equity S E 9,686,956 8,862,212
Gearing ratio EXRBERR 0% 0%
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 ATEME
Financial assets and liabilities f@@’ﬁi’/X& =4
(i) Fair value hierarchy (i) FEER
This section explains the judgements and IS E0 R BT TR I 7S
estimates made in determining the fair values FHPEAFEERRE
of the financial instruments that are recognised EZEMIAEZAFEAE

BR5 AT £F 1 ) 1 BT R At
SRHEBEE QA FE
PrR@ AR 2 S
ZHEE AEEEHES
BMTASBEREER
FIREZ =R TK
RYERHA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

3

EREREE(E)

DREME ()
EHEERAE(E)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued) NFEER(E)
Recurring fair value measurements AN F B E
Level 2 Level 3 Total

At 31 December 2023 Note
12023F12A31H PirsE

ARBTR

28 3R )
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR

Financial assets at fair ~ RATESFAEMEE
value through other W eREE

comprehensive income 20 - 8,314 8,314
Recurring fair value measurements A= LB E

Level 2 Level 3 Total

F2M £330 @5t

At 31 December 2022 Note
2022612 A31H BiisE

ARETT

RMB'0O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETTE ARETE ARETRT

Financial assets at fair ~ ZATEFAEMEE
value through other hanzeBEE
comprehensive income 20

= 5,209 5,209

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the group is the current
bid price. The quoted market price already
incorporates the market's assumptions with
respect to changes in economic climate such
as rising interest rates and inflation, as well as
changes due to ESG risk. These instruments are
included in level 1.

T

\
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FIK: NERMSEES
ZEMIA(MMARER
ZOTETARBRAZES)
ZRAFETIRERSH
RKZTIBHRETE - A%
EFfsemEEMAZ
MEHREREREAE-
FTsmiGEREZET
LERKCEREZFHNM
MEERNBERRS
Z2BRE UARERE &
eREREKRS Bz
o iZET Bt AFE1IL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i)

(ir)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments
that are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data and
rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs
is not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the
case for unlisted equity securities and for
instruments where ESG risk gives rise to a
significant unobservable adjustment.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and
3 during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022. The Group has no financial
instruments in level 1 and level 3.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

The fair value of financial instruments in level
2 (net of provision for impairment) was estimated
by discounting the future contractual cash flows
at the current market interest rate that was
available to the Group for similar financial
instruments. The Group did not change any
valuation techniques in determining the level 2
and level 3 fair values.

3

TR AR EE(E)

DFEME ()
EHEERAEE)

3.3

(i)

(ir)

NFEER(E)

2/ - WIRAIREM IS
BEEzemIAMDImE
SMTET R)ZRFETS
ERAEXRMEE - AFE
ENBABRMBER
REELEKBEREE
st Mat B TARFE
IR BERG AR
MY RRBREER - Al
THRFFAZE28 -

EIR W HHZIEE
KRB ABERLIFREA
BEREMHER AIBARET
BEt AFE3Z I L™
RAFEFMRE LR
BERRBREHREKRNNTA
BRHAENTIAMS 1B
UL LALE

BL 20234 2022412 A
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Ho
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & A1 76 #8 % I i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Judgement in determining whether the intangible assets are

with finite or indefinite useful lives

The Group has franchise rights related to its bottling and
distribution rights in certain regions in Mainland China. The
Group has assigned indefinite useful lives to such franchise
rights after evaluating the terms and conditions in the bottling
agreements, history of renewals and the strategic and mutual
beneficial relationship between the Group and the

counterparty.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment assessment of goodwill and indefinite lives
intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and franchise rights are
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units to which goodwill and franchise
rights has been allocated, which is the higher of the value
in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating units and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value.

The carrying amount of goodwill and franchise rights with
indefinite useful lives at 31 December 2023 was
RMB3,506,274,000 (2022: RMB3,506,274,000). Further
details are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

REVENUE

5.1 Accounting policies of revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or
a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.

A S ot HI B A £ 5T AR E
1 9 B8 5 SRR (48

PR R 2 T ERR (F)
BEREHZm T RENEEEES
IR TEEFIE
EERBLEFRERRETHERE
BEMAEREFRERMEDR
EZHReEABNZA DS B
EREEN A FEREREKATH
BeE-TEEREER AEEH
EHAReELBEUNBHRKERS
MEREENITIRE  AGHERE -

M2023F 1231 mERFERAS®
THREZHFAEERZERERSAR
#3,506,274,0007T (20224 : A K
#£3,506,274,0007T ) B % FHEH RN
fRA M EmRMIELT -

PN

5.1 WARZNETEE
R(SBLILL) TR R K R T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & A1 76 #8 % I i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z2023F 12 A31H ILF &

5

REVENUE (continued)

5.1

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods
or services.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & B 75 #8 2 BT it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

REVENUE (continued)

5.1

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, such
as volume related discount, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled
using either (a) the expected value method or (b) the
most likely amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future
when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting
period and the changes in circumstances during the
reporting period.

Consideration payable to a customer

Consideration payable to a customer includes sales
rebate that the Group pays, or expects to pay, to the
customer which will be settled by transfers of goods
or services or cash payment to the customer.
Consideration payable to a customer also includes
credit or other items that can be applied against
amounts owed to the Group. The Group accounts for
consideration payable to a customer as a reduction
of the transaction price and, therefore, of revenue as
the consideration is not in exchange for distinct goods
or services that the customer transfers to the Group.
The Group recognises such reduction of revenue when
(or as) the later of either of the following events occurs:
(a) the Group recognises revenue for the transfer of
the related goods or services to the customer; and
(b) the Group pays or promises to pay the consideration.

5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 871 75 38 2% H7 &%
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F 12 A31H It F[E

5 REVENUE (continued) 5 WAGE)
5.1 Accounting policies of revenue recognition 51 WARZHNETBR(E)
(continued)
Financing components AEEE
The Group does not expect to have any contracts $’§Ii‘§ﬁ}ﬂ<a AN M EE
where the period between the transfer of the promised FPHEEAZEEDXREHES
goods or services to the customer and payment by NRZERBB—F 284
the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, Atk ANEE 2 p ' SR
the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices BEABIRZSHER-
for the time value of money.
5.2 Financial information of revenue 52 WAWEEER
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with EEEAIMA 5
customers
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Types of goods mmER
Sparkling drinks K 15,973,126 15,875,110
Juices £t 3,386,144 3,001,855
Water Km$E 1,246,932 1,327,993
Others Hith 840,234 762,879
Total @it 21,446,436 20,967,837
Timing of revenue recognition FEFRUR A KBS
A point in time T (R 26 21,446,436 20,967,837

(@) The Group sells sparkling and still beverage
products to its customers, revenue is recognised
when control of the goods has been transferred,
being when the goods have been delivered to
the customer’s specific location. Following
delivery, the customer has full discretion over
the manner of distribution and price to sell the
goods, has the primary responsibility on selling
the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence
and loss in relation to the goods. Payment in
advance or payment on delivery is typically
required from customers, except for certain
customers granted with credit.

All of the Group’s contracts for sale of goods
are for periods of one year or less, as permitted
under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers”, the transaction price allocated to
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s revenue and consolidated results are mainly
derived from processing, bottling and distribution of sparkling
and still beverages, which is regarded as a single operating
segment in a manner consistent with the nature of the
products and production process, the types of customers
for their products, the methods used to distribute their
products, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Accordingly, no segment information is presented, and the
Group is regarded as a single reporting segment.

Geographical information

All revenue of the continuing operation of the Group is
derived from customers operating in Mainland China and
the Group’s non-current assets, other than deferred income
tax assets, are primarily situated in Mainland China, hence
no geographical information is presented in accordance with
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

Information about major customers

During the current year, there was no revenue derived from
a single customer which accounted for 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue (2022: Nil).

PROFIT AND LOSS INFORMATION

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

2E2H

AEBOBRARGEREETZRE M
T KRy #HETKETE R
EZDRWER/RE—RLEDE 2
ANBERUEERERNT REER
EPMEPEL AROHEMN
AREEREEE — 3 - it - &
2D HER - BEAEERREE—

SHHH -

b 30, 3
REBFELEER 2 2BRARR
PRERMELEHNES A RAREBR
BEFMBHEBEEEIINIERBEEE
B AP ERAM - I EREESH
EREERIFERR L DI 251t
&K o

TEEFER
AREE WERKEE—FP 2 A
fi 7% 5 18 42 A #910%3K A (2022
6 m)e

HamER

F RN TR (GEA) AT RIR
RIER

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEF T
Cost of inventories sold BEELFERA 13,928,387 13,460,548
(Reversal of)/provision for FERE (BE) B
impairment of inventories (25,757) 8,959
Wages, salaries and bonuses T& e RiEsL 2,975,345 2,954,909
Depreciation of property, plant — ¥1% - BE N RIEITE
and equipment (note 15) (B5E15) 756,615 638,175
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEERE (f:F16)
assets (note 16) 78,873 67,638
Amortisation of intangible assets & E# Y (HI5E17)
(note 17) 14,276 7,807
Gains from disposal of HERE ASEZARZ
investments previously BB W (FisE12)
accounted for using the
equity method (note 12) 91,606 -
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B BN 4,250 3,900
Net impairment losses on SRIEEREERKFHE
financial assets 22,938 3,825
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 871 75 38 2% H7 &%
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F 12 A31H It F[E

8 OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS-NET 8

An analysis of other income and other gains/(losses) is as

Hn WA K E b iz — 558
o A R A S5 1) 5347 4

z

/

follows: T~
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Other income Ha g A
Government grants (note i) BT (B %D 175,737 89,393
Net income of sale of HERIEmNMEERIER
by-products and scrap items WA %8 16,863 14,577
Interest income FBHA 24,085 18,827
Others Hth 47,673 39,612
264,358 162,409
Other gains — net HAab s — /558
Losses on disposal of property, HEME  BEMREEE
plant and equipment (6,927) (5,290)
Gains from disposal of HERE AR EARZ
investments previously wEWE (FisE12)
accounted for using the
equity method (note 12) 91,606 -
Impairment of property, plant Y2 B R RE
and equipment (note 15) (M5E15) - (579)
Donations 1B (6,000) (16,050)
Foreign exchange differences, HNEZEER - HRR
net (7,639) (488)
Others Eh (6,984) (1,357)
64,056 (23,764)
328,414 138,645

Note i: Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are recognised in the
profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with
the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant
and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

9 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included one director (2022: one), details of whose
emoluments are set out in note 37. Details of the emoluments
for the year of the remaining four (2022: four) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of
the Company are as follows:

9 IhEREHFMZES

TR AKELARSFHEERRE -
FREE(2022%F : — &) EMEFE
BN M E37 © H 8R4 (20224 : 10
B)BREHFMNZIEARRREENEE
HITEEREZFEMSHINOT

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Wages and salaries TITERFS® 3,650 4,061

Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 7,384 10,342

Allowances and benefits in kind 285 & E¥FIzE 139 290
Employer’s contribution to a B E bR RBFIET B 2 5K

retirement benefit scheme 1,072 1,030

12,245 15,723

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid employees
who are not a director or chief executive fell within the
following bands:

BIRRFMERCGFEFTHERH
TE)ZMENF IHIEE

Number of employees

EE#E
2023 2022
20235 20224
HKD 2,500,001 to 2,500,001 &
HKD 4,000,000 4,000,000 7T 3 2
HKD 4,000,001 to 4,000,001 cE
HKD 5,500,000 5,500,000 7T
4
10 FINANCE COSTS 10 BEKA
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEABZFE 4,971 3,508

T

(
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

11 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 11
COMPANY

] RN N A

(a) General information of subsidiaries (a)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held
by the Company at the end of the reporting period

MELE—RER
RBEHRA QB ER KEE
FAEZHMBRARMNFEEHIIM

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

are set out below: ™ :
Place of Proportion
registration and  Paid up issued/ ownership interest held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
WEARER AMREEHY CRTHER /EMES AAAMBHEEESL EEER
2023 2022
2023 20225
% %
COFCO Beverages Limited Samoa Usb 1 100 100 Investment holding
FIESRERA R EED IE REER
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ Hong Kong HKD 2,524,855,402 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
IR O LRHERA R B 2,524,855,40275 7L RAER
COFCO Beverages (Hunan) Samoa usb 1 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
HIESE Ofif) BRAR  EE: IE REER
COFCO Beverages (Beijing) Samoa USD 6,825,001 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
RRESE (bR) BRAR  EED 6,825,001 7T REER
COFCO Beverages (CCBMH) ~ Samoa usb 1 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
EED IE REER
COFCO Beverages Hunan Hong Kong HKD 62,400,001 65 65 Investment holding
(HK) Limited
HiggkbE (B) B 62,400,001 87T REER
BRAT
COFCO Beverages Beijing Hong Kong HKD 53,235,001 65 65  Investment holding
(HK) Limited
FESRER (B) B 53,235,001/ 7T RAER
BRRA
COFCO Beverages (Qingdao) ~ Samoa Ush 1 65 65  Investment holding
Limited
HESE (FB) BRAR  EEDR IE REER
COFCO Beverages Tianjin Samoa HKD 13,623,897 65 65  Investment holding
(Samoa) Limited
HEFHRE (BEED) EED 13,623,897/47C REER
BERAE
COFCO Beverages Qingdao Hong Kong HKD 82,454,768.01 65 65  Investment holding
(HK) Limited
HRAEES (BE) B 82,454,768.017 1L REER

BRARF




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

11 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held
by the Company at the end of the reporting period

11 BBEARQAFANBLRZFHE

(%)

(a MEBRA-—REL(E)
RBEHRA DB EZ K HEE
FAZHMB AR ERIM

are set out below: (continued) ™ (&)
Place of Proportion
registration and  Paid up issued/ ownership interest held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
WEAREE MRS CRTHBR/EMER  AQAAMBHEEEAL  EEER
2023 2022
2023F 20224
% %
COFCO Beverages (Xinjiang) ~ Samoa Ush 1 65 65  Investment holding
Limited
RRESE (318) BRAR  EED IE REER
COFCO Beverages (Xinjiang) ~ Hong Kong HKD 1 65 65  Investment holding
Limited
hiEsE (GhE) BRAR  BE BT REER
China Foods (Investment) Hong Kong HKD 1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited
hERm (KE) BRRE B BT REER
COFCO Beverages Tianjin Hong Kong HKD 60,450,001 65 65  Investment holding
(HK) Limited
HEEEKXE (BE) BB BB 60,450,001/ T REER
NS
COFCO Beverages Qingdao Samoa HKD 12,000,000 65 65  Investment holding
(Samoa) Limited
EEETD 12,000,000 70 BRAER
COFCO Beverages Beijing Samoa HKD 100,000 65 65  Investment holding
(Samoa) Limited
EEETD 100,000/ 7T BAER
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC USD 110,000,000 65 65  Investment holding
(China) Investment Ltd*
HIER DA EESK (RE) HE 110,000,000 7T REER
BREBRDA*
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC USD 10,000,000 48.75* 48.75*  Beverage bottling
(Shanxi) Limited** production, sale and
distribution
FIER DA AR (ILF) HE 10,000,000% 7T SRHFMEE - HERDH
BRRAE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages  The PRC USD 20,000,000 65 65  Beverage bottling
(Shaanxi) Limited* production, sale and
distribution
FIgR ORI EE0K (PEF) B 20,000,000 7T BRERAE  HERDH
BRAR
COFCO Coca-Cola Liaoning The PRC RMB72,000,000 39¢ 39*  Beverage bottling
(South) Beverages production, sale and
Limited** distribution
RRETAAEEE () HE AR #72,000,0007T BREREE - HERHH
FRBRAA

(
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

11 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held
by the Company at the end of the reporting period

11 BBEARQAFANBLRZFE

(%)

(a KMBRA—RER(HE)
RBEHRA QB ER KEE
FAEZHMBRARMNFEEHIIM

are set out below: (continued) T (&)
Place of Proportion
registration and  Paid up issued/ ownership interest held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
WEARER AMREEHY CRTHER /EMES AAAMBHEEESL EEER
2023 2022
2023 20206
% %

COFCO Coca-Cola Liaoning The PRC USD 23,500,000 60.94 60.94  Beverage bottling production,
(North) Beverages sale and distribution
Limited**

HiER OAAEE () HE 23,500,000% 7T BREREE  HERHH
FRBR AR

COFCO Coca-Cola Liaoning The PRC USD 13,000,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production
(Central) Beverages
Limited*

FIEAIOAAEE () i 13,000,0005 7T FRFR
BRBRRA

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC USD 44,000,000 65 65  Beverage bottling
(Heilongjiang) Limited* production, sale and

distribution

Fig R O R £k HE 44,000,000 7T FRFNAEE  HERDH

(REEI) ARRAN"

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC USD 18,000,000 65 65  Beverage bottling
(Jilin) Limited* production, sale and

distribution

HIER DA EESRR () RE 18,000,000%7T BREREE  HERDH
BRRA*

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC USD 17,000,000 58.04 58.04  Beverage bottling
(Sichuan) Limited** production, sale and

distribution

FigR ORI kR (1)11) HE 17,000,000% ¢ FRFREE  HERDH
BRRA

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC USD 72,000,000 65 65  Beverage bottling
(Chongging) Limited* production, sale and

distribution

HIER DA ERH (ER) HE 72,000,000 7T FRFMAEE HERDH
BRAA

COFCO Coca-Cola Supply The PRC RMB10,000,000 63.8 63.8 Wholesale and retail of
Chain (Tianjin) Limited** pre-packaged foods, raw

and auxiliary materials,
supply chain information
consultation, management
services and others

HER] O AT 4Lt e R HE AR#10,000,0007T HERTERBRRM

(R%) ARAF

\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

11 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held
by the Company at the end of the reporting period

11 BBEARQAFANBLRZFHE

(%)

(a MEBRA-—REL(E)
RBEHRA DB EZ K HEE
FAZHMB AR ERIM

are set out below: (continued) ™ (&)
Place of Proportion
registration and  Paid up issued/ ownership interest held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
WEAREE MRS CRTHBR/EMER  AQAAMBHEEEAL  EEER
2023 2022
2023F 20224
% %

Zhongke Enterprise The PRC RMB3,000,000 65 65  Enterprise management
Management (Tianjin) service and consulting,
Limited* business information

consulting, marketing
planning, and computer
information system
development, consulting,
promotion and service

RAEREERE (K2) HE AR3,000,0007 LEEBRBGRZA £
ARAF EEHA - 2%

STERES RS
#f - ARRRS

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC USD 15,500,000 42.25* 4225 Beverage bottling
(Tianjin) Limited** production, sale and

distribution

HIER DA ESK (RE) HE 15,500,000 7T RREMEE  HERHH
BRAA

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC RMB83,000,000 42.25¢ 42.25%  Beverage bottling
(Hebei) Limited** production, sale and

distribution

FIER DA EESR (dt) HE AR #83,000,0007 SRHFMEE - HERDH
BRRAE

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC RMB48,000,000 52 52 Beverage bottling
(Inner Mongolia) production, sale and
Limited** distribution

A OAEGRH (MF HE AR#48,000,0007T FREMAEE HERDH
) BRAR

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC USD 12,500,000 48.75* 4875 Beverage bottling
(Shandong) Limited** production, sale and

distribution

IR DA SR (LR) HE 12,500,000 7T RREMEE  HERHH
BRAA

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC USD 5,000,000 48.75* 48.75*  Beverage bottling
(Jinan) Limited** production, sale and

distribution

FIER DA SR (ERE) HE 5,000,000 7T SRHFMEE - HERDH
BRRAE

COFCO Coca-Cola Huazhong  The PRC RMB144,400,000 65 65  Beverage bottling production,
Beverages Limited* sale and distribution

HIEA] DA RER AR HE AR #144,400,0007 BREREE  HERHH

BRRA

(
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

11 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held
by the Company at the end of the reporting period

11 BEEXAFMEBLRZHE
(%)

(a KMBRA—RER(HE)
RBEHRA QB ER KEE
FAEZHMBRARMNFEEHIIM

are set out below: (continued) T (&)
Place of Proportion
registration and  Paid up issued/ ownership interest held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
WEARER AMREEHY CRTHER /EMES AAAMBHEEESL EEER
2023 2022
2023 20206
% %
Gansu COFCO Coca-Cola The PRC USD 5,000,000 65 65  Beverage bottling production,
Beverages Limited* sale and distribution
HEFRIOAEHEKER  $E 5,000,000% T FRFREE  HERDH
G
Tibet COFCO Coca-Cola The PRC RMB2,000,000 65 65  Beverage sale and distribution
Commerce & Trade
Limited*
ERPETOAILEERR  FH ARH2,000,0007T FRHRE RS
N
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC RMB60,000,000 52 52 Beverage bottling production,
(Xinjiang) Limited** sale and distribution
IR ORI LR (37i8) HE AR #60,000,0007C FRFREE  HERDH
BRRA
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages  The PRC USD 19,500,000 48.75* 48.75*  Beverage bottling production,
(Beijing) Limited** sale and distribution
HIER DA ESH (ER) HE 19,500,000%7T BREREE  HERDH
BRAA
COFCO Coca-Cola Huabei The PRC RMB78,000,000 58.5 585  Beverage bottling production
Beverages Limited**
FIER QA L AR F AR®78,000,0007T BB AE
/L\\Ej**
Beijing Sheng Xiang Foods The PRC RMB58,211,932 48.75* 48.75*  Wholesale of packaged foods
Limited**
T REARMABR AR HE AER#58,211,9327T HEBEEEm
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC RMB81,120,000 65 65  Beverage bottling production,
(Guizhou) Limited* sale and distribution
HiER DA EEsKE (BM) HE AR#81,120,0007T FRFREE  HERDH
BRRA*
COFCO Yuehuo (Tianjin) The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 Food business, food business
Food Company Ltd.* (pre-packaged food sale)
and food internet sales
REHE (R2) ReER  $E AR#10,000,0007T Bmis  rRmige (HE

A

\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

11 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held
by the Company at the end of the reporting period

11 BBEARQAFANBLRZFHE

(%)

(a MEBRA-—REL(E)
RBEHRA DB EZ K HEE
FAZHMB AR ERIM

are set out below: (continued) ™ (&)
Place of Proportion
registration and  Paid up issued/ ownership interest held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
HEARERE MRS CRTHBR/EMER  AQAAMBHEEEAL  EEER
2023 2022
2023F 20224
% %
COFCO Zhishang Technology ~ The PRC RMB50,000,000 100 100 Vending machine business,
Ltd.* food business (pre-
packaged food)
RSB ERAR* HE AR #50,000,0007 BEREERLE  RRiLE
(HEERERM)
COFCO Yuexiang Club The PRC RMB30,000,000 100 100 Food business (bulk food
(Hainan) Digital sale), health food (pre-
Technology Ltd.* packaged food) sale and
food internet sales
HiEtize (8f) #¥sl  $E AR #30,000,0007T RmiEE (HERmEE)
HAERAR RERMHE (RRER
m) REREMBHEE
COFCO Zhixiang Enterprise The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 - Enterprise management
Management Services service and consulting,
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd.* business information
consulting, marketing
planning, and computer
information system
development, consulting,
promotion and service
PREZCRERRE HE AK#10,000,0007T LEEBRBERAA £
(R=2) BB EEHA - 2%
STERES RS
#f - ARRRS
Coca-Cola Bottlers The PRC RMB67,800,000 65 13.65  Beverage production and
Manufacturing (Chengdu) oriental-equipment-
Company Limited* manufacture
RO AR A E HE AR #67,800,0007C BREERRT
(5#) BRRA
Coca-Cola Bottlers The PRC RMB66,345,000 65 13.65  Beverage production and
Manufacturing oriental-equipment-
(Changsha) Company manufacture
Limited*
AOA SRR E HE AR #66,345,0007C BREERRT

(RY) BRAF

FEERAERLE Fik 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

11 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

(a)

T

\

124

General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held
by the Company at the end of the reporting period

11 BBEARQAFANBLRZFE

(4&)

(a KMBRA—RER(HE)
RBEHRA QB ER KEE
FAEZHMBRARMNFEEHIIM

are set out below: (continued) T (&)
Place of Proportion
registration and  Paid up issued/ ownership interest held by
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
WEARER AMREEHY CRTHER /EMES AAAMBHEEESL EEER
2023 2022
2023 20206
% %

Coca-Cola Bottlers The PRC RMB69,976,992 65 13.65  Beverage production and
Manufacturing (Jinan) oriental-equipment-
Company Limited* manufacture

AOf LR EE B AR#69,976,9927T FRAEERRT

(B@) BRRA

Coca-Cola Bottlers The PRC RMB183,700,196 65 13.65  Beverage production and
Manufacturing oriental-equipment-
(Shijiazhuang) Company manufacture
Limited*

A OREEREEE B AR¥183,700,1967T FRAEERRT

(Axi) BRAF

Coca-Cola Bottlers The PRC RMB150,682,893 65 13.65  Beverage production and
Manufacturing (Yingkou) oriental-equipment-
Company Limited* manufacture

QIERE = 3iT=E -3 HE AR#150,682,893 7T FRAEERRT

(#A) BRAR"

These subsidiaries are accounted for as subsidiaries

by virtue of the Company’s indirect control over them
through a 65% owned subsidiary, which controls these

subsidiaries.

* Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise

* %

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures

i ZEM B DR RN AR E

Fri65% . M B~ A H %
SREREERRARFZ

MEATE -

* SNERERE

o PINREBEREDRE




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

11 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of the non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

11 BBEARQAFANBLRZFHE

(%)

(b)

FREREAFERERZF
2EMBLRZFE

TREJAEBHEAEAER
w2 IR ENBARS:

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and
and principal voting rights held hy
place of non-controlling Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FRRRER N
MR LR FERRREE AETHER
HEARERE TEEBUH 2B [ E v R ERER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023%F 2022 2023F 20226 2023F 20226
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT AR¥TRT ARBTR
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages  Hong Kong 35% 35% 431,209 354,634 2,961,180 2,655,972
Limited (“COFCO
Coca-Cola")
IR AR R AR EE
([grAa])

O

(
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

11 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 11

COMPANY (continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests (continued)
Summarised financial information in respect of COFCO

o] RN PN A
(%)

FREREAFERER ZF
2ENBAR B (A)
BRAT IR O R B 75 & #

Coca-Cola is set out below: BEHYOT -
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBFIT
COFCO Coca-Cola and RETORLR
subsidiaries MEAE
Non-current assets IERBEE 10,029,838 10,291,858
Current assets mBNEE 6,096,572 4,637,790
Non-current liabilities FEME AR 575,331 337,233
Current liabilities mEaE 6,094,585 6,032,265
Equity attributable to owners  ZRAFIHEA A FE(L
of the company S 8,460,515 7,588,490
Non-controlling interests eI R 995,979 971,660
Revenue WA 20,785,500 20,748,318
Cost and expenses A S (19,431,698) (19,533,419)

Profit and other comprehensive ZANA R B ER
income for the year A R E At 2R

attributable to the company 1,232,025 1,013,241
Profit and other comprehensive FEIZEI&HE 25 FE(RE R

income for the year A R EA 2R

attributable to the

non-controlling interests 121,777 201,658
Net cash inflow from operating &R& EENELE 2

activities HEMAFEE 2,066,439 1,083,266
Net cash outflow from WERBEEZ

investing activities We ML T (500,316) (647,260)
Net cash outflow from BEEBELE

financing activities REmFE (255,403) (1,056,694)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BERA CRH) F5 1,310,720 (620,688)

S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #5 & B1 7% # 2 i1 7

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

12

ERAEREARZKRE

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
Investments accounted for using EREZIEARZIZE
the equity method 252,371 839,787

The amounts due from/to associates included in current
assets and current liabilities of RMB137,096,000 (2022:
RMB42,617,000) and Nil (2022: RMB284,711,000),
respectively are unsecured and interest-free.

Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

FAARBEERRE B BEH R, TE
T B & A B 1B A R 137,096,000
T.(20224 + A R #42,617,0007T )
K F(2022%F © A K 284,711,000
7T DRIREERERE

REERAAEBEBERT 2 HIE
N

Country of
incorporation/

Proportion of ownership
interest/voting rights held by

Name of entity registration the Group Principal activities
FEBRENFER
BEREE B3 EMEIR REEZBD FREK
2022
20234 20224
Coca-Cola Bottlers Hong Kong 21.0% 21.0% Investment holdings
Manufacturing Holdings
Limited (“CCBMH") (i)
AIOATEES M A EER B8 REEK
BRAR] ([FTARTEEER
PR EERR] ) ()
CBPC Limited Hong Kong 33.3% 33.3% Price negotiation service
CBPC Limited o TARER RS

The Group is able to exercise significant influence over the
associates as the boards of these companies comprise
representatives of the Group, who participate in the decision
making process. Accordingly, they are accounted for as
associates of the Group. All of the above associates are
indirectly held through a 65% owned subsidiary of the
Company.

HRZERARZEFETEARH
ZRRSEREGERE  AEELE
MBS ERRITEERNTE
B HEREEAREZBE QT -
i LB ERRIYRARARE
65% RPN B A R FFA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 871 75 38 2% H7 &%
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

12 ERESREARZKRE(E)

AEBEIEBRERRZHBEREE
NAERHEEHK

Summarised financial information and reconciliation to their
carrying amounts in respect of the Group’s principal
associate:

Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing
Holdings Limited
AORSEREEEERERAR

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFIT
Current assets MBNEE 1,860,437 3,428,261
Non-current assets IERBEE = 2,069,997
Current liabilities mENaE (684,338) (1,550,106)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE - (133,676)
Net assets EEFRE 1,176,099 3,814,476
Net assets attributable to owners ZNAEHHEA A
of the company EhFEE 1,176,099 3,814,476
Share of net assets from JEMREE N RFEE
associates 252,371 839,787
Carrying amount of investments {FR#EZEAR 2
accounted for using the equity R ERMEE
method 252,371 839,787
Summarised statement of comprehensive income: FHNERBE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFIT
Turnover B 364,608 7,237,587
Profit for the year F @A 4,591 130,595
Total comprehensive income HEN 4R 4,591 130,595
Share of net profit of associates {# FI A AR 2 B
accounted for using the equity — B#& QA RIEF
method - 29,894
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Aggregate information of associates as below:

12

EAEREARZIRE (H)

BENRNERESMT

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBFIT

Opening carrying amount BRYIEREE 839,787 812,362

The Group’s share of profit AEBEMRT - 29,894
Elimination of transactions of HEBENRRS

associates, net of tax BRTHIE - (2,469)
Disposal of equity interest in B N R AR AE

associates® (587,416) -

Aggregate carrying amount at RI12A318 2 REAE
31 December 252,371 839,787

(1)

As at 31 December 2022, there were eleven wholly-owned
beverage production and oriental-equipment-manufacture
subsidiaries (“Eleven Entities”) and one Beverage operation,
sale and distribution subsidiary of CCBMH.

On 1 January 2023, the Group disposed the equity interests
in the Eleven Entities at their fair values, at the same time
the Group acquired 100% equity interests of five subsidiaries
from CCBMH (note 18) at fair value amounted to
RMB554,179,000. As a result of the above restructuring,
the Group was entitled with cash payment amounting to
RMB124,843,000 from CCBMH and recorded a disposal
gain of RMB91,606,000 (note 8).

(@)

B E2022912H31 8 - AHAJ 445
MEAEEEREIIREERBEE
ERMTFRAR(IIRER])MI
KRB HERDHF AR

M2023F1 818 REEARAAE
BEEEZREENRE  RSARE
B AR A BEARES54,179,0007T
M) A] O AT S HE R A E AR T
AR FATHI100% AR (F3E18)°

MR bt &R - AN @A #E WA A
AR SAmEERRATZ RS
AR#124,843,0007  WHEREE
25 AR #91,606,0007T (Fi5E8) -

(
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & A1 76 #8 % I i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z2023F 12 A31H ILF &

13

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

13.1 Accounting policies of income tax expense

The income tax expense or credit for the period is
the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred income
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the company and its subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group
measures its tax balances either based on the most
likely amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred income tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

13

B < ik

13.1 ISR HNETEE

HMAMBHRHHER /AN
ERM AR IE R BEER
BRZIEHEFTE 2 BN
TR 3R E BRI
BHEERABEHR AP
PIRE R -

BIEBRT (75

BIEAPR S S H O RIBE AN A A
el UNCIDSE PN S
RELRRBTKRAZBERRNEH
SHREBEMAKEERMD M
FEtE-EEERERABBA
UEI R A i
ERBER AN - AL E BB
WEEE AR THEE M
BRI - AEERIE & A B8

THEAFAHEEFEELRAS
B R TR EE RERT
FETE MERR (L B 4P RO TR -

138
BEMGHERAABEINEE
RBBEZHRERENEEMB
BREEAERZEREZRNE
2B - AT - MBS
MEEREEE 2T HER
A T 7R o e 4 AT P 15 7 2R
BERS(EBHAGHRINFEH
BESRBNVLER ME
RpEAZEST RS NER
BiEm AUEELFHEER
BEAMBEREE IS
AR -BERMSREARES
HARAMEEMAEL R I
BHRREREEELHERE
ESEEELHBEHAGBRE
Rz BER(RAER)ERE °




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

13.1 Accounting policies of income tax expense

(continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it
is probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current income tax assets and liabilities and where
the deferred income tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current income tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

13 FREBiH (&)

13.1 AR HB S HR(E)

AL (&)
EXFRHEEEERNARE
A BE th 3R 8RR B0 A LA ) A =%
FEREZRLEERER

i 5 2% ) BE S0 422 Il 8 (o] ' s 2
BMZER BEREZBEAEDS
ENAI R RER AT EH
BINEBRE 2 REERERE
B2 B ZRERELMEN
BEREE-

i 505 € AT #0174 A1) 1 55 B 2R
FIEMEEREE  MELRR
GHEHER —HEHESR
B AR EEREEREREE
LBE -ZBEEBERIEA RS
MITREA R R B A%
mE ARARBREERER
BER AR ESRHEE LD
IHEER BRI -

B 53 % 4B JE 1 18 B4 14 4R 26
RN e ER R
B R 2 A A A B A
Boh - EULMRT BB R
SRS eSS 3N
R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 871 75 38 2% H7 &%
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F 12 A31H It F[E

13

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 13 FrEBix i (8])
13.2 Financial information of income tax expense 13.2 BEFMBHR X HNTHEE R
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Current income tax on profits 4 A Kl 2 ENERFRS 4
for the year 377,206 413,066
Deferred income tax credit RIEFTISRIE 81,222 (9,044)
Income tax expense PSSz i 458,428 404,022

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made
as the Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived
from, Hong Kong.

The provision for PRC current income tax is based
on a statutory income tax rate of 25% of the assessable
income of the Group as determined in accordance
with the relevant income tax rules and regulations of
the PRC, except for certain entities of the Group in

HRAEENBALIEREE

ELXRIG WA E\EREFEHR
TR -

R B ER P S TR R TO IR B AR
EEZBPBEBEAMEIHER
&%%IJ?EIEE’JJE:%XFLE@%EFE
B ER5%AE  EAEE
Eﬁ%%qﬂlg’a‘%ﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬁ SH

the PRC are taxed at preferential income tax rate of FRO% K 15% B F5
9% and 15%.
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the FABIBLZ LT EESIBRER
profit before income tax per consolidated statement P FEEA /ﬁﬁﬂ?% M —B
of profit or loss as follows: WRFTR -
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Profit before income tax PS5 #5% Bl
(“PBT") 1,843,990 1,614,448
Tax at the statutory tax rates 1EEMRE 7 F518 460,998 403,612
Preferential tax rates on the & THBRARLRFZ
profits of certain subsidiaries B =R (11,935) (1,725)
Income not subject to tax BARBUA - (7,474)
Tax effect of utilisation of A R R RN
previously unrecognised %EZ%RW%%
temporary differences (1,424) (1,674)
Tax effect of expenses not TTTD%F@%?@Z
deductible for tax purpose g2 12,020 9,555
Utilisation of tax losses AL ARERZ
previously not recognised THIERE1E (5,131) (2,054)
Tax losses not recognised REERTIAEE 3,900 3,782
Income tax expense for the — ANEFEFFHZH
year 458,428 404,022




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE

14.1 Accounting policies of earnings per share

(i)

(ir)

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by
dividing:

o the profit attributable to owners of the
company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

o by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements
in ordinary shares issued during the year
and excluding treasury shares (if any).

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account:

o the after income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

o the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

14 SREFN

14.1 EREBFNNSTBER

(1)

(ir)

FRELEF
SREAREF -

s  ARBHEBAEMA
@ A B
RS ER(EBR
BRIN) A

s KBUFADHTE
Bz
UM FACDE

78 AR 2 AL FI T
ZEWEE BT
45 5 17 B 3 (0
B)HE

SRAERT

SEEBRFABANE
EERERRFZBF -
R :

e HEGEEEELZAK
BREZMEBREM
BB A 2 BRI R
TE N

o FRINEBEINE
FHE BRRET
EIN PR R7E
BETENEAR
R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

14.2 Financial information of earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

Earnings figures are calculated as follows:

14 ZKREBFN(E)
142 SREFNHBEH

ARFHBAEBIEERENR
MZEFBETIERIATEIE -

BNBEBERATSEAE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Profit for the year attributable ANATIHEHB A FERARNEE
to owners of the Company wmF (AREFIT)
(RMB’000) 832,577 659,836

Number of shares IR 2B
Number of ordinary shares for FLETEEREARNEF]Z

the purpose of basic TEREAE

earnings per share 2,797,223,396 2,797,223,396
Basic earnings per share SRREAREF

(RMB cents) (ARES) 29.76 23.59

There is no dilutive instrument held or issued by the
Group, diluted earnings per share is therefore the same
as basic earnings per share for the respective years.

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

\

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

15.1 Accounting policies of property, plant and

equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised
when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the reporting period
in which they are incurred.

AEEYEFALBITHNEE
TR #E%EKAMNEMEH
FROEAZIRENER

15 Y% BEKRE
15.1 W% BB KRB BE

BYE BEMREBRESL
FXAS IR 3T B D B o R SE AR B
EEEXRBRWBERERZ
FAST ©

HEKRARBHEEIER A
Z AR &1 A BE IR AR
SE MEBEKAEERFFE
- T RF A B ERE(E R
RBILEEIER ) ETIA
BUYBEARZE D < REE
R R EHER - FEHE
fEERREENREEZRE
HAR R s P HIRR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

15.1 Accounting policies of property, plant and

equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 5 to 30 years

Plant, machinery
and equipment

5 to 15 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss. When revalued assets are
sold, it is group policy to transfer any amounts included
in other reserves in respect of those assets to retained
profits.

Assets under construction represents buildings and
plant, machinery and equipment under construction
or installation and pending installation and is started
at cost. Cost includes direct costs of construction. No
provision for depreciation is made on assets under
construction until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and ready for intended use. When the
assets concerned are brought into use, the costs are
transferred to the corresponding categories of property,
plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance
with the policy as stated above.

15 3% - BB K&k (&)

151 ¥ - BMERRENSEER

(%)
FEDABRERE G A A
FROBEMRAN (FERERIRE
BE)FTE  FROT

BF REE
=+FK

BB ek REFE
B +HER

BEZHRRKEBELRAIBERR
EREHRETES ARNE
ERELHER-

WEBEENREEEBRBEML
AR EEEE RIZEEEN
BREEE AR R EE A
Ol 578

HE KSR EEBEBLEM
GREERRMEETE -%FHA
Bt ABZ -BEHEEREE
B R EBR AT ARG B
NEBRSEEZENCEE
BERB G -

EREERERZRLTEKD REF
RRZEBT REE  HEER&
1 HIRRARSR - RARIEE
BREXRK EREENER
B E TR & A R B TE A & AT T
ENERB-EEHEERA
ERE KAKEREHESR
RIEE B Nk - LRE
EIRBRITE -
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

15.2 Financial information of property, plant and

15 ¥% BERRKRHEE)

15.2 % BERRENUBEHR

equipment
Plant,  Assets under
machinery and  construction or
Buildings equipment installation Total
B Rk fARIRER
EF B NEE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTL AREF T AREFTT
At 1 January 2022 R2022%1A18
Cost A 2,415,241 5,173,499 66,516 7,655,256
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZEfHTE (641,777) (1,910,141) - (2,551,918)
Accumulated impairment  Z3FRIE (14,638) (27,590) - (42,228)
Net book amount RESE 1,758,826 3,235,768 66,516 5,061,110
Year ended HZ2022%12A318
31 December 2022 HEE
Opening net book amount ~ EA¥IBRTEF 58 1,758,826 3,235,768 66,516 5,061,110
Additions NE 38,628 583,169 210,467 832,264
Disposals HE (530) (16,197) - (16,727)
Transfers (i) (note 17) () (B EE17) 171,886 72,280 (247,026) (2,860)
Depreciation charge nELH (101,272) (536,903) = (638,175)
Impairment charge AEX - (579) - (579)
Closing net book amount HRREFH 1,867,538 3,337,538 29,957 5,235,033
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12H318
Cost AR 2,623,910 5,570,881 29,957 8,224,748
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZiHTE (741,734) (2,206,142) = (2,947 876)
Accumulated impairment  E:HR(E (14,638) (27,201) - (41,839)
Net book amount REFE 1,867,538 3,337,538 29,957 5,235,033

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 15 ¥ % BERRE (&)

15.2 Financial information of property, plant and 152 ¥ BMERRENTLER
equipment (continued) (%)

Plant,  Assets under
machinery and  construction or

Buildings equipment installation Total
BE HER HERIREH

B R WEE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBFR ARBFR ARBFR

Year ended 31 December 2023 #Z20235128318

ILEE

Opening net book amount ~ EA¥IBREF48 1,867,538 3,337,538 29,957 5,235,033
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEEMB AR

(note 18) (PiizE18) - 541,535 - 541,535
Additions NE 67,550 460,542 61,696 589,788
Disposals HE (1,034) (14,022) - (15,056)
Transfers (ii) (note 17) R (F17) 5,377 54,255 (61,502) (1,870)
Depreciation charge WEXH (124,040) (632,575) - (756,615)
Closing net book amount HREEFE 1,815,391 3,741,273 30,151 5,592,815
At 31 December 2023 A2023%12A318
Cost A 2,687,749 6,434,448 30,151 9,152,348
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (857,720) (2,659,974) - (3,517,694)
Accumulated impairment Z2:DRME (14,638) (27,201) = (41,839)
Net book amount BEFE 1815301 3,747,213 30,151 5592815

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2022, (i) & Z=2022412H318 1t
assets under construction of RMB2,860,000 FE - EREEARE
have been transfered to intangible assets. 2,860,0007T B & & = &

WEE-

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, (i) & =2023%F12H31H8 1k
assets under construction of RMB1,870,000 FE EREEARKE
have been transfered to intangible assets. 1,870,0007T E 85 # = &

WEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16 EAEEE
Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position: R AR AR ANIER SR -
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTTT
Land use rights T Hb {5 R 464,910 485,678
Leased property HEYZ 62,932 62,230
Leased machinery THE S 40,739 16,195
Leased office equipment HAERAETRE = 144
568,581 564,247
The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts BaHRI ~NHEEREN T2
relating to leases: #
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Depreciation charge of FREEENTESY
right-of-use assets
Land use rights o Hh 5B R4 20,769 20,936
Leased property HEWH 45,534 39,292
Leased machinery THEES 12,426 7,266
Leased office equipment AERNERE 144 144
78,873 67,638
Expense relating to short-term EHAEEENRX
leases 69,702 73,367
Interest expense in lease liabilites FAEAEZF B 4,971 3,508
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTTT

The additions to right-of-use FARBEREEER
assets and total cash outflow HER SR H AR
for leases during the year are m:
summarised as below:

Additions to right-of-use assets  REFRELE 81,740 30,069
Acquisition of subsidiaries AL =N EAE)

(note 18) 1,467 =
Total cash outflow for leases HER SR AR 135,784 126,470
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & B 75 #8 2 BT it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

For both years, the Group leases various warehouses and
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 6 months to 10 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has obtained the certificates for all land use
rights with the term of 50 years.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17.1 Accounting policies of intangible assets
Goodwill is measured as described in note 18. Goodwill
on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible
assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made
to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
business combination in which the goodwill arose. The
units or groups of units are identified at the lowest
level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes, being the operating segments
(note 6).

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives acquired
in a business combination are recognised separately
from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

17.1 Accounting policies of intangible assets

(continued)

The accounting for an intangible asset is based on its
useful life. An intangible asset with a finite useful life
is amortised and an intangible asset with an indefinite
useful life is not.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

The Group is required to test an intangible asset with
an indefinite useful life for impairment by comparing
its recoverable amount with its carrying amount:

(@) annually, and

(b) whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired.

The useful life of an intangible asset that is not being
amortised shall be reviewed each period to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support
an indefinite useful life assessment for that asset.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected from
use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised.

B R B A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 17 BEEE(E)

17.2 Financial information of intangible assets 17.2 BREENMKEER

Franchise
Goodwill rights Others Total
(kS 1T Hity st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETTL ARETTL AREFTT
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1R
Cost R 1,846,799 1,659,475 30,998 3,537,272
Accumulated amortisation 2zt - = (7,233) (7,233)
Net book amount RS 1,846,799 1,659,475 23,765 3,530,039
Year ended HZ2022%12A318

31 December 2022 HEE
Opening net book amount ~ EA¥IBRE T2 1,846,799 1,659,475 23,765 3,530,039
Additions NE - - 6,813 6,813
Transfers (note 15 (i) s (F15()) = = 2,860 2,860
Amortisation charge BT - - (7,807) (7,807)
Closing net book amount HRIREFE 1,846,799 1,659,475 25,631 3,531,905
At 1 January 2023 M2023F181H
Cost A 1,846,799 1,659,475 40,671 3,546,945
Accumulated amortisation ~ Z&H## - - (15,040) (15,040)
Net book amount REFE 1,846,799 1,659,475 25,631 3,531,905
Year ended HZ2023%12831R

31 December 2023 LEE
Opening net book amount ~ EA¥IEREH5E 1,846,799 1,659,475 25,631 3,531,905
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEEHBAR (FizE18)

(note 18) - - 3,990 3,990
Additions NE - - 20,240 20,240
Transfers (note 15 (ii)) s (15 (i) = = 1,870 1,870
Amortisation charge BES - = (14,276) (14,276)
Closing net book amount HRRE 8 1,846,799 1,659,475 37,455 3,543,729
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12A318
Cost H#N 1,846,799 1,659,475 66,772 3,573,046
Accumulated amortisation 25t - = (29,317) (29,317)
Net hook amount EEFE 1846799 1659475 374856 3543729

O
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

17.2 Financial information of intangible assets

(continued)

The franchise rights related to a number of bottling
agreements with The Coca-Cola Company (TCCC)
which provided the Group with the exclusive rights to
prepare, package, distribute and sell TCCC branded
products in 19 provincial — level administrative regions
in which the Group operates.

The agreements reflect the long and ongoing
relationship between the Group and TCCC.

Given the Group’s strategic relationship with TCCC and
consistent with past experience, no consideration is
payable upon renewal or extension of the agreements.

The amounts of franchise rights represented their fair
value at the respective acquisition dates, which have
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
by an independent qualified professional valuer.

The franchise rights have been assigned indefinite
useful lives as the Group believes those franchise rights
will continue to be renewed at each expiration date,
after evaluating the term and conditions in the bottling
agreements, history of renewals and the strategic and
mutual beneficial relationship between the Group and
the counter party.

(a) Impairment testing of goodwill and franchise
rights with indefinite useful lives
Goodwill and franchise rights with indefinite
useful lives acquired through business
combinations are allocated to the Beverage
CGUs which are monitored by management at
the level of one operating segment identified in
Note 6 for impairment testing.
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

17.2 Financial information of
(continued)

(a)

intangible assets

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

17 BREEGAE)

17.2 BREENUKER (F)

Impairment testing of goodwill and franchise (a) BEREFZGHTET
rights with indefinite useful lives (continued) A e (BB
(#%)
The following table sets out the key assumptions THREFVEEBEERETE
as adopted by management in the value-in-use REEESBMATKE S
calculation for determining the recoverable EREEREZFEREBES
amount of the Beverage CGUs: BEZEFERE
2023 2022
20234 20224
Sales revenue HERA (FREX)

(annual growth rate) 0.79% - 1.65% 2.00% - 3.39%
Budgeted gross margin BRI EFI= 35.41% - 35.47%  35.97% - 36.29%
Long term revenue growth rate RHEIUAIERER 0.00% 2.00%
Pre-tax discount rate BRI IR 2 14.28% 13.80%

The Group has determined the values assigned AEBEFE LMSEE
to each of the above key assumptions as follows: ER[ZEBEAT

Assumption
58

Approach used to determining values

RARBEEEE2TE

Sales revenue

SHE WA
Budgeted gross margin

VRSP R

Long-term revenue growth rate

RHAARASE R
Pre-tax discount rate

TR HTER R

The Directors and management have considered
and assessed reasonably possible changes for
other key assumptions and have not identified
any instances that could cause the carrying
amount of the Beverage CGUs to exceed its

recoverable amount.

Average annual growth rate over the five-year forecast period;
based on past performance and management’s expectations
of market development.

hEFERAHENEEFERE  REREHMSEE AN
MEE °

Based on past performance and management’s expectations
for the future.

ERNBAERBEREREYHRR 2B

This is the weighted average growth rate used to extrapolate
cash flows beyond the budget period.

Uty A BN TE B BRI ASNR @R & 2 I g R o

Reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments and

the countries in which the Group operates.
REEAD R R AR B EMERR 2 FERR -

EEZREEEEZRR
FEEMEIERRZA
PR Re e AU EER
ERAEEHREEL
BUFmERBETK
Bl 2150 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 17

17.2 Financial information of intangible assets
(continued)

BREE(HE)

17.2 BEREENMBER (F)

(b)  Impact of possible changes in key assumptions (b) FERRAA|GEE B &
If one key assumption was to change as follows fW—IE=x g R =% 4 I8 =
while the others remain the same, the recoverable B M A EMEBRERS
amount of the Beverage CGUs would equal to &t RRIR S EEEA
its carrying amount: ZT%Z@%%E IER S

HERHEE :
2023 2022
20235 20225
From To From To
53] z 2 )
Sales revenue (% annual $EEKA
growth rate) (FHRERS) 0.79-1.65  (0.90)-(0.04) 2.00-3.39 (0.40)-0.99
Budgeted gross margin ~ TEBIMEFIE(%)
(%) 35.41-35.47 33.04-33.10 35.97-36.29 32.52-32.83
Long-term growth rate  REBERE(%)
(%) 0.00 (8.65) 2.00 (12.20)
Pre-tax discount rate (%) FiATHTIRE(%) 14.28 21.22 13.80 24.27
18 BUSINESS COMBINATION 18 ¥KE6f

18.1 Accounting policies of business combination
The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

° equity interests issued by the group
° fair value of any asset or liability resulting from

a contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in
the subsidiary.

T

\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #5 & B1 7% # 2 i1 7

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

18 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

18.1 Accounting policies of husiness combination

(continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. The group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share
of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the
fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 &

B R B A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

18 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

18 EHSH (&)

18.2 Financial information of business comhination 18.2 EBEHM B HER
On 1 January 2023, the Group acquired 100% equity R2023F 118 ANEE U iE
interests in five subsidiaries of Coca-Cola Bottlers TR O EERmEEERE
Manufacturing Holdings Limited in the PRC (an NI SENE )R /NI
associate of the Group, note 12), namely Coca-Cola Mizx12) AR EFR BB E A
Bottlers Manufacturing (Chengdu) Company Limited, A A 100% A HE - Eﬂﬁjmﬁjé%ié
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing (Changsha) Company FTLFﬁEF(ﬁJZ%‘B)ﬁIZE
Limited, Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing (Jinan) ﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁig(ﬁ’J\)ﬁﬁﬁ
Company Limited, Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing T A ORI &R A E O
(Shijiazhuang) Company Limited and Coca-Cola E’é)ﬁl@@ﬂ 7] O A] 2425 3R 7
Bottlers Manufacturing (Yingkou) Company Limited EF(E%HWEBE A0
(collectively named as the “Five Acquired Subsidiaries”). ATEEMMEE(ZN)BERA
A(mEA HREBNARFA
ﬁH)"
Details of the purchase consideration and the net U BE B M EVS BRI i Rl F &
identifiable assets acquired were as follows: EEEmT
As at 1
January 2023
A2023FE1H1H
RMB’000
ARETTT
Purchase consideration I B (B 554,179
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EMEER 51,064
Trade receivables FEWE 5508 44,883
Prepayments, deposits and other FENFIE - Re &
receivables Hofth pE IR 18,498
Inventories FE 15,155
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) #12  BRE&&HE (KizE15) 541,535
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,467
Intangible assets (note 17) EREE (W:E17) 3,990
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTBIRE E 2,432
Prepayments and other assets TARTFRIA & Bpth & B 67
Trade and bills payables ERNESERAEEE (70,375)
Other payables and accruals Hib I R EETBE (46,606)
Current income tax liabilities BNERFTS i Bt (1,137)
Lease liabilities Tﬂfﬁﬁ (1,039)
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFTSHAE (5,755)
Net identifiable assets acquired BRI BIE EFE 554,179
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18 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

18.2 Financial information of business combination

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

18 EHKSH (&)

18.2 XBEHNMBER (F)

(continued)

Cash inflow in the acquisition was as follows:

WEEHEZHSRASRSIT:

As at 1
January 2023
M2023F1A1H

RMB’000
ARBTT
Cash paid in the acquisition PR RS =
Cash and cash equivalents in the Five ~ RAXRZUEHBRFZ
Acquired Subsidiaries B R4 EEIER 51,064
Net cash inflow RERAFEE 51,064
(i) Acquisition-related costs () YKFEIEEGRC AR
There were no material acquisition-related costs B R MR I MR E KRR
in this acquisition. sl N
(i) Contingent consideration (i) BEARHE
There was no contingent consideration /N I A A
arrangement in this acquisition. ko
(iii)  Acquired trade receivables (i)  EWREENEZHE
The fair value of trade receivables was EWE ZHIE 2 AT A
RMB44,883,000. The gross contractual amount B AN R #44,883,000
for trade receivables due was RMB44,883,000, JLo B EAFE W B 5 KA
none of which is expected to be uncollectible. MBEHNEBEAARE
44,883,000t - B TEEAE
EATYLE -
(iv)  Non-controlling interest (v) PR
There was no non-controlling interest recognised /N I e
in this acquisition. It s o
(v)  Revenue and profit contribution (v) Wz RwFIE B

This acquisition was completed on 1 January
2023. The revenue and net profit included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
contributed by the Five Acquired Subsidiaries
since 1 January 2023 were amounting to
RMB32,000 and RMB15,290,000, respectively.

R E 1202351 A
1H5ER - B2023%F1 A1
B BN AR FA
A ERFFAGEERR
B YA K2 % R D Bl A A
K #32,0007T & A K
15,290,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

19 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

19 FENRER -BEREMER

RECEIVABLES FRiE
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Prepayment to suppliers TEfH e FRIE 611,279 613,884
VAT recoverable AT e (E 195,909 161,045
Prepaid marketing expenses SELN RS 18,934 17,5632
Deposits and others e REAM 249,627 64,747
Allowance for credit loss EEBERE (2,574) (1,323)
1,073,175 855,885

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20 ZAFEtAHMEEWKE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ZEREE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARBTIT
Bills receivables e IR 8,314 5,209

ERAEEREOEORSR
ERHEHBEREENRE
FEREE CE BRI ERE
WREBERAEBIBERREE
NRIBEER) AEBECIEER
WEBEREATFEFAHME

Considering the bills receivables are held by the Group for
both collection of contractual cash flows and selling of the
related financial assets (via the endorsement of bills
receivables to suppliers as the Group’s settlement of related
payable balances), the Group has designated bills receivables
as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income. MREZEMEE -
21 TRADE RECEIVABLES 21 EWEZRIE

21.1 BWESRENFEBR
EWEZFEASNBERLB
BPHRCEEMERER 2%
R BB 5 R IR ) 45 B 1
HRESHEER KRIEERS

21.1 Accounting policies of trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for goods sold in the ordinary course of business.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional, unless they
contain significant financing components, when they EARMEH S AlEA T ERE
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade R AKEFAEUKEEG KR
receivables with the objective of collecting the ERERBBNZIERE HH
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them IH - At - R LB RERE
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective BESHPK NG = o

interest method.

P
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

21 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21 BREZFIE(E)

21.2 Financial information of trade receivahles 21.2 EWE S FIENGHEE R

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREET T

Trade receivables FEUE 5508 404,506 374,082
Allowance for credit loss EEBERE (34,533) (14,047)
369,973 360,035

The Group gives credit term to key customers, which
granted with credit term ranging from 7 to 90 days
upon delivery. While for other customers, payment in
advance or payment on delivery is normally required.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has credit control
commissioners to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
In view of the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables,

AEERTHREREFEEY
EEHARERMNIEIOK:-
MEREMES ABEEAR
WA R B YK e A
B S RERFERREHERER
FEU & 5 SRIA K 5 A 5 Bl
28 BREBEERRBREER
B-mREEEEHEZAN
- ERAEBESRKEDR
REPZEKE SHE  #IE
ERBcETFREL TERE-
A& B L B R W E B IR
EHEBAEMEMmIEME
FRIEAR

UTREXEAH27|EKE

presented based on the date of the delivery of goods: ZRIER BRI DT
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT
Within 6 months B A A 368,913 358,616
6 to 12 months ~z2+=1A 35,593 15,466
404,506 374,082

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
are set out in note 3.1 (b).

A & £202349F %20224F12
A31B It FEEWE 5 IR
EFFER B H RN E3.1(b)°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & A1 76 #8 % I i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

22 INVENTORIES

22.1

22.2

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Accounting policies of inventories

Raw materials and finished goods are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure,
the latter being allocated on the basis of normal
operating capacity. Cost excludes borrowing costs.
Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on
the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased
inventory are determined after deducting rebates and
discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

22 78

22.1 EENSFTEE

R R K BLAK R 12 X 7N B2 ] &
BEEMER 2BREEIK-
RABEEEME BEEST
K38 E L B e m] 8 I B 5E R 3%
X RERLCEZLEEID
Lo AN BREEERA A
BRI A D B2 E R 7
BHB -BATEZRARH
BRRAM R ITMREE - AT #3HR
FERBREEBBREP 2GR
EERAAFT TR AN R HETT 85
ERHB BRI

Financial information of inventories 22.2 EENBKER
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Raw materials R 413,384 407,594
Finished goods BURK i 1,323,345 1,480,108
1,736,729 1,887,702

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss amounted
to RMB13,902,630,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB13,469,507,000).

HZE2023F12A31B ILFE - 7
REBRERERBAXNGEE
AR 5 A R #13,902,630,0007T
(20224 = AR#13,469,507,000
JL)°




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 23 RERREZEHEE (&)

23.1 Accounting policies of cash and cash equivalents 23.1 BEeRHRESEEEENWEH]

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of
financial position.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents only includes
cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial
institutions.

23.2 Financial information of cash and cash equivalents

®
MEFRERERME B
FHeEEBREBEERFR
T TREEANTR  RIH
B A=18A s AT Al BE i 52 4
REMTCHEREAEEEDRA
AR Ef e =R B IR
BRBITEX - RITEINH
BIRARZRBEBEANZEER
P2

AEENRE RS EERR
EEEREFRESACREER
PIEER

232 RERBASESERENUKE

&
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Cash and bank balances BE MIRTTHES 2,293,015 1,037,408
Pledged bank deposits EIRIRITIF X 11,275 2,916
2,304,290 1,040,324

Less: Pledged bank deposits & : BLER ZEEFZ

for bills payable (note 25) R171ER (B 5E25) (11,275) (2,916)
Cash and cash equivalents Be MMReEEER 2,293,015 1,037,408

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances and
pledged bank deposits are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

FRRIRTZRETIZEAR
TR EGFE 2 Z BF KRR
RIS - SR1T 48R R B ER 1T
Tr 7 A BT I BB M) RE 8% 2
SEREZ®RIT

(
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

24 SHARE CAPITAL 24 R
Number of
shares Share capital
B EE ;&N
HKD’000
FHIT
Authorised: VERE -
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 4,000,000,000% & }%
HKD 0.10 each E{E0.10/8 7T,2 LM Ak 4,000,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid BEITRERE
At 1 January, 31 December 2022 20224
and 2023 2,797,223,396 2023 1H1H 12 A31H
ordinary shares of HKD 0.10 2,797,223,396 % %
each E{E0.10/8 T2 EiBAR 2,797,223,396 279,722
Equivalent to RMB’000 ERARETTT 293,201

25 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

\

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

25 ENEZERX

25.1

25.1 Accounting policies of trade and bills payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognized initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing
and are normally settled in one to three months and
one to six months, respectively.

=i

ENEZRRARRBENGEEH
%

ZERRBIERN YR EE T EA
A AN 5= [ fe R 8 am K AR 7% i i
AXfZ2BE - FRIFNHRN &K
THRI2EAREH TAE
HREMENFTIAZIBRE
BE-ZFEREENIER

FEER  HEABRANEZX
REHR AT E

BNESZERERESR T
B —HRONFHALRHS—2
—EAR—Z/XEH-




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

25 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

25.2 Financial information of trade and bills payables

25

ENEZRRARERE

252 ERNESRRREBENMBE
*q‘

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARBTT

Trade payables FES B SRR 751,893 674,780

Bills payable A2 22,461 15,200

774,354 689,980

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills EXERE2YHENE SRR
payables presented based on the delivery date. REEZERBRAITAT -

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARBTT

Within 3 months 3MEAR 666,019 621,999

3 to 12 months MEAEI2EAR 107,891 65,685

Over 1 year BiBlE 444 2,296

774,354 689,980

Certain of the Group’s bills payable are secured by
the pledge of the Group’s bank deposits amounting
to RMB11,275,000 (2022: RMB2,916,000).

AEEETENEBRAER
7= AN K %11,275,0007T (2022
F: AR¥%2,916,0007T ) 2 A&
SBIRITIER T AFELR -

FEERAERLE Fik 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & A1 76 #8 % I i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z2023F 12 A31H ILF &

26 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

26 HttENREREFER

2023 2022
202345 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEF T
Accrued marketing and FERHE 8 AR SH R =2
promotion expenses 1,015,034 1,084,796
Sales rebate SHEITH 166,516 414,156
Accrued expenses FEETRIX 360,593 343,577
Deposit for fridges IKAEIR® 615,524 585,616
Accrued payroll (Note) JEETTE (BsE) 685,377 620,391
Tax element of contract liabilites &#IREFE 162,144 113,014
Payables for purchases of BEVXE BEREED
property, plant and equipment  JEfIFUIE 50,033 83,292
Dividends payable to non- FEI I R S AR B
controlling interests 104,853 92,573
Taxes payable JEGITL TR 134,152 57,882
Accrued logistics expenses FEETYImB 68,960 39,766
Others Hih 165,693 200,967
3,528,879 3,636,030

Note: The payroll include salaries,

discretionary bonuses,
allowances and benefits in kind and employer’s contribution
to a retirement benefit scheme, which is defined contribution

M : Feekie NIBEL 2UR
B a8 A K (8 I SR RAE A ET &)
(BN EHERET 1) MK -

plan.
27 LEASE LIABILITIES 27 HEEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT
Within one year —FRN 39,768 36,074
Within a period of more than BB —FETZRME R
one year but not more than B
two years 18,251 17,495
Within a period of more than HBAMFENLZRAF AL
two years but not more than A
five years 21,353 4,101
Within a period of more than RENE
five years 5 39
79,377 57,709
Less: Amount due for settlement & : RENEETE FERA12(E
with 12 months shown under AR HAR S 5108
current liabilities (39,768) (36,074)
Amount due for settlement after IEREFIBEE NEREI121E A
12 months shown under non- & FERZIE
current liabilities 39,609 21,635

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

28 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28 EHEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTIT
Sales of beverages SHERRE 1,284,413 987,013
The followings table shows amount of the revenue recognised TEREVNAFEFREBPENEBERER
in the current year relates to carried-forward contract ZWAEHE -
liabilities.
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFIT
Revenue recognized that was REVFIAGHAEEHZ
included in the contract liability ZFEZRULA
balance at the beginning of the
year 987,013 1,581,310
29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 29 EIEFTBH
(i) Deferred income tax assets (i) EEFMEBHEE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFIT
The balance comprises EREETHIEN
temporary differences WEFERE
attributable to:
Accruals Rt EE 365,398 421,960
Unrealised profits REIRFE 34,477 25,908
Deferred income EIEYA 40,809 41,428
Impairment of property, plant — ¥1% - &R & RERE
and equipment 16,095 16,095
Provision for impairment of GFERBEREE
inventories 5,270 11,709
Lease liabilities HEEE 19,844 12,619
Net impairment losses on CRVEERBEBRKIFE
financial assets 9,277 4,057
Tax losses HIEEE 7,676 40,800
Others HAith 3,458 5,582
Total deferred income tax EEFREBHEEHASE
assets 502,304 580,158
Set-off of deferred income tax 1RIEIKSH B IR IR
liabilities pursuant to set-off FrigtiaE
provisions (224,364) (264,970)
Net deferred income tax assets EEFTEHEETFEE 277,940 315,188

FEERAERLE Fik 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 29 EERBH(E)
(i) Deferred income tax assets (continued) () EELEFMBHREEGE)

TXHIERREZREMS

The following are the major deferred income tax assets

recognised and movements thereon: HEERHBE
Provision Net
[mpairment for impairment
of property, impairment [osses on
Unrealised  Deferred  plant and of  lease financial
Accruals ~ profits ~income ~ equipment inventories liahilities assets Taxlosses  Others Total
tHEE
0% BE FRAE AER%

B ARRAR EEA\ RRGAE AR ERRR PR BEER R &%
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOD RMBOOD RMBOOO RMBOOD RWBOOO RMBOOO
ARRTT ARBTT ARRTT ARBTR ARRTR ARRTR ARMTT ARRTT ARRTT ARMTR

At 1 January 2022 R022%1R1H 349274 534 42745 1609 13055 16525 3,646 - 439 498023
Creditedi{charged) o NEREA/ ()

profit and loss 72680 (26,446)  (1317) - (1,346)  (3906) 411 40,800 1203 8213H
At 31 December 2022 RANERANE 421960 5908 41428 1609 11709 12619 4057 40800 558 580,158
Credited(charged) to iNBEETA/ (H1R)

profit and loss (56,062) 8,969 (619) - 6439 722 520 (33124)  (2124)  (77854)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A318 365398 34477 40809  16,0% 5210 1984 9277 1676 3458 502304

(ii) Deferred income tax liabilities

(i) EEFRESHAR

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
The bhalance comprises EEIE T I EMN
temporary differences HRFERE
attributable to:
Accelerated tax depreciation  JIRFIIBITE (301,684) (303,724)
Fair value adjustments of EBREE AT ERAE
intangible assets (30,110) (32,094)
Right-of-use assets FREEE (19,644) (12,252)
Total deferred income tax EEFIEHAEEE
liahilities (351,438) (348,070)
Set-off of deferred income tax 4R #545 £ {1 S IR AT
assets pursuant to set-off FriSHi & E
provisions 224,364 264,970
Net deferred income tax EEFREHAETHE
liahilities (127,074) (83,100)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(ii)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

Deferred income tax liabilities (continued)
The following are the major deferred income tax
liabilities recognised and movements thereon:

29

IEAE PS8 (&

(i) EEFREHRAREE)

TX#FIE RRE BT
BAERLS

Fair value
Accelerated adjustments of
tax intangible  Right-of-use
depreciation assets assets Total
BREEZR
IEBE T E TERE RAREE mat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT
At 1 January 2022 202241 A1A8 (222,450) (36,203) (16,326) (274,979)
(Charged)/credited to ~ FAIBZEH
profit or loss (F0BR) FTA (81,274) 4,109 4,074 (73,091)
At 31 December 2022 12022912 A31H (303,724) (32,094) (12,252) (348,070)
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1H18 (303,724) (32,094) (12,252) (348,070)
(Charged)/credited to i
profit or loss ($0BR) FTA 1,984 (7,392) (3,368)
At 31 December 2023  12023F12H31H (301,684) (30,110) (19,644) (351,438)

Pursuant to the EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China or offshore incorporated enterprises
which are regarded as Chinese Resident Enterprises
(the “CREs”). Pursuant to the approvals received by
the Company from the State Administration of Taxation
of the PRC, the Company and most of its offshore
incorporated subsidiaries are regarded as CREs and
relevant enterprise income tax policies shall be
applicable to the Company and these subsidiaries
starting from 1 January 2013. As a result, the Company
and these subsidiaries are therefore no longer liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by their
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of retained earnings generated. No deferred income
tax has been recognised for withholding taxes on the
unremitted earnings of the subsidiaries or associates
established in Mainland China at 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).

RETPEEEMBHE EF
B AL Z SNE KA
SNEMKRZ 2 HBEEREE
(THFEEREERIMNERE
FEEIRBE B RS AN
10% 2 BB - REBEA QA E
TEBERTE BB EL X
ZAN/NCTDS S WiV 2N 311124
SHH B R R E AT R
R & % Kk 82013%1A1H
EEREREEMGSHIE-
It AN A Rttt B B A A A
EIABE N B KL 2 M
BRRIEENRE BN DK
B S BMIBHI - 102023412
H31R Y ARRAEEEHEH
Wb SZ 2 P B8 2 RISl Bk i
72 K BE 5 28 A FE A SRR
FERTIS M (20224F : &)~
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

30 DEFERRED INCOME 30 EZEWA
RMB’000
ARETT
At 31 December 2021 M2021F12A31H 229,042
Addition NE 15,194
Credited to the consolidated statements of profit =t AiFE&1EzE
or loss (11,551)
At 31 December 2022 R2022412A31H 232,685
Addition =T 280,000
Credited to the consolidated statements of profit st A&EAIBZFR
or loss (100,298)
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12H31H 412,387
31 DIVIDENDS 31 RE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTIT
Dividends for ordinary REEERBD KA AF
shareholders of the Company TR 2R E. -
recognised as distribution
during the year:
2022 final — HK 13.3 cents 20224 K Hi — AR I mA%
(2021: final — HK 12.5 cents 13.371 (20214 : 54
in respect of the year ended B E2021%12A31H
31 December 2021) per IFFE RIS 12.581)
ordinary share 337,361 297,051

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023
of RMBO0.148 per ordinary share, has been proposed by the
Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in
the forthcoming general meeting. This proposed dividend is
not reflected as a dividend payable in these consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

32 REREHR

(a) Cash generated from operations REXKMBzRS
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Profit before income tax: TSR @A - 1,843,990 1,614,448
Adjustments for: FATHEBELFAE:
Depreciation of property, Y RE MR IEITE
plant and equipment (P$3E15)
(note 15) 756,615 605,621
Depreciation of right-of-use  {EFEEETE
assets (note 16) (FfzE16) 78,873 67,638
Amortisation of intangible BB E Y
assets (note 17) (MI5E17) 14,276 7,807
Net impairment loss/(reversal SF{ETEZ CRERD)
of impairment) HE
— property, plant and —W% - WE MR
equipment (note 15) (PF7E15) - 579
— inventories (note 7) —F& (=E7) (25,757) 8,959
— receivables (note 7) —FEYRIE (MHEE7) 22,938 3,825
Losses on disposal of HEWE - BEKL
property, plant and HAEEE (HES)
equipment (note 8) 6,927 5,290
Gains from disposal of HEREAEREARZ
investments previously ‘EW S (F13E8)
accounted for using the
equity method (note 8) (91,606) =
Share of profits of associates JE{EHE< A a)E A - (29,894)
Interest income (note 8) R BUA (FI5E8) (24,085) (18,827)
Finance costs (note 10) BB R A (F1FE10) 4,971 3,508
Amortisation of deferred BB AR 2 BUTREN 2
income in connection with RIEUT ARG
assets related government
grants (6,965) (9,590)
Operating cash flows before EHFFIKLIRERE
movements 2,580,177 2,259,364
FEBRRERAE FIR 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 871 75 38 2% H7 &%
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F 12 A31H It F[E

32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

32 REREH(E)

Cash generated from operations (continued) (a) REEBHEBS2RE(E)
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFIT
Decrease/(increase) in trade FEU B ZRIE R
receivables (3m) 13,447 (35,671)
Decrease in inventories FERD 191,885 71,676
Increase in prepayments, AR Ze &
deposits and other receivables Ho b FE WK IBE AN (75,389) (367,239)
Decrease/(increase) in b S NI |
amounts due from the W (3Ehn)
ultimate holding company (Bf$5E35)
(note 35) 10 (8)
Decrease/(increase) in B—1E 5 N ARIR K
amounts due from entities B (38n)
under common control (MI5E35)
(note 35) 551 (29,138)
Decrease in amounts due from  JEURHIE AT Z FEIERL
non-controlling interests in ez SRR
subsidiaries (note 35) (FF5E35) 14,828 83,697
Increase in amounts due from /NS DNE S
associates (note 35) (FF5E35) (94,479) (18,563)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged  DAEIFRITIER
bank deposits (note 23) (g R
(MI7E23) (8,359) 15,821
(Increase)/decrease in financial X AFEFTAEMEE
assets at fair value through Wz CRERE
other comprehensive income (&) R
(note 20) (FFE20) (3,105) 36,148
Increase in amounts due to R [E—HEH N ARIFIE
entities under common 3N (F17E35)
control (note 35) 48,334 112,368
Increase/(decrease) in amounts  JEfIEEB AR Z IEIERL
due to non-controlling SRR,
interests in subsidiaries (B (MI3E35)
(note 35) 19,390 (17,817)
(Decrease)/increase in IREgE N RIFRIE
amounts due to associates R /40
(note 35) (F#5E35) (284,711) 130,648
Increase in trade and bills R EZERR &
payables SBEM 13,999 215,088
Decrease in other payables EAth IR IE R
and accruals fEEtBER D (132,778) (305,097)
Increase/(decrease) in contract ~ AXIBEEM, CH)
liabilities 297,400 (594,297)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred  IRFEU AL GRLAY)
income 186,667 (1,961)
Cash generated from EEFFS RS
operations 2,767,867 1,555,019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 32

(b) Non-cash investing activities

REnEs (&

() FREREED

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Acquisition of the Five Acquired WERHKERNTZRF AR
Subsidiaries (note 18) (Pt7E18) 554,179 =

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash

(c) BMETHELAEGEZHIK

TRHAVNAKEREGZDES
MEEZE BEASNIFR
eEY RETHELENAR
ERERESWHIRKRER
ERRAEEGARERER
TORARERBREREN

flows from financing activities. AfE-

Lease Dividend

liahilities payables

HEESE EARE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFITT AREF T

At 1 January 2022 202241 A1H 77,235 149,604

Dividends declared BEIREE = 737,509

Interest expense FEXH 3,508 =

Financing cash flows MERSRE (49,595) (794,540)
Interest payments (presented as L EfTHK

operating cash flows) (BIAREHERE) (3,508) =

New leases entered el HE 30,069 =

At 31 December 2022 R2022412A31H8 57,709 92,573

Dividends declared BEEIRE - 560,818

Interest expense FEZH 4,971 -

Financing cash flows BMERESRE (61,111) (548,538)
Interest payments (presented as  #|BfF5K

operating cash flows) (2 REERERE) (4,971) =

New leases entered el HE 81,740 =

Acquisition of subsidinaries AN EAE)
(note 18) 1,039 =
At 31 December 2023 7R2023F12A31H 79,377 104,853
33 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33 BEE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have

any significant contingent liabilities.

RBERR  AEEYRIFEAK O

A (
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

34 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34 EREE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBTTT
Capital expenditure in respect of B ETXEEME - FE K&
purchase of property, plant and ~ REMEM R EERE
equipment and other long-term W ARIEAR S BB £
assets contracted for but PR H) B AN HE
not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 77,330 62,064

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 BBAERS

(a) Apart from the transactions and balances disclosed (a) BECHEREE it 5 FTH
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the EoRERESN REBR
Group had the following material transactions with AREERNEEBKAETZIEX
related parties during the year: RBWME .

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREET T
Transactions with entities under — E2FE—42H TARIZR 5
common control:
Sales of goods HEEMm 1,194 1,195
Purchases of goods HEEm 1,880,691 1,622,046
Rental expenses HedH 15,916 15,876
Service fee expenses RigES 18,324 12,555
Interest income MBI A 12,466 12,289
Transactions with the ultimate B RIERARIZR S
holding company:
Sales of goods SHE P 28 18
Transactions with associates: EARE N 2 X5
Purchases of goods BEEm 193,147 3,059,488
Processing services provided TR0 T ARTS - 197,500
Transactions with non-controlling E2FfE AR M EML AR 2
interests in subsidiaries and IR 2 35
other related parties:
Purchases of goods BEEm 4,620,119 3,242,113
Service fee expenses fRigES 30,301 22.826

These transactions were carried out in accordance
with the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the
parties involved.

ZERPHIRBELETTER
i T NGRS R A HETT

\
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group

The remuneration of directors and other members of
key management during the year was as follows:

35

BARE S X 5 (1
() AEEEEERARZHH

RAEE EEREMEEE
BABZFMEIINT

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFIT

Short term employee benefits CHEERA 13,151 17,757

Pension scheme contributions RIRETEIE R 1,191 1,138
Total compensation paid to key [ FEZEIREAE 2 REN4REE

management personnel 14,342 18,895

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Balances with related parties

Balances with the ultimate holding company,
associates, entities under common control and non-
controlling interests in subsidiaries are unsecured and
interest-free.

Details of impairment assessment of amounts due from
related parties are set out in note 3.1.

The balances with related parties, presented based
on the date of the delivery of goods, was as follows:

(c)

EFRBETRABM0E
— S RERR A B EEM
a7 -

ELRARE T A B
HEERIER AT BERR] R
—EHTRARERHMBARZ
R 2 AR AR R
FE

BBt~ B R FORE 1B
N R

REERINBHZ5 /LR
BT BV ERIAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & A1 76 #8 % I i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

35 BEMAXRZ(HE)

(c) Balances with related parties (continued) (c) ERRAEEAHIEERR(E)
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Cash and cash equivalents @ TNRe RREE
deposited in related parties: BIER :
Entities under common control B—EH T A A 790,000 790,000
Amounts due from related parties: BAHE A TR
Associates kN 137,096 42,617
Entities under common control B—EH T A A 77,383 77,934
Non-controlling interests in BT BB A B 2 FEIE I 2
subsidiaries 212,586 227,414
The ultimate holding company S5 S e /N| - 10
427,065 347,975
Amounts due to related parties:  REBEEA BIFUE ¢
Associates i NG = 284,711
Entities under common control B —ZH T AR 201,139 152,805
Non-controlling interests in M E A Rl 2 FEFE AR fE 2
subsidiaries 21,113 1,723
222,252 439,239
(d) Transactions and balances with other State-owned (d) HEMEBELENRZRER

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Enterprises

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government through
its numerous authorities, affiliates or other organisations
(collectively “State-owned Enterprises”). During the
year, the Group entered into extensive transactions
covering, but not limited to, sales of goods, purchases
of raw materials, property, plant and equipment and
other assets, and receiving of services with certain
State-owned Enterprises, other than COFCO Corporation
and its affiliates, on terms comparable to those with
non-State-owned Enterprises. The Directors consider
that transactions with those State-owned Enterprises
were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, and that dealings of the Group
have not been significantly or unduly affected by the
fact that the Group and those State-owned Enterprises
are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC
government. The Group has also established pricing
policies for products and services, and such policies
do not depend on whether or not the customers are
State-owned Enterprises.

AEEELNKERRETHNDE
ERZRTBERNBBERS
WE - BB EREMARE
EK R ER T H R B (4
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REMEE YHEPEBEER
PR B N EL Bt A =] LA SO B
BEEEIRE LEXHH
R R IEB A XX 5 R FAE
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BPETHNERE BASHEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36 AN TEEARRER
COMPANY
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - ME&&fE 1 2
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 65 851
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR Z1&E 1,769,560 1,769,560
Total non-current assets FRBEELEE 1,769,626 1,770,413
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TEfIZIE L& R E M I

receivables FE] 30,670 30,534
Trade receivables JEWE 55808 — 2
Amounts due from subsidiaries  HiEBARIR (BisE)

(Note) 1,346,612 1,334,162
Cash and cash equivalents Be MReEEER 31,900 11,463
Total current assets REEERRE 1,409,182 1,376,161
Total assets BEEHARE 3,178,808 3,146,574
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 65 49
Total non-current liabilities FREAEHEEE 65 49
Current liabilities HREBaE
Other payables and accruals Hih e FRIE M BT AE 1,638 1,764
Amounts due to subsidiaries RITBARIFIAE (FizE)

(Note) 137,610 94,470
Current income tax liabilities BNHAFTS i A& 13,739 5,048
Lease liabilities HEBE - 802
Total current liabilities B EEAEE 152,987 102,084
Total liahilities =Rt 153,052 102,133
Net assets BEFE 3,025,756 3,044,441
Equity s
Share capital &R 293,201 293,201
Share premium and reserves F& i (B M Rt 2,732,555 2,751,240
Total equity ERBE 3,025,756 3,044,441

Note: Balances with subsidiaries are unsecured and interest-free.

s : BB ARNEHRASEERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

Movement in the Company’s share premium and reserves:

36 AQFFBMRR(E)

ARBRMGERFEEEZNT

Share  Contributed Retained

premium surplus profits Total

R 13 R E R MABEER REEF st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETET

At 1 January 2022 R2022F1H1H 30,820 2,294,331 333,181 2,658,332

Profit for the year F A - - 389,959 389,959
2021 final dividend B EIk2021 F R EAR B

declared - - (297,051) (297,051)

At 31 December 2022 2022912 A31H 30,820 2,294,331 426,089 2,751,240

Profit for the year F N F = = 318,676 318,676
2022 final dividend B EIR2022F REAMR 2

declared - = (337,361) (337,361)

At 31 December 2023 7R2023F 12 A431H 30,820 2,294,331 407,404 2,732,555

37 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remunerations for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and

Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

37 EERERITHRAEHME

BIBEM LR AR A T GRS
REEEERERITHA BB
m -

(a) Executive Directors (a) HITES
Mr. Mr. Mr.
Qing Lijun Shen Xinwen' Shen Peng? Total
BYBEXE THFNAE MR A2 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%Tn AR%Tn AR®BTx AR¥TxR
2023 20234
Wages and salaries IERE® 800 600 = 1,400
Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAT 2,200 1,650 = 3,850
Allowances and benefits =288 & E¥F2s
in kind - 36 - 36
Employer’s contribution to {& = FLiE K&
a retirement benefit FHElZ R
scheme 270 224 - 494
3,270 2,510 - 5,780

e

-

\
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37 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Executive Directors (continued)

37 ESRERITHRAENE

(%)

(@ HMTESEGE)

Mr. Mr. Mr.
Qing Lijun Shen Xinwen!  Shen Peng? Total
BYERE  LIUTAE! LR A2 o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBETT ARBTR
2022 20224
Wages and salaries TENFH® 917 150 538 1,605
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 3,083 788 2,088 5,959
Allowances and benefits 28 M E W F| e
in kind 6 12 27 45
Employer’s contribution to & 3= BLiE K 4& Fl
a retirement benefit AT 82 K
scheme 257 55 161 473
4,263 1,005 2,814 8,082
1 Mr. Shen Xinwen has been appointed as a executive . X EEBRERARA
director of the Company with effect from 29 September HMITE S B202299A729
2022. HiBAER -
2 Mr. Shen Peng has been resigned as a executive 2 MR EEBERRRNMITE
director of the Company with effect from 23 September = B2022F9A23H AR -
2022.
The executive director’s emoluments shown above LB TEEME AFEER
were for their services in connection with the ARARRAEBELEBEDR
management of the affairs of the Company and the Bz -
Group.
Non-Executive Directors (h) 3SEHITES
Mr. Mr. Mr.
Chen Lang' Chen Gang  Chen Zhigang Total
BREAE 4! BREN &£ BRI x££ @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T ARETTL ARETT
2023 2023F - - - -
2022 20224 - - - -

1 Mr. Chen Lang resigned as a non-executive director
of the Company with effect from 29 September 2022.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company.

! BREASE £ B BHEA R A IEH
1T % % B202249H29R
AR -

FRFERTESME RRSE

RARREERERBE M
ZBE - (
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

37 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

(c)

37 EENRERTHRAEME

(&)
Independent Non-executive Directors (c) BIFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors RNERSNBIYIERTTEE 2
during the year were as follows: WEHEHY T -
Mr. M. Mr. Ms.
Stephen Li Hung Kwan, Mok Wai Bun, Leung Ka Lai,
Edward Clark' Alfred Ben Ada? Total
wumks  TEE%E EEELE RFBLL? @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETR
2023 20236
Fees ZR - 370 370 1,110
2022 20226
Fees ZH 141 339 199 1,018
1 Mr. Stephen Edward Clark resigned as an independent i #T 32 2 5 A (Mr. Stephen

non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 7 June 2022.

2 Ms. Leung Ka Lai has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
with effect from 7 June 2022.

The independent non-executive directors’” emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of
the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year. There was no
compensation for the loss of office as a director in
connection with the management of the affairs of any
member of the Group.

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled
to bonus payments which are determined in relation
to revenue growth, profit, market share, and quality
measures.

38 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

\
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As of the date of this report, no significant subsequent event

Edward Clark)&H{EA 2 R
SMIEBITE F - §202246
B7B#EAERR -

2 PRELLTERZERADNT
B IEITEE - 520224
6A7BAR

MBI ERTEEME RE
FERARRERRHERE M
itz -

RAFE HEEEREET
A B R EE oK [ B R A fa) B
SR BEEZREER
SEEMKEAREBTIER
EEMESHE-

ARBETHTESHEKER
TEAL ZFZIEAL TR IB A 18
w8 mShBErEERE
BE-

happened.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

39.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(1)

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
statement of comprehensive income, statement
of changes in equity and statement of financial
position respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see (iii) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & A1 76 #8 % I i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z2023F 12 A31H ILF &

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of
the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from
associates are recognised as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its
interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf
of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss
of control as transactions with equity owners of
the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests to reflect their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests
and any consideration paid or received is
recognised in a separate reserve within equity
attributable to owners of the Group.

39.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 39. Ht B E A HEME
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (&)

39.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting 39.1 &ffRERSTHREI(E)

(continued)

(iv)  Changes in ownership interests (continued)
When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control or significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value
becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

39.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.3 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi,
which is the also the Company’s and its
subsidiaries’ functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year end
exchange rates are generally recognised in profit
or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the statement of
profit or loss, within finance costs. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis
within other gains/(losses).

39.4 Investments and other financial assets

(i)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through OCI or through profit
or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s

business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.4 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(1)

(i)

(iif)

Classification (continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

\
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.4 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in other gains/
(losses) together with foreign exchange
gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 39. Ht B E A HEME
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (&)

39.4 Investments and other financial assets (continued) 394 RERHEMESHMEE(F)

(iii)  Measurement (continued) (ii)  Fr= (&)
Debt instruments (continued) BIETE(E)
FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection BRAFEFTAEM
of contractual cash flows and for selling ZEMWE  FIEW
the financial assets, where the assets’ BEHNBRERER
cash flows represent solely payments of HESREENSE
principal and interest, are measured at E(MEEMNR &
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount REEEYNEAE
are taken through OCI, except for the EFE)ERAFEE
recognition of impairment gains or losses, sEAE A 2 WK
interest income and foreign exchange FrE-REEZE
gains and losses which are recognised in HBEBEMEEK

profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in other gains/(losses). Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other gains/
(losses) and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses)
in the period in which it arises.

B RN ER
HER B W 3K
BE- FERAKR
SN W 2 I 5 1B BR
Sho BB EEER
LIEFERR I - S AT
ﬁ'ﬂﬂiﬁ”& ﬁguu
Z 2t EE
HERENDERE
B IR E UL
m/ (1R )BR -
ZECREEZH
B AR EBRH
TR AN BB
A o HNEE I 75 % B
BREMmKE (B
B)25 - iR ER
TAIREERF N
BIEE 27

BAFEFAEB
&= NEEEHEK
R IEAFETA
H 2 Y a5 2E )
ZEEERAFER
Az EEBERQ
FEFABREZE
BIREAREBNBZE
R WREELE
BN E Uz,

(EBE)ANRYF
H o

FEERAERLE Fik 2023

175



176

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 & 87 75 #f 2 [t %
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12A31H I FE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.4 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(iif)  Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

The debt instruments held by the Group mainly
includes cash and cash equivalents and
receivables, which are designated as either
financial assets measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI.

(iv)  Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see note 21 for further details.

39.5 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Company or the counterparty.

\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.6

39.7

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment
for liquidity services and amortised over the period of
the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability
that has been extinguished or transferred to another
party and the consideration paid, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & A1 76 #8 % I i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %2023 12A31H ILFE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.8 Employee Benefits

(i)

(i)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within 12
months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up
to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
presented as current employee benefit obligations
in the statement of financial position.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services.

Post-employment obligations

A post-employment schemes of the Group
operates is defined contribution pension plans.
For defined contribution plans, the Group pays
contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.

Payments to contribution retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 81 75 #F 2 i it
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023%12 318 ILFE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 39. Ht B E A HEME
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (&)

39.9 Leases 39.9 HE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a
lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-
lease components and instead accounts for these as
a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & 871 75 38 2% H7 &%
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F 12 A31H It F[E

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 39. Ht B E A HEME
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (&)

39.9 Leases (continued) 39.9 HE(H&)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

° uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since
third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less without a purchase option.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

39.10Interest income

Interest income is presented as other income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for
cash management purposes.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFHBERE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- AEBEREAEVBERECEEREE B
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, EEIFEREREENEEAE B 2K
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial EGEABRRER  WKEY REEEFD
statements and restated and reclassified as appropriate, is set out B BERNREATX :

below:

Year ended 31 December

HZE12R310LLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT ARBTT ARKTT AR%Tn

CONTINUING OPERATION HERERY

Revenue WA 21,446,436 20,967,837 19,784,422 17,249,138 17,172,027
PROFIT FROM OPERATING RERA

ACTIVITIES 1,848,961 1,588,062 1,397,896 1,242 675 1,025,202
Finance costs REMAR (4,971) (3,508) (4,488) (25,059) (53,626)
Share of net profit of FREREARZ

associates accounted for il NG

using the equity method - 29,894 29,447 35,602 41,033
Profit before income tax PSR & A 1,843,990 1,614,448 1,422,855 1,253,218 1,012,609
Income tax expense Frisfi s (458,428) (404,022) (348,172) (299,955) (236,773)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM HERLEEK 2

THE CONTINUING FRER

OPEARATION 1,385,562 1,210,426 1,074,683 953,263 775,836
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRER 1,385,562 1,210,426 1,074,683 953,263 775,836
Attributable to iyl

Owners of the Company AREHEEA 832,577 659,836 572,415 498,734 417,789

Non-controlling interests RS 552,985 550,590 502,268 454,529 358,047

1,385,562 1,210,426 1,074,683 953,263 775,836

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE -BfER

NON-CONTROLLING FERER

INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 16,225,607 15,062,955 15,168,064 15,110,192 14,448 364
TOTAL LIABILITIES “waE (6,538,651) (6,200,743) (6,778,769) (7,030,972) (7,136,009)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS i # (3,671,524) (3,341,996) (3,231,864) (3,125,299) (2,771,888)

6,015,432 5,520,216 5,157,431 4,953,921 4,540,467

TEREMRERAT FiR 2023 W8W



CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Mr. Chen Zhigang
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR
M BER

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ANNUAL RESULTS

Tuesday, 19 March 2024

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at
the Annual General Meeting: Wednesday, 5 June 2024 to Tuesday,
11 June 2024 (both days inclusive)

For determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed

final dividend: Thursday, 20 June 2024 to Friday, 21 June 2024
(both days inclusive)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Tuesday, 11 June 2024
DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend: NIL

Proposed final dividend: RMB0.148 per share (Payable on or
around Wednesday, 10 July 2024)
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COFCO

BRZIR SBIRA

N A

33rd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

EBEEE S LTE2625 P8 KE 331

Tel &5 (852) 2833 0388
Fax E (852) 2833 0380

www.chinafoodsitd.com
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